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Capital Futures Corp.
2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

II.Meeting Agenda

Date and Time : 10:00 am, June 21st, 2022
Place : B2, No. 97, Sec. 2, Dunhua S. Rd., Taipei 106, Taiwan, R.O.C.

1i.

1il.

1v.

Call Meeting to Order

Chairman’s Address

Reporting Matters

1.Presentation on the 2021 business report.

2.The audit committee’s review report on the 2021 financial
statements.

3.Report on the distribution of employees’ compensation and
directors’ remuneration in 2021.

4. Amendment to the Sustainable Development Best Practice
Principles and the Sustainable Development Policy.

Recognition Matters

1.Adoption of the 2021 business report and consolidated and
individual financial statements.

2.Proposal for distribution of 2021 earnings.

Discussion Matters

1.Amendment to the Articles of Association.

2.Amendment to the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders
Meetings.

3.Amendment to the Procedure for the Acquisition and Disposal

-



Vi.

Vii.

of Assets.
Extemporary Motion

Adjournment



[II.Reporting Matters

1. Reported issue: Presentation on the 2021 business report.
Details: Please refer to Attachment 1 of this handbook for the Company’s
2021 business report (page 10~ 14).
2. Reported issue: The audit committee’s review report on the 2021 financial
statements.
Details: Please refer to Attachment 2 of this handbook for 2021 audit
committee’s review report (page 15).
3. Reported issue: Report on the distribution of employees’ compensation
and directors’ remuneration in 2021.
Details: The 2021 profit before tax prior to deducting the compensation for
employees and remuneration for directors was NT$615,008,903.
According to Article 27 in the Company’s Articles of Association:
“The Company should distribute 0.6% to 2% of the profit of the
current year as employees’ compensation, and 3% or less of its
profit of the current year as directors’ remuneration.” The
distribution of compensation to employees for an amount of
NT$7,195,604 and remuneration to directors for an amount of
NT$7,195,604 were approved by the board meeting on March 11,
2022. The compensation and the remuneration are to be distributed
in cash. The aforesaid amount each accounted for 1.17% of the
Company’s 2021 earning. Please refer to Attachment 3 of this
handbook. (page 16)
In addition, Futures Commission Merchants, including the
Company, had been affected by the interest rate cut and then
declined in profit during 2021. However, the average amount of
directors’ remuneration, except the compensation of concurrent
employees, increased compared with 2020, resulting from the
Company paid a large amount of pension to the former chairman,
who retired in August, 2021.If the abovementioned pension had
been deducted, the average directors’ remuneration in 2021 would
have been less than the average directors’ remuneration in 2020.
4. Reported issue: Amendment to the Sustainable Development Best Practice
Principles and the Sustainable Development Policy.
Details: The Company amended the title of the Corporate Social
Responsibility Best Practice Principles to the Sustainable
Development Best Practice Principles, amended the title of the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to the the Sustainable
Development Policy, and amended related articles in accordance
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with the Taiwan Stock Exchange Order No. 11000241731. Please
refer to Attachment 4 (page 17 ~ 38) of this handbook for the
comparison table before and after amendment.



IV.Recognition Matters

1. Subject: Adoption of the 2021 business report, consolidated and individual
financial statements. (The proposal was submitted by the board of
directors)

Details:

(1)The Company’s 2021 consolidated financial statements and the
individual financial statements were audited by the CPA Wu,
Cheng-Yen and CPA Chung, Tan-Tan of KPMG Taiwan and
were resolved for acceptance in the meeting of the board of
directors (March 11, 2022). The audited financial statements
and the business report were reviewed by the audit committee
without any nonconformity identified and with a review report
issued.

(2)Please refer to Attachment 1(page 10~ 14) and Attachment 5
(page 39 ~ 52) for 2021 business report, 2021 financial
statements, and auditors’ report.

Resolution:

2. Subject: Acknowledging the Company’s 2021 earnings distribution.

(The proposal was submitted by the board of directors)

Details:

(1)The distributable net profit: NT$522,796,380 equals the 2021
after-tax net profit of the Company: NT$490,039,229 (1) plus
accumulated undistributed earnings for the prior period:
NT$1,433,128 and (2) adjustment of undistributed earnings in
this year: NT$ 31,324,023. According to the Article of
Association of the Company, the net profit can be distributed as
following:

A. The amount of legal reserve is NT$52,136,325.

B. The amount of special reserve is NT$104,272,650.

C. The amount of special reserve appropriated due to deduction
of equity is NT$28,770,198.

D. It was resolved for acceptance in the meeting of the board of
directors that cash dividends to distribute are, rounded down
to the nearest integer, NT$336,700,134 (at NT$1.6 per share
on the basis of 210,437,584 outstanding shares). The total
payment of shares of odd lots shall be counted as other
revenue of the Company, as for the undistributed earnings in
the end of term is NT$ 917,073. The chairman is authorized
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to set the dividend day and related issues upon the
finalization of the general meeting of shareholders.

(2)If the number of outstanding shares is affected by the later
change in the capital of the Company, simultaneously the
shareholders of the dividend payout ratio needs to be revised,
the chairman will be authorized by the shareholder meeting to
deal with the relevant issue.

(3)Please refer to Attachment 6 for the 2021 earnings distribution
proposal. (page 53)

Resolution:



V.Discussion Matters

1. Subject: Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation.
(The proposal was submitted by the board of directors)
Details:

(1)To amend the Articles of Incorporation of the Company in
accordance with the Company Act Article 172-2 that the
shareholders’ meeting can be held by means of visual
communication network or other methods promulgated by the
central competent authority.

(2)Please refer to Attachment 7 for the comparison table before
and after amendment. (page 54 ~62)

Resolution:

2. Subject: Amendments to the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders

Meetings.(The proposal was submitted by the board of directors)

Details:

(DIn accordance with the Company Act Article 172-2 that a
company may hold its shareholders’ meeting by visual
communication network and the Sample Template for XXX
Co., Ltd. Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings, the
Company amends the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders
Meetings.

(2)Please refer to Attachment 8 for the comparison table before

and after amendment. (page 63 ~97)
Resolution:

. Subject: Amendments to the Procedure for the Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets.(The proposal was submitted by the board of directors)
Details:
(1)To amend Article 4, Article 7 to Article 9, Article 13, and
Atrticle 27 of the Procedure for the Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets of the Company in accordance with Regulations
Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by Public
Companies.
(2)Please refer to Attachment 9 for the comparison table before
and after amendment. (page 98 ~134)
Resolution:

VI.Extemporary Motion
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VII.Adjournment



VII.Attachment
Attachment 1

Capital Futures Corp.
2021 Business Report

I. Operating performance in 2021

In 2021, the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic has greatly
impacted the global economy, which continued to affect the financial
market. The Company’s 2021 annual trading volume of the domestic
futures brokerage business was 61.76 million lots, increasing 24%
from 49.84 million the previous year with a market share of 7.87%.
The Company’s annual trading volume of the foreign futures
brokerage business was 7.56 million lots, decreasing 7.5% from the
previous year with a market share of 20.3%. In 2021, the consolidated
revenues was NT$2,438,961 thousand, increasing 0.52% from the
previous year, and the net income before and after tax were
NT$599,901 thousand and NT$489,323 thousand, respectively
decreasing 23.53% and 21.37% from the previous year. Due to the
rate cut by central banks over the world, the Company’s interest
income dropped sharply. However, the Company’s brokerage business
and proprietary trading business still steadily grew, along with the
significant growth of leverage transaction business. Furthermore, the
Company aimed to operate diversified business and earn diversified
income by building the multi-engine profitable model to improve the
overall performance.

Capital Futures actively develops an independent IT global
trading platform in financial technology, attaches great importance to
the trading experience of customers, and develops the mobile APP
“Happy Trader” that meets the needs of professional investors. The
APP includes several practical functions and strives to create a variety
of intelligent trading services, intuitive display of commodity market,

and instant transaction; in addition, technical analysis chart combined
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with fast order function, allowing customers to access more flexible
investment commodities in the international market, lowering the
investor's transaction threshold to achieve inclusive finance. The
Company has also built the industry’s first customer-exclusive
investment community platform “Trader168” to provide customers
with diversified and real-time investment information and trading
forum. The Company leads the leveraged trading business in the
industry as the first CFD futures broker to offer foreign stocks and
foreign indices, and the leveraged trading business has ranked first in
the industry for five consecutive years since operation, with a market
share of over 50% , and successfully registered the trademarks of
“Nano Gold CFD”, “Nano Index CFD” and “Nano Oil CFD”.

With the vision of “becoming the most heart-warming digital
financial company”, Capital Futures has won three recognitions in the
2021 “Digital Financial Service Award” hosted by the Commercial
Times with the joint efforts of the Company and all its employee,
among which are the two highest honors “Digital Transformation
Award - Gold” and “Digital Information Services Award - Gold” and
“Digital Innovation Award - Excellence”.

The Company has 7 directors in board of directors (including 3
independent directors) who are all with the profession of operation,
management, finance, accounting, law, international market and
strategy. Through rich financial experience and various operating
expertise from Directors with diversified background, the Company
can implement supervision on operation and management, which
helps push forward the Company’s whole development strategy,
business performance, operating system, and investor protection. The
Company will continue to serve the real economy, strengthen
corporate governance, safeguard the rights and interests of investors,
and execute the rigorous compliance and internal control systems. In
other words, the Company not only pursues long-term and stable
profitability, but also commits itself to constructing a safe investment

-11-



environment and fulfilling its corporate social responsibility.
I1.2021 income and profit analysis (Consolidated)

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Item 2021 2020
Income 2,438,961 2,426,236
Expenses 2,018,766 2,055,139
Non-operating income and expenses 179,706 413,409
Net income before taxes 599,901 784,506
Net income 489,323 622,344
Return on Equity (%) 7.73 10.89
Net profit margin (%) 20.06 25.65
Return on Asset (%) 1.05 1.42
Earnings per share after taxes (dollar) 2.33 3.07

ITI. Operating plans and development strategies for the future

With the popularization of vaccines, changes have been
brought to the global economy where consumption has resurged, and
the demand for materials and energy has increased. Inflation has
become a topic of concern. With the epidemic has not yet been
resolved, the inflation posing new challenges, and many factors such
as the issue of raising interest rates affecting the uncertainty of the
global economy and financial markets, which may enlarge the market
volatility and the hedging demand, trading in domestic and
international futures markets should keep booming, and the trading
volume has chance to increase; consequently, the opportunities shall
present to the overall operation of futures industry.

The operating plans and development strategies of the
Company in 2022 are as follows:

1.Domestic market:

(1)Use the quantitative stock selection strategy and develop a
day-trading interface to attract day-trading customers to the
futures market based on the upsurge of the spot market.

(2)Continuously optimize IT Infra to provide the best solutions for
high-frequency professional customers.

2.Foreign market:
(1)Provide global market investment information through Capital’s
-12-



exclusive community platform to become the “Facebook of
investment” for customers and enhance customers' global outlook
and brand loyalty.

(2)Integrate the resources of various investment and research
departments to provide 24H global real-time important
information and use the intelligent push broadcast system
developed by the digital team to push broadcast to the customers
in real time, making high-quality services more accessible.

3.Leverage Transaction Merchants:

(1)Promote the foreign CFD stocks, and market “Buy US stocks,
come to Capital”.

(2)Optimize semi-automatic intelligent trading, simplify customer
trading process, stabilize trading volume, and improve
performance.

(3)Seek for the competent authorities and the CBC to approve
making “non-foreign exchange” CFD commodity referral and
allow futures salesmen and securities IB salesmen to refer
non-foreign exchange commodities to expand the distribution
channel.

4.Proprietary Trading:
(1)In response to possible brokerage systemic risks, the proprietary
strategy is more flexible with strict risk control.
(2)When market volatility rises, market-making proprietary will
actively increase volatility strategy trading.

5.Cultivate talent with schools (new foreign exchange workforce,
campus talent recruitment), increase industry-university cooperation
(winter and summer internships and work-study programs), and
introduce new talents from various fields to implement the positive
cycle of selecting, cultivating, retaining and utilize talents.

6.Provide employees with an internal entrepreneurial environment for
employees welfare to strengthen employees’ synergy and
recognition with the Company.

7.Strengthen internal audit and internal control, legal compliance and
strict risk control, and fulfill the corporate responsibility of
environmental, social and governance (ESG) to ensure sustainable
operation of the Company.

-13-
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President
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Attachment 2

Capital Futures Corp.
2021 Audit Committee’s Review Report

The board of directors has prepared the 2021 fiscal year
Individual and Consolidated Financial Statements (hereinafter, the
“Financial Statements”) of the Company, which were audited by the
CPAs of KPMG Taiwan, “Wu, Cheng-Yen” and “Chung, Tan-Tan”,
with an unmodified opinion issued in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
We, as the Audit Committee of the Company, have reviewed the
Financial Statements that were present fairly with the Report prepared
in accordance with Article 14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and
Article 219 of the Company Act, and hereby present for your

recognition.

Capital Futures Corp.
Chairman of Audit Committee

Chen, Kuo-Tay

March 11, 2022
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Attachment 3

Distribution status of employees’ compensation and directors’
remuneration in 2021

1. The distribution of the compensation to employees for an amount of
NT$7,195,604 and the remuneration to directors for an amount of
NT$7,195,604 were resolved in the board meeting of the Company on
March 11, 2022. Aforementioned compensation and remuneration will
all be distributed in cash, and the amount respectively accounted for
1.17% of the Company’s 2021 earning which refers to the amount

before deduction of the compensation and the remuneration.

2. The difference between the amount of compensation to employees and
remuneration to directors resolved by the board of directors and the
estimated amount recognized as expense of the fiscal years as follows:

Unit: NTD
Proposed amount .
of distribution ES;;Tjti?ZZ?Z]:nt Amount | The reason
Item resolved by the . erglse of the of and
Board of ngcal car difference |treatment of
Directors (B;l (A-B) difference
(A)
Compensationto| 5 195 4 7,195,604 0 _No
employees difference
Remunerationto | ;g5 ¢4 7,195,604 0 _No
directors difference
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Attachment 4

Comparison table for the Sustainable Development Best
Practice Principles and the Sustainable Development Policy
Before and After Amendment

4.1 Comparison table for the Sustainable Development Best
Practice Principles Before and After Amendment

Title After the Amendment Title Before the Amendment
Title Title
Sustainable Development Best Practice |Corporate Social Responsibility Best
Principles Practice Principles

After the Amendment Before the Amendment

Article 2 Article 2
The Principles apply to the Company and |The Principles apply to the Company and
its subsidiaries, including the entire its subsidiaries, including the entire
operations of the company and its operations of the company and its
subsidiaries. subsidiaries.
The Company actively fulfills its The Company actively fulfills its

sustainable development in the course of |corporate social responsibility in the

company’s business operations so as to  |course of company’s business operations
follow international development trends |so as to follow international development

and to contribute to the economic trends and to contribute to the economic
development of the country, to improve |development of the country, to improve
the quality of life of employees, the the quality of life of employees, the
community and society by acting as community and society by acting as
responsible corporate citizens, and to responsible corporate citizens, and to
enhance competitive edges built on enhance competitive edges built on
sustainable development. corporate responsibility.

Article 3 Article 3

In promoting sustainable development  |In fulfilling corporate social

initiatives, the Company shall, in its responsibility initiatives, the Company
corporate management guidelines and shall, in its corporate management
business operations, give due guidelines and business operations, give
consideration to the rights and interests |due consideration to the rights and

of stakeholders and, while pursuing interests of stakeholders and, while
sustainable operations and profits, also  |pursuing sustainable operations and
give due consideration to the profits, also give due consideration to the
environment, society and corporate environment, society and corporate
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governance.
The Company shall, in accordance with
the materiality principle, conduct risk
assessments of environmental, social and
corporate governance issues pertaining to
company operations and establish the
relevant risk management policy or
strategy.

governance.
The Company shall, in accordance with
the materiality principle, conduct risk
assessments of environmental, social and
corporate governance issues pertaining to
company operations and establish the
relevant risk management policy or
strategy.

Article 4

To implement sustainable development
initiatives, the Company is advised to
follow the principles below:

1.Exercise corporate governance.
2.Foster a sustainable environment.
3.Preserve public welfare.

4.Enhance disclosure of sustainable
development information.

Article 4

To implement corporate social
responsibility initiatives, the Company is
advised to follow the principles below:
1.Exercise corporate governance.
2.Foster a sustainable environment.
3.Preserve public welfare.

4.Enhance disclosure of corporate social
responsibility information.

Article 5

The Company shall take into
consideration the correlation between the
development of domestic and
international sustainable development
principles and corporate core business
operations, and the effect of the operation
of individual company and of company’s
respective business groups as a whole on
stakeholders, in establishing company’s
policies, systems or relevant management
guidelines, and concrete promotion plans
for sustainable development programs,
which shall be approved by the board of
directors and then reported to the
shareholders meeting.

‘When a shareholder proposes a motion
involving sustainable development, the
company's board of directors is advised
to review and consider including it in the
shareholders meeting agenda.

Article 5

The Company shall take into
consideration the correlation between the
development of domestic and
international corporate social
responsibility principles and corporate
core business operations, and the effect
of the operation of individual company
and of company’s respective business
groups as a whole on stakeholders, in
establishing company’s policies, systems
or relevant management guidelines, and
concrete promotion plans for corporate
social responsibility programs, which

shall be approved by the board of
directors and then reported to the
shareholders meeting.

When a shareholder proposes a motion
involving corporate social responsibility,
the company's board of directors is
advised to review and consider including
it in the shareholders meeting agenda.

Article 7

The directors of the company shall
exercise the due care of good
administrators to urge the company to

Article 7

The directors of the company shall
exercise the due care of good
administrators to urge the company to
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perform its sustainable development
initiatives, examine the results of the
implementation thereof from time to time
and continually make adjustments so as
to ensure the thorough implementation of
its sustainable development policies.

The board of directors of the company
are advised to give full consideration to
the interests of stakeholders, including
the following matters, in the company's
promotion of its sustainable development

perform its social responsibility
initiatives, examine the results of the
implementation thereof from time to time
and continually make adjustments so as
to ensure the thorough implementation of
its corporate social responsibility
policies.

The board of directors of the company
are advised to give full consideration to
the interests of stakeholders, including
the following matters, in the company's
performance of its corporate social

initiatives:

1.Identifying the company's sustainable
development mission or vision, and
declaring its sustainable development
policy, systems or relevant management
guidelines;

2.Making sustainable development the
guiding principle of the company's
operations and development, and
ratifying concrete promotional plans for
sustainable development initiatives; and

3.Enhancing the timeliness and accuracy
of the disclosure of sustainable
development information.

The board of directors shall appoint
executive-level positions with
responsibility for economic,
environmental, and social issues resulting
from the business operations of the
company, and to report the status of the
handling to the board of directors. The
handling procedures and the responsible
person for each relevant issue shall be
concrete and clear.

responsibility initiatives:
1.Identifying the company's corporate
social responsibility mission or vision,

and declaring its corporate social
responsibility policy, systems or relevant
management guidelines;

2.Making corporate social responsibility
the guiding principle of the company's
operations and development, and
ratifying concrete promotional plans for
corporate social responsibility initiatives;

and

3.Enhancing the timeliness and accuracy
of the disclosure of corporate social
responsibility information.

The board of directors shall appoint
executive-level positions with
responsibility for economic,
environmental, and social issues resulting
from the business operations of the
company, and to report the status of the
handling to the board of directors. The
handling procedures and the responsible
person for each relevant issue shall be
concrete and clear.

Article 8

The Company is advised to, on a regular
basis, organize education and training on
the promotion of sustainable
development initiatives, including
promotion of the matters prescribed in
paragraph 2 of the preceding article.

Article 8

The Company is advised to, on a regular
basis, organize education and training on
the implementation of corporate social
responsibility initiatives, including
promotion of the matters prescribed in
paragraph 2 of the preceding article.
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Article 9

For the purpose of managing sustainable
development initiatives, the company is

advised to set up a governance structure
for promoting sustainable development

and establish an exclusively (or
concurrently) dedicated unit to be in
charge of proposing and enforcing the

sustainable development policies,
systems, or relevant management
guidelines, and concrete promotional
plans and to report on the same to the
board of directors on a periodic basis.
The company is advised to adopt
reasonable remuneration policies, to
ensure that remuneration arrangements
support the strategic aims of the
organization, and align with the interests
of stakeholders.

It is advised that the employee
performance evaluation system be
combined with sustainable development
policies, and that a clear and effective
incentive and discipline system be
established.

Article 9
For the purpose of managing corporate
social responsibility initiatives, the

company is advised to establish an
exclusively (or concurrently) dedicated
unit to be in charge of proposing and
enforcing the corporate social
responsibility policies, systems, or
relevant management guidelines, and
concrete promotional plans and to report
on the same to the board of directors on a
periodic basis.

The company is advised to adopt
reasonable remuneration policies, to
ensure that remuneration arrangements
support the strategic aims of the
organization, and align with the interests
of stakeholders.

It is advised that the employee
performance evaluation system be
combined with corporate social
responsibility policies, and that a clear
and effective incentive and discipline
system be established.

Article 10

The company shall, based on respect for
the rights and interests of stakeholders,
identify stakeholders of the company, and
establish a designated section for
stakeholders on the company website;
understand the reasonable expectations
and demands of stakeholders through
proper communication with them, and
adequately respond to the important
sustainable development issues which

they are concerned about.

Article 10

The company shall, based on respect for
the rights and interests of stakeholders,
identify stakeholders of the company, and
establish a designated section for
stakeholders on the company website;
understand the reasonable expectations
and demands of stakeholders through
proper communication with them, and
adequately respond to the important
corporate social responsibility issues

which they are concerned about.

Article 12

The company is advised to endeavor to
use all energies more efficiently and use
renewable materials which have a low
impact on the environment to improve
sustainability of natural resources.

Article 12
The company is advised to endeavor to
utilize all resources more efficiently and

use renewable materials which have a
low impact on the environment to
improve sustainability of natural
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resources.

Article 17

The company is advised to assess the
current and future potential risks and
opportunities that climate change may
present to enterprises and to adopt related
measures.

The company is advised to adopt
standards or guidelines generally used in
Taiwan and abroad to enforce corporate
greenhouse gas inventory and to make
disclosures thereof, the scope of which
shall include the following:

1.Direct greenhouse gas emissions:
emissions from operations that are owned
or controlled by the company.

2.Indirect greenhouse gas emissions:
emissions resulting from the generation
of inputted electricity, heating, or steam.

3.0Other indirect emissions: emissions

resulting from Company’s activities and

owned or directly controlled by other

Companies, except indirect emissions

from energies.
The company is advised to compile

statistics on greenhouse gas emissions,
volume of water consumption and total
weight of waste and to establish policies
for energy conservation, carbon and
greenhouse gas reduction, reduction of
water consumption or management of
other wastes. The company’s' carbon
reduction strategies should include
obtaining carbon credits and be promoted
accordingly to minimize the impact of
company’s business operations on
climate change.

Article 17

The company is advised to assess the
current and future potential risks and
opportunities that climate change may
present to enterprises and to adopt
climate related measures.

The company is advised to adopt
standards or guidelines generally used in
Taiwan and abroad to enforce corporate
greenhouse gas inventory and to make
disclosures thereof, the scope of which
shall include the following:

1.Direct greenhouse gas emissions:
emissions from operations that are owned
or controlled by the company.

2.Indirect greenhouse gas emissions:
emissions resulting from the generation
of externally purchased or acquired
electricity, heating, or steam.

The company is advised to compile
statistics on greenhouse gas emissions,
volume of water consumption and total
weight of waste and to establish policies
for energy conservation, carbon and
greenhouse gas reduction, reduction of
water consumption or management of
other wastes. The company’s' carbon
reduction strategies should include
obtaining carbon credits and be promoted
accordingly to minimize the impact of
company’s business operations on
climate change.

Chapter 5
Enhancing Disclosure of Sustainable
development Information

Chapter 5
Enhancing Disclosure of Corporate social
responsibility Information

Article 28
The company shall disclose information

Article 28
The company shall disclose information
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according to relevant laws, regulations
and the Company’s Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles and
shall fully disclose relevant and reliable
information relating to its sustainable
development initiatives to improve
information transparency.

Relevant information relating to
sustainable development which the

Company shall disclose includes:
1.The policy, systems or relevant
management guidelines, and concrete
promotion plans for sustainable
development initiatives, as resolved by
the board of directors.

2.The risks and the impact on the
corporate operations and financial
condition arising from exercising
corporate governance, fostering a
sustainable environment and preserving
social public welfare.

3.Goals and measures for realizing the
sustainable development initiatives

established by the Company, and
performance in promotion.

4.Major stakeholders and their concerns.
5.Disclosure of information on major
suppliers' management and performance
with respect to major environmental and
social issues.

6.0ther information relating to
sustainable development initiatives.

according to relevant laws, regulations
and the Company’s Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles and
shall fully disclose relevant and reliable
information relating to its corporate
social responsibility initiatives to

improve information transparency.
Relevant information relating to
corporate social responsibility which the

Company shall disclose includes:

1.The policy, systems or relevant
management guidelines, and concrete
promotion plans for corporate social
responsibility initiatives, as resolved by
the board of directors.

2.The risks and the impact on the
corporate operations and financial
condition arising from exercising
corporate governance, fostering a
sustainable environment and preserving
social public welfare.

3.Goals and measures for realizing the
corporate social responsibility initiatives

established by the Company, and
performance in implementation.

4.Major stakeholders and their concerns.
5.Disclosure of information on major
suppliers' management and performance
with respect to major environmental and
social issues.

6.0ther information relating to corporate
social responsibility initiatives.

Article 29

The company shall adopt internationally
widely recognized standards or
guidelines when producing sustainability
reports, to disclose the status of its
implementation of the sustainable
development policy. It also is advisable
to obtain a third-party assurance or
verification for reports to enhance the
reliability of the information in the
reports. The reports are advised to
include:

Article 29

The company shall adopt internationally
widely recognized standards or
guidelines when producing corporate
social responsibility reports, to disclose

the status of its implementation of the
corporate social responsibility policy. It

also is advisable to obtain a third-party
assurance or verification for reports to
enhance the reliability of the information
in the reports. The reports are advised to
include:
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1.The policy, system, or relevant
management guidelines and concrete
promotion plans for implementing
sustainable development initiatives.

2.Major stakeholders and their concerns.
3.Results and a review of the exercising
of corporate governance, fostering of a
sustainable environment, preservation of
public welfare and promotion of
economic development.

4.Future improvements and goals.

1.The policy, system, or relevant
management guidelines and concrete
promotion plans for implementing
corporate social responsibility initiatives.

2.Major stakeholders and their concerns.
3.Results and a review of the exercising
of corporate governance, fostering of a
sustainable environment, preservation of
public welfare and promotion of
economic development.

4.Future improvements and goals.

Article 30

The company shall at all times monitor
the development of domestic and foreign
sustainable development standards and

the change of business environment so as
to examine and improve its established
sustainable development framework and

to obtain better results from the
promotion of the sustainable

development policy.

Article 30

The company shall at all times monitor
the development of domestic and foreign
corporate social responsibility standards

and the change of business environment
so as to examine and improve its
established corporate social
responsibility framework and to obtain
better results from the implementation of
the corporate social responsibility policy.
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Capital Futures Corp.

Sustainable Development Best Practice Principles

Chapter I General Principles

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

In order to fulfill the social responsibility initiatives and to promote
economic, environmental, and social advancement for purposes of
sustainable development, hereby adopt the Principles to be followed.
The Principles apply to the Company and its subsidiaries, including
the entire operations of the company and its subsidiaries.

The Company actively fulfills its sustainable development in the

course of company’s business operations so as to follow international
development trends and to contribute to the economic development of
the country, to improve the quality of life of employees, the

community and society by acting as responsible corporate citizens,

and to enhance competitive edges built on sustainable development.

In promoting sustainable development initiatives, the Company shall,

in its corporate management guidelines and business operations, give
due consideration to the rights and interests of stakeholders and,
while pursuing sustainable operations and profits, also give due
consideration to the environment, society and corporate governance.
The Company shall, in accordance with the materiality principle,
conduct risk assessments of environmental, social and corporate
governance issues pertaining to company operations and establish the
relevant risk management policy or strategy.

To implement sustainable development initiatives, the Company is

advised to follow the principles below:
1.Exercise corporate governance.
2.Foster a sustainable environment.
3.Preserve public welfare.

4 .Enhance disclosure of sustainable development information.

The Company shall take into consideration the correlation between

the development of domestic and international sustainable
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development principles and corporate core business operations, and
the effect of the operation of individual company and of company’s
respective business groups as a whole on stakeholders, in establishing
company’s policies, systems or relevant management guidelines, and

concrete promotion plans for sustainable development programs,

which shall be approved by the board of directors and then reported
to the shareholders meeting.

When a shareholder proposes a motion involving sustainable
development, the company's board of directors is advised to review

and consider including it in the shareholders meeting agenda.

Chapter 2 Exercising Corporate Governance

Article 6

Article 7

The Company is advised to follow the Corporate Governance Best
Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, the Ethical
Corporate Management Best Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM
Listed Companies, and the Code of Ethical Conduct for
TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies to establish effective corporate
governance frameworks and relevant ethical standards so as to
enhance corporate governance.

The directors of the company shall exercise the due care of good
administrators to urge the company to perform its sustainable
development initiatives, examine the results of the implementation
thereof from time to time and continually make adjustments so as to

ensure the thorough implementation of its sustainable development

policies.
The board of directors of the company are advised to give full
consideration to the interests of stakeholders, including the following

matters, in the company's promotion of its sustainable development

initiatives:

1.Identifying the company's sustainable development mission or

vision, and declaring its sustainable development policy, systems or

relevant management guidelines;
2.Making sustainable development the guiding principle of the
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Article 8

Article 9

Article 10

company's operations and development, and ratifying concrete

promotional plans for sustainable development initiatives; and

3.Enhancing the timeliness and accuracy of the disclosure of

sustainable development information.

The board of directors shall appoint executive-level positions with
responsibility for economic, environmental, and social issues
resulting from the business operations of the company, and to report
the status of the handling to the board of directors. The handling
procedures and the responsible person for each relevant issue shall be
concrete and clear.

The Company is advised to, on a regular basis, organize education

and training on the promotion of sustainable development initiatives,

including promotion of the matters prescribed in paragraph 2 of the
preceding article.

For the purpose of managing sustainable development initiatives, the

company is advised to set up a governance structure for promoting

sustainable development and establish an exclusively (or

concurrently) dedicated unit to be in charge of proposing and

enforcing the sustainable development policies, systems, or relevant

management guidelines, and concrete promotional plans and to report
on the same to the board of directors on a periodic basis.

The company is advised to adopt reasonable remuneration policies, to
ensure that remuneration arrangements support the strategic aims of
the organization, and align with the interests of stakeholders.

It is advised that the employee performance evaluation system be

combined with sustainable development policies, and that a clear and

effective incentive and discipline system be established.

The company shall, based on respect for the rights and interests of

stakeholders, identify stakeholders of the company, and establish a

designated section for stakeholders on the company website;

understand the reasonable expectations and demands of stakeholders

through proper communication with them, and adequately respond to
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the important sustainable development issues which they are

concerned about.

Chapter 3 Fostering a Sustainable Environment

Article 11

Article 12

Article 13

Article 14

Article 15

The company shall follow relevant environmental laws, regulations
and international standards to properly protect the environment and
shall endeavor to promote a sustainable environment when engaging
in business operations and internal management.
The company is advised to endeavor to use all energies more
efficiently and use renewable materials which have a low impact on
the environment to improve sustainability of natural resources.
The company is advised to establish proper environment management
systems based on the characteristics of company’s industries. Such
systems shall include the following tasks:
1.Collecting sufficient and up-to-date information to evaluate the
impact of the company's business operations on the natural
environment.
2.Establishing measurable goals for environmental sustainability, and
examining whether the development of such goals should be
maintained and whether it is still relevant on a regular basis.
3.Adopting enforcement measures such as concrete plans or action
plans, and examining the results of company’s operation on a
regular basis.
The company is advised to establish a dedicated unit or assign
dedicated personnel for drafting, promoting, and maintaining relevant
environment management systems and concrete action plans, and
should hold environment education courses for company’s
managerial officers and other employees on a periodic basis.
The company is advised to take into account the effect of business
operations on ecological efficiency, promote and advocate the
concept of sustainable consumption, and conduct research and
development, procurement, operations, and services in accordance
with the following principles to reduce the impact on the natural
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Article 16

Article 17

environment and human beings from company’s business operations:

1.Reduce resource and energy consumption of company’s products
and services.

2.Reduce emission of pollutants, toxins and waste, and dispose of
waste properly.

3.Improve recyclability and reusability of raw materials or products.

4 Maximize the sustainability of renewable resources.

5.Improve efficiency of products and services.

To improve water use efficiency, the company shall properly and

sustainably use water resources and collaborate with condominium

management committee to execute relevant management measures.

The company shall collaborate with condominium management

committee to construct and improve environmental protection

treatment facilities to avoid polluting water, air and land, and use

company’s best efforts to reduce adverse impact on human health and

the environment by adopting the best practical pollution prevention

and control measures.

The company is advised to assess the current and future potential

risks and opportunities that climate change may present to enterprises

and to adopt related measures.

The company is advised to adopt standards or guidelines generally

used in Taiwan and abroad to enforce corporate greenhouse gas

inventory and to make disclosures thereof, the scope of which shall

include the following:

1.Direct greenhouse gas emissions: emissions from operations that
are owned or controlled by the company.

2.Indirect greenhouse gas emissions: emissions resulting from the
generation of inputted electricity, heating, or steam.

3.0Other indirect emissions: emissions resulting from Company’s

activities and owned or directly controlled by other Companies,

except indirect emissions from energies.

The company is advised to compile statistics on greenhouse gas
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emissions, volume of water consumption and total weight of waste
and to establish policies for energy conservation, carbon and
greenhouse gas reduction, reduction of water consumption or
management of other wastes. The company’s' carbon reduction
strategies should include obtaining carbon credits and be promoted
accordingly to minimize the impact of company’s business operations

on climate change.

Chapter 4 Preserving Public Welfare

Article 18

The company shall comply with relevant laws and regulations, and
the International Bill of Human Rights, with respect to rights such as
gender equality, the right to work, and prohibition of discrimination.
The company, to fulfill its responsibility to protect human rights,
shall adopt relevant management policies and processes, including:
1.Presenting a corporate policy or statement on human rights.
2.Evaluating the impact of the company's business operations and
internal management on human rights, and adopting corresponding
handing processes.
3.Reviewing on a regular basis the effectiveness of the corporate
policy or statement on human rights.
4.In the event of any infringement of human rights, the company shall
disclose the processes for handling of the matter with respect to the
stakeholders involved.
The company shall comply with the internationally recognized
human rights of labor, including the freedom of association, the right
of collective bargaining, caring for vulnerable groups, prohibiting the
use of child labor, eliminating all forms of forced labor, eliminating
recruitment and employment discrimination, and shall ensure that
company’s human resource policies do not contain differential
treatments based on gender, race, socioeconomic status, age, or
marital and family status, so as to achieve equality and fairness in
employment, hiring conditions, remuneration, benefits, training,
evaluation, and promotion opportunities.
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Article 19

Article 20

Article 21

Article 22

The company shall provide an effective and appropriate grievance
mechanism with respect to matters adversely impacting the rights and
interests of the labor force, in order to ensure equality and
transparency of the grievance process. Channels through which a
grievance may be raised shall be clear, convenient, and unobstructed.
The company shall respond to any employee's grievance in an
appropriate manner.
The company shall provide information for their employees so that
the employees have knowledge of the labor laws and the rights they
enjoy in the countries where the companies have business operations.
The company is advised to provide safe and healthful work
environments for their employees, including necessary health and
first-aid facilities and shall endeavor to curb dangers to employees'
safety and health and to prevent occupational accidents.
The company is advised to organize training on safety and health for
company’s employees on a regular basis.
The company is advised to create an environment conducive to the
development of its employees' careers and establish effective training
programs to foster career skills.
The company shall establish and implement reasonable employee
welfare measures (including remuneration, leave and other welfare
etc.) and appropriately reflect the business performance or
achievements in the employee remuneration, to ensure the
recruitment, retention, and motivation of human resources, and
achieve the objective of sustainable operations.
The company shall establish a platform to facilitate regular two-way
communication between the management and the employees for the
employees to obtain relevant information on and express their
opinions on the company's operations, management and decisions.
The company shall respect the employee representatives' rights to
bargain for the working conditions, and shall provide the employees
with necessary information and hardware equipment, in order to
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Article 22-1

Article 23

Article 24

Article 25

improve the negotiation and cooperation among employers,
employees and employee representatives.
The company shall, by reasonable means, inform employees of
operation changes that might have material impacts.
The company is advised to treat customers or consumers of its
products or services in a fair and reasonable manner, including
according to the following principles: fairness and good faith in
contracting, duty of care and fiduciary duty, truthfulness in
advertising and soliciting, fitness of products or services, notification
and disclosure, commensuration between compensation and
performance, protection of the right to complain, professionalism of
salespersons etc. The company shall also develop the relevant
strategies and specific measures for implementation.
The company shall take responsibility for company’s products and
services, and take marketing ethics seriously. In the process of
research and development, procurement, operations, and services, the
company shall ensure the transparency and safety of company’s
products and services. It further shall establish and disclose policies
on consumer rights and interests, and enforce it in the course of
business operations, in order to prevent the products or services from
adversely impacting the rights, interests, health, or safety of
consumers. .
The company shall ensure the quality of its products and services by
following the laws and regulations of the government and relevant
standards of their industries.
The company shall follow relevant laws, regulations and international
guidelines in regard to customer health and safety and customer
privacy involved in, and marketing and labeling of, its products and
services and shall not deceive, mislead, commit fraud or engage in
any other acts which would betray consumers' trust or damage
consumers' rights or interests.
The company is advised to evaluate and manage all types of risks that
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Article 26

Article 27

could cause interruptions in operations, so as to reduce the impact on
consumers and society.
The company is advised to provide a clear and effective procedure for
accepting consumer complaints to fairly and timely handle consumer
complaints, shall comply with laws and regulations related to the
Personal Information Protection Act for respecting consumers' rights
of privacy and shall protect personal data provided by consumers.
The company is advised to assess the impact its procurement has on
society as well as the environment of the community that it is
procuring from, and shall cooperate with its suppliers to jointly
implement the corporate social responsibility initiative.
The company is advised to establish supplier management policies
and request suppliers to comply with rules governing issues such as
environmental protection, occupational safety and health or labor
rights. Prior to engaging in commercial dealings, the Company is
advised to assess whether there is any record of a supplier's impact on
the environment and society, and avoid conducting transactions with
those against corporate social responsibility policy.
When the Company enter into a contract with any of its major
suppliers, the content should include terms stipulating mutual
compliance with corporate social responsibility policy, and that the
contract may be terminated or rescinded any time if the supplier has
violated such policy and has caused significant negative impact on
the environment and society of the community of the supply source.
The company shall evaluate the impact of their business operations
on the community, and adequately employ personnel from the
location of the business operations, to enhance community
acceptance.
The company is advised to, through equity investment, commercial
activities, endowments, volunteering service or other charitable
professional services etc., dedicate resources to organizations that
commercially resolve social or environmental issues, participate in
-32-



events held by citizen organizations, charities and local government
agencies relating to community development and community

education to promote community development.

Chapter 5 Enhancing Disclosure of Sustainable development Information

Article 28

Article 29

The company shall disclose information according to relevant laws,
regulations and the Company’s Corporate Governance Best Practice
Principles and shall fully disclose relevant and reliable information

relating to its sustainable development initiatives to improve

information transparency.

Relevant information relating to sustainable development which the

Company shall disclose includes:
1.The policy, systems or relevant management guidelines, and

concrete promotion plans for sustainable development initiatives,

as resolved by the board of directors.

2.The risks and the impact on the corporate operations and financial
condition arising from exercising corporate governance, fostering a
sustainable environment and preserving social public welfare.

3.Goals and measures for realizing the sustainable development

initiatives established by the Company, and performance in
promotion.

4.Major stakeholders and their concerns.

5.Disclosure of information on major suppliers' management and
performance with respect to major environmental and social issues.

6.0Other information relating to sustainable development initiatives.

The company shall adopt internationally widely recognized standards
or guidelines when producing sustainability reports, to disclose the

status of its implementation of the sustainable development policy. It

also is advisable to obtain a third-party assurance or verification for
reports to enhance the reliability of the information in the reports.
The reports are advised to include:
1.The policy, system, or relevant management guidelines and
concrete promotion plans for implementing sustainable
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development initiatives.

2.Major stakeholders and their concerns.

3.Results and a review of the exercising of corporate governance,
fostering of a sustainable environment, preservation of public
welfare and promotion of economic development.

4.Future improvements and goals.

Chapter 6 Supplementary Provisions

Article 30 The company shall at all times monitor the development of domestic
and foreign sustainable development standards and the change of
business environment so as to examine and improve its established
sustainable development framework and to obtain better results from
the promotion of the sustainable development policy.

Article 31

This Principles will take effect after approval in the board meeting

and the same shall apply to any amendment thereto.
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4.2 Comparison table for the Sustainable Development Policy
Before and After Amendment

Title After the Amendment

Title Before the Amendment

Title
Sustainable Development Policy

Title
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy

Article After the Amendment

Article Before the Amendment

Article 1

The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) engage in
commercial activities following the belief]
of ethical management, Steady growth,
and sustainable development in order to
implement sustainable development,
hereby adopt the Policy to be followed.

Article 1

The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) engage in
commercial activities following the belief]
of ethical management, steady growth,
and sustainable development in order to
implement corporate social
responsibility, hereby adopt the Policy to
be followed.

Article 2
The Group shall do its duty of
sustainable development and interprets

Article 2
The Group shall do its duty of corporate
social responsibility and interprets the

the stakeholders and sustainable
development issues as follows:

(The rest is omitted.)

stakeholders and social responsibility
issues as follows:

(The rest is omitted.)

Article 3

The Company’s president is responsible
for enacting and promoting the Group’s
related matters in the scope of sustainable

development.

Article 3

The Company’s president is responsible
for enacting and promoting the Group’s
related matters in the scope of corporate
social responsibility.

Article 4
The Company will produce sustainability
reports, disclose the status of its

Article 4
The Company will produce corporate
social responsibility reports, disclose the

implementation of the sustainable
development policy, and upload on its

status of its implementation of the
corporate social responsibility policy,

official website.

and upload on its official website.
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Article 1

Article 2

Capital Futures Corp.
Sustainable Development Policy

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) engage
in commercial activities following the belief of ethical management,
Steady growth, and sustainable development in order to implement

sustainable development, hereby adopt the Policy to be followed.

The Group shall do its duty of sustainable development and interprets

the stakeholders and sustainable development issues as follows:

Customers

The Group will endeavor to provide highly value-added financial

service, which exceeds customer expectations, and becomes

customers’ long-term partner.

Promotions as follow:

1.Establish and disclose policies on consumer rights and interests.

2.Fully disclosures the information for products and services and
effective procedure for consumer complaints.

3.Strictly comply with laws and regulations related to the personal
information protection and taken protection measures for customer

data.

Employees

The Group will abide by labor-related laws and regulations, comply

with the internationally recognized human rights of labor, protect the

legal rights and interests of labor, and provide a good working

environment.

Promotions as follow:

1.Create an equal employment environment and protect the legal
rights and interests of labor.

2.Take care of the human rights of labor and set up a communication
mechanism.

3.0rganize employee education and training.

4.Attention to employee health, Organize health talks, and offer free
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health checks.

Stockholders

The Group will strengthen corporate governance continually,

improve operational performance, and increase shareholder value.

Promotions as follow:

1.Enhance the functions of the Board of Directors, protect the rights
of shareholders, and improve shareholder communications.

2.Enhance disclosure of financial and non-financial information and
transparency.

3.Pay attention to product innovation, and enhance risk control.

4.0Organize educational training and promotion in business ethics for

directors and employees.

Environmental protection

The Group will take sustainable development as our business

philosophy and endeavor to promote a sustainable environment.

Promotions as follow:

1.Press ahead with policies for energy conservation, reduce the use of
water, electricity, and oil.

2.Press ahead with electronic operation procedure to reduce paper
use.

3.Give priority to green procurement and use the green mark
products.

4. Promote resources recycling and dispose of waste properly

Community engagement

Sustain a good relationship with the local community through the

Group’s service points.

Promotions as follow:

1.0Organize arts and cultural activities, health talks, and finance talks
to improve community residents’ quality of life.

2.Implement corporate volunteer programs to encourage employees

to join community services.
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Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

Public Welfare

The Group’s will press ahead the public welfare activities.

Promotions as follow:

1.Provide caring for vulnerable groups, and improve their self-care
abilities.

2.Cooperate with domestic public interest groups and domestic social
welfare organizations to press ahead with public assistance

schemes.
3.Support ecological education and raise environmental awareness.

Ethical Corporate Management

The Group will establish the ethical management culture based on the

honesty and responsible business philosophy.

Promotions as follow:

1.Comply with relevant laws and regulations and fulfill the
Company’s Rules Governing Ethical Management.

2.Prohibition of corruption, or acceptance of improper benefits by
taking the opportunity of his occupation.

3.Any business operations shall engages with the principles of fair
and ethical.

The Company’s President is responsible for enacting and promoting

the Group’s related matters in the scope of sustainable development.

The Company will produce sustainability reports, disclose the status

of its implementation of the sustainable development policy, and
upload on its official website.
This Principles will take effect after approval in the board meeting

and the same shall apply to any amendment thereto.
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of Capital Futures Corporation
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capital Futures Corporation and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31,2021
and 2020 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Futures Commission Merchants, the related rules of
Preparing Financial Reports of Managed Futures Enterprises, the Regulations Governing the Preparation of
Financial Reports by Securities Firms and with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
International Accounting Standards (“IASs™), Interpretations developed by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC™) endorsed and
issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Certification of Financial
Statements by Certified Public Accountants and the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of
China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Ethics in Republic of China (“the
Code™), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. Key audit matters of the Group's financial statements are stated as
follows:

Brokerage fee revenue recognized:

Related accounting policies of brokerage fee revenue recognized, please refer to Note 4(p) revenue recognition.
Explanation of brokerage fee revenue, please refer to the consolidated financial report Note 6(p)(i)
comprehensive income statement brokerage fee revenue.
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Explanation of key audit matters:

The Group's main income is brokerage fee revenue from entrusted futures dealing. The existence and accuracy
of brokerage fee revenue have major affect on the financial report. Therefore, brokerage fee revenue recognized
is one of the important evaluation matters of the Group's financial report.

Audit procedures in response:

According to the key audit matters as described above, we perform main audit procedures including the
sampling test on brokerage business dealing internal control and brokerage fee revenue recorded amount, then
compare with the entrusted data from brokerage business and evaluate the revenue recognized policies in
compliance with the related bulletin.

Other Matter

Capital Futures Corporation has prepared its individual financial statements as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, on which we have issued an unmodified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Futures Commission
Merchants, the related rules of Preparing Financial Reports of Managed Futures Enterprises, the Regulations
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Firms and with the IFRSs, 1ASs, IFRIC, SIC
endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report are WU, CHENG YEN and
CHUNG, TAN TAN.

KPMG

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China)
March 11, 2022

Notes to Readers

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated financial position, financial
performance and cash flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and
not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those
generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China.

The auditors' report and the accompanying consolidated financial statements are the English translation of the Chinese version prepared
and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of the English and Chinese
language auditors' report and consolidated financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail.
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(English Tr ion of C Financial Originally Issued in Chinese)
CAPITAL FUTURES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Share)

2021 2020
Amount Y% _Amount %
Income:
Brokerage fee revenue (Note 6(p)) § 1780477 T3 1,896.284 78
Net gains (losses) on sale of trading securities 54,337 2 115,501 5
Dividend revenue 11,420 - 3,545 -
Net gains (losses) on measurement of trading securities at fair value through profit or loss (11,346) - 4945 -
Net gains (losses) on covering of borrowed securities and bonds with resale agreements-short sales 6531 - (1,304) -
Net gains (losses) on borrowed securities and bonds with resale agreements-short sales at fair value through profit or loss - 1,109 -
Futures commission revenue (Note 6(p)) 327.809 13 322,130 13
Securities commission revenue 27,770 1 11,437 -
Net gains (losses) on derivative instruments- futures (Note 6(p)) 10119 3 (22772) (1)
Net gains (losses) on derivative instruments - OTC (Note 6(p)) 91,820 4 62,602 3
Management fee revenue 2349 - 220 -
Consulting fee revenue 18,404 1 12,219 1
Other operating revenue 19271 _ 1 20320 _ 1
2438961 _100 _ 2426236 _100
Expenses:
Brokerage fees 346,549 14 370,883 15
Brokerage fees - proprietary trading 207 - 347 -
Financial costs 5.247 # 7,404
Loss from securities borrowing transactions - - 70 -
Expected credit impairment losses and reversal gains (Note 6(q)) (236) - 413
Futures commission expenses (Note 6(p)) 489,551 20 525520 22
Clearing and settlement expenses 193,739 8 180,753
Other operating expenditure 5558 - 455 -
Employee benefit expenses (Note 6(p)) 498853 20 196,948 1
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 6(p)) 72,625 3 77,442 3
Other operating expenses (Note 6(p)) 404708 _ 17 388007 __16
2018766 _ 82 _ 2055139 _ 85
Net operating income 420195 18 371,097 15
Non-operating income and expenses:
Shares of profit of associates and joint ventures under equity method (Note 6(d)) 894 - 2304 -
Other gains and losses (Note 6(p)) 178812 __ 7 411,105 _ 17
179706 7 413409 17
Net income before income tax 599,901 25 784,506 32
Less: Income tax expenses (Note 6(m)) 110578 _ 5 162162 __6
Net income 480323 _ 20 622344 26
Other comprehensive income:
Components that may not be reclassified subscquently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans (Note 6(1)) 1159 - (709) -
Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 31,396 1 1,660 -
Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - = =
Subtotal of components that may not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss 32555 ), 051 =
Components that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (28,303) (1) (44,625)  (2)
Equity related to non-current assets classified as held for sale 2129 - - -
Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to profit or loss (Note 6(m)) 414 - (178) -
Subtotal of ts that may be r i y to profit or loss (30.846) __(1) (44.447) __ ()
Other comprehensive income 1,709 - 43.496) _ (2)
Total comprehensive income $___491.032 _ 20 578,848 _ 24
Net income attributable to:
Sharcholders of the parent § 490039 20 622,166 26
Non-controlling interests (716) _-_ 7 .=
$ 489,323 _ 20 622344 _ 26
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent $ 492,593 20 579.841 24
Non-controlling interests (1.561) _ = 993) _ .
S, 491,032 20 578,848
Basic earnings per share (Dollar) (Note 6(0)) $ 233
Diluted earnings per share (Dollar) (Note 6(0)) $ 2.33

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

43-



“SJUDWIDIR)S [BIOURUL] PIIEPIOSUOD 0] sajou Surluedwosoe 90§

860°PLTD FEL'ST PIEBYTY {621’ 8FIF (szELIT) 96L'TTS PLSOPFT £08°979 [Z9°€99°T 9LEPOT'T $ 1707 *I€ 12quadaq je aduejeg
Qwoour aasuayaaduwes sie yEnoay)
- - - - (Fo1'0¢) - Y9108 - - - - QnjeA 1y Je pIeusisIp swawngsut Anba ur sjuaunsaaul Jo [esodsiq
9 = 79 = - = = - - 9 - pasiosaxa suondo uosnpou jo Jyiry
(Lev012) - (Levolz) 5 & = 5 - - (Lev'orz) = sujdms [endes woy spuspIAIp yses)
snidms [endea w safueyo Lo
- = - - - - (L19'1%) L19°TH - - - 0298 ANbd LI1LOd Ay} 10§ SARSAT [B100dg
(815°€6€) = (315°€6¢) & = & (815'¢6t) = 4 E % SPURPIAIP YsED)
- & z & A = {16Tvel) 16Z%Z1 - - - aa1as01 E103dg
& = & = « S (Sr1°79) a SP1Te 5 g aasesal [eFa]
suLza pauieial jo uonnquisip pue uoneudoiddy
TE0' 16K (1951) [GaN4] 96ETE (@81 861 T6t = B = 3 Qwoour aatsuaIdwon (810
60471 (5¥8) Gz1Ty 96€ 1€ [@ryEa] oSl = - = 0 2wosul aA1suAYRIdWOs JBYI)
€TE68Y (o12) = = = 6£0°06F o = 2 : 1Z0T "I £ J2quaana(] papua 234 2y} 10f AwoduL 1N
656989 g6TLT z 96T (£56°68) $00°€79 999°087'1 859°pOS 966°€L8' 9LEVOI'T 0207 ‘[ 10quasaq je dsuejey
86t E - - = - = = S0t = pasiolaxa suondo uorsnjoun jo WFiy
092°991°1 = = 5 = » = - Q0798 000°0P% ((w)g 20N yses Aq aseazour feyde)
7 = % = = - (gs5'81) £55'81 Z 5 - unoooe Ainba e1uoo ay) 10} antasal [e1oads
(1£8°66€) g (1e87608) 3 5 5 (1£8°66¢) . ) = # SPUSPIAIP Yse)
= - = = & - (186'611) 186'11 - - - ansasal [eoady
z & # % = = (166'65) o 166°6S - - 9A10501 [EF]
sBunea pauresar jo uonnquisip pue uoneidorddy
8Y8BLS {£66) 178765 & 0991 GLTer) LSPIT0 = = - = aueaut SAISUAYaIdILOS [210]
©6rer) (IZrn (sTear) G 09971 OLTEr) (ooL) 5 = - = Wodul AAISEIYRIAWOD JAYQ
#hETTo 8Ll 991729 2 7 & 991729 = = = . 0TOT | £ 13quI303(] PAPUD 18K 3L} J0F SWOIUE 12N
v8TI0C 88T 966710% 5 B (VXD ¥06°66S TELTHLL 997705 SEELVO [ SLETOLT s 0707 ‘1 Aenuey e dukjeg
Kinba e BEIR uazed Jo sIumo 36 10) ETUGE SUONEIdO URIDI0) — sjuiumea  oAdssal [eioadg | 9AISSal [e3a] supdms [epde]y  SYD01S UOWIWO)
Su|jonuco-uoN o} 9]qeIng e Pi3y se paijisseds  aatsusyaidos Jo uonesues paetdoaddeury
Aunba [E10] SJ9SSE ULLIMI-TOU Lo 1o sa0udIgp
0} pajejar Amby ySnory) snfea aBueyoxyg

Jiey e paseaw
sjasse [eraueury
o (sassoy)
suteS pozteaury SBUNLIES PAUIEtay T opoig
Tmbs BUG

uaIed JO 5190M0 03 9 [(emqLye Amby

(sdefloQ ueMIe ] MIN JO SpUBSNOY ] ul passaidxy)
0207 PUE [Z07 ‘1€ 12qUAdI( PIPUI SILIA ) A0y
Aynby ur saSuey)) jo Juswale)g pajepijosuc))

SHMMVIAISANS ANV NOILVIOJY0D STANLNA TVLIAVD
(@soumy) ur panssy AEUIBLQ SHUIWIIS [F2ULUL PIIEPIOSUOD) JO UONE[SUEL |, ysiSug)




(English Translation of C: lidated Fi ial S ts Originally Issued in Chinese)
CAPITAL FUTURES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

2021 2020
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:
Net income before income tax $ 599,901 784,506
Adjustments:
Adjustments to reconcile:
Depreciation expenses 63,543 67,702
Amortization expenses ’ 9,082 9,740
Expected credit impairment losses and reversal gains (236) 413
Net loss (gain) on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 16,652 (9,967)
Interest expenses 5247 7.404
Interest income (including financial income) (173.949) (364,733)
Dividend revenue (13,962) (3,584)
Shares of profit of associates and joint ventures under equity method (894) (2,304)
Losses on disposal of property and equipment 65 -
Loss (gain) on lease modification 1,018 41y
Impairment losses 4.951 1,204
Total adjustments to reconcile (88.483) (294.166)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 76,081 71.070
Decrease (increase) in bond purchased under resale agreements. 160,517 (198,530)
Increase in customer margin accounts (80,877) (3,682,034)
Decrease (increase) in receivable-futures margin 236 (411)
Increase in leverage contract trading - customer’s margin accounts (271,270) (44.419)
Decrease in security borrowing margin - 3,874
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 113,741 (118,236)
Increase in accounts receivable - related parties (276) (2,013)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments (524) 998
Increase in other receivables (337,027) (4,018)
Decrease (increase) in other receivables- related parties (344y 231
Decrease (increase) in other current assets 3 A3)
Increase in clearing and settlement fund (12,278} (16,744)
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits (603} 41
Increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6,457 39,622
Increase in futures traders' equity 64,291 3705011
Increase in leverage contract trading - customer's equity 278,774 43,466
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (91,288) 93,169
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable - related parties (3,231) 3,765
Increase (decrease) in advance receipts (521) 1,262
Increase (decrease) in receipts under custody (158) 1,222
Increase (decrease) in other payables (6,887) 11,422
Increase (decrease) in other payables - related parties (3.588) 4,020
Increase (decrease) in provisions for liabilities 41 (375)
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities (5.480) 4578
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities (7.129) 59
Total changes in operating assets and liabilities (121,340) (82,973)
Total adjustments (209.823) (377.139)
Cash inflow generated from operations 390,078 407,367
Interest received 178,352 372,443
Dividends received 13,848 3,616
Interest paid (5,240) (8,192)
Income taxes paid (133,050) (180.549)
Net cash flows from operating activities 443,988 594,685
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (316,995) (117,518)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 439,095 -
Acquisition of property and equipment (15.593) (28,936)
Acquisition of intangible assets (5.136) (8.323)
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities 101,371 (154.777)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:
Cash dividends paid (603,955) (399 ,831)
Increase in short-term loans 109.784 -
Payments of lease liabilities (33,270) (35,520)
Proceeds from issue of share capital - 1,166,260
Proceeds from right of inclusion options exercised 62 398
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities (527.379) 731.307
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (29.929) (43,191
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (11,949) 1,128,024
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,259,993 4,131,969
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8 5,248,044 5,259,993

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of Capital Futures Corporation
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Capital Futures Corporation(“the Company”), which comprise the
balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by
Futures Commission Merchants, the related rules of Preparing Financial Reports of Managed Futures
Enterprises and the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Firms.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Certification of Financial
Statements by Certified Public Accountants and the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of
China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Ethics in Republic of China (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. Key audit matters of the Company's financial statements are stated as follows:

Brokerage fee revenue recognized:

Related accounting policies of brokerage fee revenue recognized, please refer to Note 4(p) revenue recognition.
Explanation of brokerage fee revenue, please refer to the financial report Note 6(0)(i) comprehensive income
statement brokerage fee revenue.
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Explanation of key audit matters:

The Company's main income is brokerage fee revenue from entrusted futures dealing. The existence and
accuracy of brokerage fee revenue have major affect on the financial report. Therefore, brokerage fee revenue
recognized is one of the important evaluation matters of the Company's financial report.

Audit procedures in response:

According to the key audit matters as described above, we perform main audit procedures including the
sampling test on brokerage business dealing internal control and brokerage fee revenue recorded amount, then
compare with the entrusted data from brokerage business and evaluate the revenue recognized policies in
compliance with the related bulletin.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Futures Commission Merchants, the
related rules of Preparing Financial Reports of Managed Futures Enterprises and the Regulations Governing the
Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Firms, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Company's
financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and fo issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if]
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the investment in other
entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report are WU, CHENG YEN and
CHUNG, TAN TAN.

KPMG

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China)
March 11, 2022

Notes to Readers

The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the financial position, financial performance and cash flows in
accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other
jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements are those generally accepted and applied in the
Republic of China.

The auditors' report and the accompanying financial statements are the English translation of the Chinese version prepared and used in the
Republic of China. If there is any conflict between. or any difference in the interpretation of the English and Chinese language auditors'
report and financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail.
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(English Tr ion of Financial Originally Issued in Chinese)

CAPITAL FUTURES CORPORATION
Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Share)

2021
Amount
Income:
Brokerage fee revenue (Note 6(0)) § 1.897.947
Net gains (losses) on sale of trading securities 38,867
Dividend revenue 9,769
Net gains (losses) on measurement of trading securities at fair value through profit or loss 283
Net gains (losses) on covering of borrowed securities and bonds with resale agreements-short sales 6,531
Net gains (losses) on borrowed securities and bonds with resale agreements-short sales at fair value through profit or loss -
Secyrities commission revenue 27,152
Net gains (losses) on derivative instruments- futures (Note 6(0)) 112,827
Net gains (losses) on derivative instruments - OTC (Note 6(0)) 91,820
Management fee revenue 2,349
Consulting fee revenue 18,404
Other operating revenue (4.334)
2,201,615
Expenses:
Brokerage fees 285,626
Brokerage fees - proprietary trading 21772
Financial costs 4,996
Loss from securities borrowing transactions 5
Expected credit impairment losses and reversal gains (Note 6(p)) (236)
Futures commission expenses (Note 6(0)) 393,650
Clearing and settlement expenses 193,739
Other operating expenditure 5,558
Employee benefit expenses (Note 6(0)) 440355
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 6(0)) 55,153
Other operating expenses (Note 6(0)) 357,869
1,738,882
Net eperating income 462733
Non-operating income and expenses:
Shares of profit of associates and joint ventures under equity method (Note 6(d)) (31.754)
Other gains and losses (Note 6(a)) 169,638
137,884
Net income before income tax 600,617
Less: Income tax expenses (Note 6(1)) 110578
Net income 490,039
Other comprehensive income:
Components that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans (Note 6(k)) 1,159
Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 31,396

Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -
Subtotal of components that may not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss
Components that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

0

2020

Amount

1966511
113,688
3,537
(7,140)
(1,304)
1,109
9,738
(24,018)
62,602
220
12,219
4.447)

2132715

265,022
3,147
9,324

70
413

458,171

180,753
4,552

424,735

58,890

327,807

1,732,884
399,831

(12.861)

397,615
384,754

784,585

162.419
622,166

(709)
1,660

951

(43,782)
328

178)

(43276) __(2)
(42,325) _ (2)

579,841

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (27,358)
Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method, (100)
of other comprel income that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity related to non-current assets classified as held for sale (2.129)
Less: Income tax related to p of ather prehensive income that will be reclassified to profit or loss (Note 6(1)) 414
Subtotal of components that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 30.001)
Other comprehensive income 2554
Total comprehensive income §___ 492,593
Basic earnings per share (Dollar) (Note 6(n)) S
Diluted earnings per share (Dollar) (Note 6(n)) S,

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(English Translation of Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese)
CAPITAL FUTURES CORPORATION

Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:
Net income before income tax
Adjustments:
Adjustments to reconcile:
Depreciation expenses
Amortization expenses
Expected credit impairment losses and reversal gains

Net loss on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Interest expenses
Interest income (including financial income)
Dividend revenue

Shares of profit of associates and joint ventures under equity method

Gains on lease modification
Total adjustments to reconcile
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Decrease (increase) in bond purchased under resale agreements
Decrease (increase) in customer margin accounts
Decrease (increase) in receivable-futures margin

Increase in leverage contract trading - customer's margin accounts

Decrease in security borrowing margin

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable

Increase in accounts receivable - related parties
Decrease in prepayments

Decrease (increase) in other receivables

Decrease (increase) in other receivables- related parties
Decrease (increase) in other current assets

Decrease (increase) in clearing and settlement fund
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits

Increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Increase (decrease) in futures traders' equity
Increase in leverage contract trading - customer's equity
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable - related parties
Increase (decrease) in advance receipts
Increase (decrease) in receipts under custody
Increase (decrease) in other payables
Increase (decrease) in other payables - related parties
Increase (decrease) in provisions for liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities
Total changes in operating assets and liabilities
Total adjustments
Cash inflow generated from operations
Interest received
Dividends received
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:
Cash dividends paid
Payments of lease liabilities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Proceeds from right of inclusion options exercised
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

52

2021 2020
600.617 784,585
46,367 49,442
8,786 9.448
(236) 413
2,147 4927
4,996 9,324
(172,216) (358,577)
(12,311) (3,576)
31,754 12,861
1018 (41)
(89.695) (275719
(28.189) 176,001
160,517 (198,530)
471,502 (3.713373)
236 @11)
(271,270) (44,419)
o 3,874
113,480 (119.948)
(332) (2,305)
43 625
3972 (3.496)
() 215
3 3)
2,902 (13.855)
712 (465)
6,534 39,545
(465,863) 3,711,073
278,774 43,466
(91,868) 94,533
(3.231) 3,765
(521) 1351
(155) 1221
(1,960) 8,176
(4,308) 10,266
41 (375)
(5.480) 4578
(7.129) 59
158 407 1568
68712 (274211)
669,329 510,374
176,153 365.995
12,197 3,609
(5.018) (10,515)
(133.050) (180.549)
719.611 688914
(316,995) (117,518)
439,095 .
(9.597) (19,807)
(5.133) (8.203)
107,370 (145.528)
(603,955) (399,831)
(23.320) (22,552)
E 1.166.260
62 398
(627.213) 744275
199,768 1.287.661
4546619 3,258,958
4,746,387 4,546,619




Attachment 6

Capital Futures Corp.
2021 Earnings Distribution Proposal
Unit: NTD
No. Items Amount Remark
Beginning earnings 1,433,128
2. Add : Changes in actuarial
gains on defined 1,159,173
benefit plan
3. Add : Gains from
investments in equity
instruments at fair
value through other 30,164,850
comprehensive income
on the disposal
Add: Net profit after tax 490,039,229
5. | Distributable earnings in this
period 522,796,380
Less: 10% legal reserve 52,136,325 | (2+3+4)*10%
Less: 20% special reserve 104,272,650 | (2+3+4)*20%
8. Less: Special reserve
appropriated due to 28,770,198
deduction of equity
Distributable items:
Less: Dividend to
shareholders
9. Cash dividends on
common shares 336,700,134
(NTS$1.6 per share)
10. | Undistributed earnings 917,073

Note 1: The principle of profit distribution above means that the profit from the current year has priority to be distributed.

Note 2: The cash dividends on common shares (NT$1.6 per share) are calculated based on 210,437,584 outstanding
common shares.

Note 3: The legal reserve shall be set aside based on net profit after tax for the current year plus (or minus) the amount of
other profit (or loss) items adjusted to the current year’s retained earnings, in accordance with Ministry of
Economic Affairs Order No. 10802432410.

Note 4: No. 2 and No. 3 are the adjustments for undistributed earnings.

Note 5: Undistributed earnings of No. 10 refers the retained earnings resolved by the shareholders’ meeting.

Chairman: President: Accounting manager:
Lee, Wen-Chu Mao, Jen-Hua Lin, Li-Juan
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Attachment 7

Capital Futures Corp.
Comparison table for the Articles of Association Before and
After Amendment

After the Amendment

Before the Amendment

Article 11

The Company’s shareholders meetings
are divided into the following two types:
(1) General shareholders meeting, to be
convened within six months after the end
of each fiscal year.

(2) Extraordinary shareholders meeting,
to be convened when necessary in
accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.

Regarding convening of the
aforementioned meetings, in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations a
written or electronic notice should be
sent to shareholders 30 days before a
general shareholders meeting or 15 days
before an extraordinary shareholders
meeting to notify shareholders of the
place and the subject. The Company’s
shareholders meetings may be held by
means of visual communication network

or other methods promulgated by the

central competent authority. For

shareholders with less than a thousand
registered shares, the convening notice to
such shareholders may be in the form of
a public announcement in accordance
with other relevant laws and regulations.

Article 11

The Company’s shareholders meetings
are divided into the following two types:
(1) General shareholders meeting, to be
convened within six months after the end
of each fiscal year.

(2) Extraordinary shareholders meeting,
to be convened when necessary in
accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.

Regarding convening of the
aforementioned meetings, in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations a
written or electronic notice should be
sent to shareholders 30 days before a
general shareholders meeting or 15 days
before an extraordinary shareholders
meeting to notify shareholders of the
place and the subject. For shareholders
with less than a thousand registered
shares, the convening notice to such
shareholders may be in the form of a
public announcement in accordance with
other relevant laws and regulations.

Article 31

This Articles of Association was
formulated on January 4, 1997. The first
amendment was made on August 11,
1997; the second amendment was made
on April 27, 1997, the third amendment
was made on April 8, 2002; the fourth
amendment was made on November 14,
2002; the fifth amendment was made on

Article 31

This Articles of Association was
formulated on January 4, 1997. The first
amendment was made on August 11,
1997; the second amendment was made
on April 27, 1997; the third amendment
was made on April 8, 2002; the fourth
amendment was made on November 14,
2002; the fifth amendment was made on
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June 27, 2003; the sixth amendment was
made on March 17, 2008; the seventh
amendment was made on August 26,
2008; the eighth amendment was made
on May 27, 2009; the ninth amendment
was made on May 27, 2010; the tenth
amendment was made on June 19, 2012;
the eleventh amendment was made on
May 20, 2014; the twelfth amendment
was made on May 20, 2015; the
thirteenth amendment was made on May
27, 2016; the fourteenth amendment was
made on May 31, 2017; the fifteenth
amendment was made on June 19, 2020;
the sixteen amendment was made

on ,2022.

June 27, 2003; the sixth amendment was
made on March 17, 2008; the seventh
amendment was made on August 26,
2008; the eighth amendment was made
on May 27, 2009; the ninth amendment
was made on May 27, 2010; the tenth
amendment was made on June 19, 2012;
the eleventh amendment was made on
May 20, 2014; the twelfth amendment
was made on May 20, 2015; the
thirteenth amendment was made on May
27, 2016; the fourteenth amendment was
made on May 31, 2017; the fifteenth
amendment was made on June 19, 2020.
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Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

Article 6

Article 7

Article 8

Article 9

Capital Futures Corp.
Articles of Association (Draft)

The Company is organized in accordance with the provisions of the
R.O.C. Company Act, and known as “Capital Futures Corp.”

The Company’s business scope is as follows:
(1) H401011 Futures commission merchant
(Limited to those approved by the FSC)
(2) H405011 Futures consulting business
(3) H407011 Futures management business
(4) H310011 Securities introducing broker
(5) H304011 Securities investment consulting enterprise
(6) H301011 Securities firm
(7) H404011 Leverage transaction merchant

The Company’s headquarter is located in Taipei; the board of directors
may, depending on business needs, establish domestic and overseas
branches in appropriate locations on approval by the Competent
Authority.

The Company’s total registered capital is NT$2.5 billion exact, which is
divided into 250 million shares at NT$10 per share; the board of
directors is authorized to approve such shares issued in batches.
Employees of the Company subscribing for new shares in accordance
with the Company Act include employees of the Company’s parents or
subsidiaries meeting certain specific requirements. The certain specific
requirements shall be specified by the board of directors.

The Company’s shares are in registered form and issued in accordance
with the Company Act and other relevant rules and regulations of the
Republic of China. After public offering of shares the Company is
exempt from printing physical share certificates. The Taiwan Securities
Central Depository should be contacted for registration of the shares
issued pursuant to the preceding provisions.

The Company’s shareholders should send to the Company their real
names, addresses, specimen of their seals, and uniform tax numbers for
registration and future references; this requirement also applies when
there is a change to the information above.

Shareholders should collect dividends or bonuses from the Company or
exercise other rights based on their seals filed with the Company.

Unless otherwise provided in law, the provisions in Regulations
Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public
Companies promulgated by the Competent Authority should be followed
in handling share transfer, share pledge, report of share loss, inheritance,
gifting, report of seal loss or change, or change of address.

A Nominal fee may be charged for shareholders’ application for share
renewal or replacement.
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Article 10

Article 11

Article 12

Article 13

Article 14

Article 14-1

Article 15

Share book closures are 60 days before each regular shareholders
meeting, 30 days before each extraordinary shareholders meeting, or five
days before the ex-day for the Company’s payment of dividends, bonuses
or other benefits.
The Company’s shareholders meetings are divided into the following two
types:
(1) General shareholders meeting, to be convened within six months after
the end of each fiscal year.
(2) Extraordinary shareholders meeting, to be convened when necessary
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
Regarding convening of the aforementioned meetings, in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations a written or electronic notice should
be sent to shareholders 30 days before a general shareholders meeting or
15 days before an extraordinary shareholders meeting to notify
shareholders of the place and the subject. The Company’s shareholders
meetings may be held by means of visual communication network or
other methods promulgated by the central competent authority. For
shareholders with less than a thousand registered shares, the convening
notice to such shareholders may be in the form of a public announcement
in accordance with other relevant laws and regulations.

Except the non-voting shares stipulated in Article 179 of the Company
Act or in other laws and decrees, each share has one voting right.

A shareholder who is unable to attend a general meeting may present the
power of attorney issued by the Company with the level of authorization
stipulated, and appoint a proxy to attend the meeting on his behalf.
Unless otherwise provided in Article 177 of the Company Act, the
requirements in Regulations Governing the Use of Proxies for
Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies issued by the
Competent Authority should be followed.

Unless otherwise provided in relevant laws or regulations, shareholders
or proxies of shareholders who hold more than half of the total number of
issued shares should be present in a shareholders meeting before the
meeting may start and the resolution be represented, and the resolution
should be passed by more than half of the shareholders present at the
meeting. The voting power at a shareholders' meeting may be exercised
by way of electronic transmission; the method of execution shall comply
with relevant regulations.

Before the Company intends to report the voidance of public issue, it
should present a proposal at a shareholders meeting for special
resolution, and no further change of this Article 14-1 should be made
during the period of the Company’s shares are traded on the Emerging
Market or the Taipei Exchange.

A shareholders meeting shall be convened by the board of directors and
the chairman of the board shall be the meeting’s chairman. In case the
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Article 16

Article 17

Article 17-1

Articlel8

chairman of the board of directors is on leave or absent or cannot
exercise his power and authority for any cause, the vice chairman shall
act on his behalf. In case the vice chairman is also on leave or absent or
unable to exercise his power and authority for any cause, the chairman of
the board of directors shall designate one of the directors to act on his
behalf. In the absence of such a designation, the directors shall elect from
among themselves an acting chairman of the board of directors. For a
shareholders meeting convened by a person with the convening right but
other than the board members, the person who convenes the meeting
shall be the meeting’s chairman; if there are two or more such persons,
then the chairman should be selected between/among such persons.

The resolutions made in a shareholders meeting should be recorded in the
meeting minutes, which should be signed by the meeting’s chairman or
affixed with his seal and distributed to the shareholders within 20 days
after the meeting.

Preparation and distribution of the meeting minutes may be notified of
such meeting minutes though a public announcement.

The Company’s board of directors consists of seven to nine directors who
are elected in sharecholders meetings among competent persons. Each
person has a term of three years, and may be re-elected.

Among the directors in the preceding paragraph, independent directors
should account for three or more, and be no less than one-fifth of the
total directors. Directors should be elected through a nomination system
and by shareholders from a list of director candidates.

Relevant rules of the Competent Authority should be followed
concerning independent directors’ professional qualifications,
shareholdings, restrictions on their concurrent jobs, the method for
nomination of candidates and other binding matters. Provisions of the
securities regulatory body should be followed concerning the percentage
of directors’ total shareholdings.

In electing directors in shareholders meetings, except stipulated in laws
and decrees, each share has the same number of voting rights as the
number of directors to be elected. Such voting rights may be used on one
single person or distributed among a number of people, and the persons
winning most votes are elected. If two or more persons win the same
number of votes but the total number of specified seats is exceeded, then
a decision may be made among the persons winning the same number of
votes through a drawing of lots; for those who are absent the chairman
will perform the drawing on their behalf.

A chairman and a vice chairman of the board should be elected by the
Directors among themselves. The chairman of the board externally
represents the Company. In case the chairman of the board of directors is
on leave or absent or cannot exercise his power and authority for any
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Article 19

Article 20

Article 21
Article 22

cause, the vice chairman shall act on his behalf. In case the vice chairman
is also on leave or absent or unable to exercise his power and authority
for any cause, the chairman of the board of directors shall designate one
of the directors to act on his behalf. In the absence of such a designation,
the directors shall elect from among themselves an acting chairman of
the board of directors.

The board meeting should be convened by the chairman of the board.
However, the first Board meeting in each term should be convened by the
director who wins most votes in the shareholders meeting. If the director
who wins most votes or the chairman of the board of directors fails to
convene a board meeting, the majority or more of the directors may
convene a board meeting on their own.

For convening a board meeting, the reason should be stated in the
meeting notice, and all directors should be notified seven days prior to
the meeting date. However, in case of an emergency, a meeting may be
convened at any time.

The board meeting notice may be in the form of a written notice, fax or
e-mail, etc.

Agreed by the relative directors, the notification in the preceding
paragraph may be carried out in an electronic form.

The directors should attend a Board meeting in person. A director who is
unable to attend may delegate another director as proxy to attend on his
behalf; however, each director can act as the proxy for only one other
director.

Unless otherwise provided in the Company Act, more than half of the
directors should be present in a board meeting before the meeting may
start, and the resolution should be passed by more than half of the
directors present at the meeting:

For the motion related to director’s own interests and concerns, the
relative director should explain the importance and relevance in that
meeting.

(Deleted)

The powers of the board of directors are as follows:

(1) Review and approval of important legal documents and contracts

(2) Decision on business policy

(3) Approval of budgets and preparation of accounts

(4) Draw up the change of paid-in capital

(5) Draw up the distribution of earnings

(6) Setting of the Company’s major functions and appointment and
dismissal of key personnel

(7) Approval of the purchase or disposal of important assets and real
estate

(8) Appointment, dismissal and remuneration of the accounting firm for
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Article 22-1

Article 23

Article 24

Article 25

Article 25-1

Article 25-2

Article 26

auditing.
(9) Other powers conferred by laws and regulations or shareholders
The powers above should be chartered after due approvals are obtained.

Due to business operational needs, the board of directors may establish
an audit committee and a remuneration committee or other functional
committees.

The audit committee is formed by all independent directors in
accordance with Article 14-4 of Securities and Exchange Act.

The number and term of the audit committee members, the official
powers of the audit committee, the rules of procedure for meetings of the
audit committee and the exercising of official powers of the Audit
Committee etc. shall be specified in the audit committee charter in
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Exercise of Powers by
Audit Committees of Public Companies.

All the powers of the supervisors from the Securities and Exchange Act,
the Company Act and other regulations should be performed by the Audit
Committee. The independent directors in the audit committee shall apply
mutatis mutandis the regulations of supervisors’ behaviors and their
representative of the Company.

If one third of the director seats are vacant or all independent directors
are dismissed from duties, the board should convene an extraordinary
shareholders meeting within 60 days for re-election. The terms of office
are limited to the predecessors’ remaining terms of office.

The Company may have a general manager and several senior vice
presidents, vice presidents, managers and the principals of branches. The
provisions in Article 29 of the Company Act should be followed for the
appointment, dismissal and remuneration of such persons. The general
manager takes orders from the Board, and is in charge of all the
Company’s business with the assistance from senior vice presidents, vice
presidents and managers.

The board is authorized to determine the remuneration of the chairman,
directors based on their levels of participation in the Company's
operations, the value of their contributions and the industry standard.
The remuneration of directors distributed from annual earnings need to
be audited by the remuneration committee and a resolution should be
passed by the board meeting and a shareholders’ meeting.

Based on actual needs in carrying out their respective duties, all the
Company’s directors may in their terms of office purchase liability
insurance policies to reduce and disperse the risk of damage to all the
directors, the Company and shareholders. The board is fully authorized to
take care of all the directors’ purchase of liability insurance policies.

The Company’s fiscal year starts from January 1 and ends on December
31 each year. The board should, in accordance with the legal procedure,
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Article 27

Article 27-1

Article 28

prepare the following documents after the end of each fiscal year to the
shareholders meeting for recognition.

(1) Business report

(2) Financial statements

(3) Motions for distribution of earnings or making up for losses

The Company should distribute 0.6% to 2% of the profit of the current
year distributable as employees’ compensation, and 3% or less of its
profit of the current year distributable as directors’ remuneration.
However, the Company’s accumulated losses shall have been covered
first.

The Company’s profit of the current year distributable mentioned above
is the earnings before tax deducting employees’ compensation and
directors’ remuneration. A company may, by a resolution of majority vote
at a meeting of board of directors attended by two-thirds or more of the
total number of directors, have the profit distributable as employees’
compensation and directors’ remuneration; in addition, a report of such
distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting.

The employees’ compensation can be in the form of shares or cash. And
such compensation may apply to the employees of the Company’s
parents or subsidiaries who meet certain specific requirements which
shall be determined by the board of directors.

The Company’s business environment is a stably growing financial
industry. For the purpose of business expansion and re-investment plan,
the Company’s policy for dividend distribution takes into considerations
such as the Company’s business development, the Company’s future
capital expenditure budget and demand for fund, shareholders’ interest,
and the balance between dividends and the Company’s long-term
financial planning. With regard to the Company’s earnings in each fiscal
year, after all taxes and dues have been paid and losses in previous years
have been covered, the Company shall first set aside 10% as legal
reserve, 20% as special reserve, and other reserve specified by relevant
regulations. The Company should add the remaining balance to the
undistributed earnings in previous years, and then distribute at least 10%
of it as dividends. Earnings may be distributed in the form of cash
dividend or stock dividend, but the percentage of cash dividend for the
year should not be less than 10% of the total dividend for the year.
Dividend may not be distributed if an annual loss occurs, and the loss
should be first made up if retained earnings are used for dividend
distribution.

The Company can invest in businesses approved by the Competent
Authority and the total amount of its investments is not limited by Article
13 of the Company Act, unless other laws or regulations provide
otherwise.
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Article 29

Article 30

Article 31

The Company’s Articles of Association shall be formulated by the board
of directors.

Provisions in relevant laws and regulations should be followed for
matters not included in this Articles of Association.

This Articles of Association was formulated on January 4, 1997. The first
amendment was made on August 11, 1997; the second amendment was
made on April 27, 1997; the third amendment was made on April 8,
2002; the fourth amendment was made on November 14, 2002; the fifth
amendment was made on June 27, 2003; the sixth amendment was made
on March 17, 2008; the seventh amendment was made on August 26,
2008; the eighth amendment was made on May 27, 2009; the ninth
amendment was made on May 27, 2010; the tenth amendment was made
on June 19, 2012; the eleventh amendment was made on May 20, 2014;
the twelfth amendment was made on May 20, 2015; the thirteenth
amendment was made on May 27, 2016; the fourteenth amendment was
made on May 31, 2017; the fifteenth amendment was made on June 19,
2020; the sixteen amendment was made on . 2022.
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Attachment &

Capital Futures Corp.
Comparison table for the Rules of Procedure for
Shareholders Meetings Before and After Amendment

After the Amendment

Before the Amendment

Article 3 (Convening shareholders
meetings and shareholders meeting
notices)

Unless otherwise provided by law or
regulation, the Company’s shareholders
meetings shall be convened by the board
of directors.

Changes to how the Company convenes

its shareholders meeting shall be resolved

by the board of directors, and shall be

made no later than mailing of the
shareholders meeting notice.

The Company shall prepare electronic
versions of the shareholders meeting
notice and proxy forms, and the origins
of and explanatory materials relating to
all proposals, including proposals for
ratification, matters for deliberation, or
the election or dismissal of directors, and
upload them to the Market Observation
Post System (MOPS) before 30 days
before the date of a regular shareholders
meeting or before 15 days before the date
of a special shareholders meeting. This
Company shall prepare electronic
versions of the shareholders meeting
agenda and supplemental meeting
materials and upload them to the MOPS
before 21 days before the date of the
regular shareholders meeting or before
15 days before the date of the special
shareholders meeting. However, in the
case of the Company with paid-in capital

reaching NT$10 billion or more as of the

last day of the most recent fiscal year, or

in which the aggregate shareholding

Article 3 (Convening shareholders
meetings and shareholders meeting
notices)

Unless otherwise provided by law or
regulation, the Company’s shareholders
meetings shall be convened by the board
of directors.

The Company shall prepare electronic
versions of the shareholders meeting
notice and proxy forms, and the origins
of and explanatory materials relating to
all proposals, including proposals for
ratification, matters for deliberation, or
the election or dismissal of directors, and
upload them to the Market Observation
Post System (MOPS) before 30 days
before the date of a regular sharcholders
meeting or before 15 days before the date
of a special shareholders meeting. This
Company shall prepare electronic
versions of the shareholders meeting
agenda and supplemental meeting
materials and upload them to the MOPS
before 21 days before the date of the
regular shareholders meeting or before
15 days before the date of the special
shareholders meeting. In addition, before
15 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting, the Company shall
also have prepared the shareholders
meeting agenda and supplemental
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percentage of foreign investors and

Mainland Chinese investors reached 30%

or more as recorded in the shareholders'

register at the time of holding of the

regular shareholders’ meeting in the most

recent fiscal year, it shall upload the
aforesaid electronic file by 30 days prior

to the day on which the regular

shareholders' meeting is to be held. In

addition, before 15 days before the date
of the shareholders meeting, the
Company shall also have prepared the
shareholders meeting agenda and
supplemental meeting materials and
made them available for review by
shareholders at any time. The meeting
agenda and supplemental materials shall
also be displayed at the Company and the
professional shareholder services agent
designated thereby.

The Company shall make the meeting

agenda and supplemental meeting

materials in the preceding paragraph

available to shareholders for review in

the following manner on the date of the

shareholders meeting:

1.For physical shareholders meetings, to
be distributed on-site at the meeting.
2.For hybrid shareholders meetings, to be

meeting materials and made them
available for review by shareholders at
any time. The meeting agenda and
supplemental materials shall also be
displayed at the Company and the
professional shareholder services agent
designated thereby as well as being
distributed on-site at the meeting place.

distributed on-site at the meeting and
shared on the virtual meeting platform.
3.For virtual-only shareholders meetings,

electronic files shall be shared on the

virtual meeting platform.
The reasons for convening a shareholders
meeting shall be specified in the meeting
notice and public announcement. With
the consent of the addressee, the meeting
notice may be given in electronic form.
Election or dismissal of directors,
amendments to the Articles of
Association, reduction of capital,
application for the approval of ceasing its
status as a public company, approval of

The reasons for convening a shareholders
meeting shall be specified in the meeting
notice and public announcement. With
the consent of the addressee, the meeting
notice may be given in electronic form.
Election or dismissal of directors,
amendments to the Articles of
Association, reduction of capital,
application for the approval of ceasing its
status as a public company, approval of
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competing with the company by
directors, surplus profit distributed in the
form of new shares, reserve distributed in
the form of new shares, the dissolution,
merger, or demerger of the Company, or
any matter under Article 185, paragraph
1 of the Company Act, Articles 26-1 and
43-6 of the Securities Exchange Act,
Articles 56-1 and 60-2 of the Regulations
Governing the Offering and Issuance of
Securities by Securities Issuers shall be
set out and the essential contents
explained in the notice of the reasons for
convening the shareholders meeting.
None of the above matters may be raised
by an extraordinary motion.

Re-electing whole directors and the date
they will assume office are specified in
the reasons for convening a shareholders
meeting, it shall not be raised to alter the
date they assume office by an extempore
motion or other methods in the meeting
after the re-election complete.

A shareholder holding one percent or
more of the total number of issued shares
may submit to the Company a proposal
for discussion at a regular shareholders
meeting. The number of items so
proposed is limited to one only, and no
proposal containing more than one item
will be included in the meeting agenda.
When the circumstances of any
subparagraph of Article 172-1, paragraph
4 of the Company Act apply to a proposal
put forward by a shareholder, the board
of directors may exclude it from the
agenda. A shareholder may propose a
recommendation for urging the Company
to promote public interests or fulfill its
social responsibilities, provided
procedurally the number of items so
proposed is limited only to one in
accordance with Article 172-1 of the
Company Act, and no proposal

competing with the company by
directors, surplus profit distributed in the
form of new shares, reserve distributed in
the form of new shares, the dissolution,
merger, or demerger of the Company, or
any matter under Article 185, paragraph
1 of the Company Act, Articles 26-1 and
43-6 of the Securities Exchange Act,
Articles 56-1 and 60-2 of the Regulations
Governing the Offering and Issuance of
Securities by Securities Issuers shall be
set out and the essential contents
explained in the notice of the reasons for
convening the shareholders meeting.
None of the above matters may be raised
by an extraordinary motion.

Re-electing whole directors and the date
they will assume office are specified in
the reasons for convening a shareholders
meeting, it shall not be raised to alter the
date they assume office by an extempore
motion or other methods in the meeting
after the re-election complete.

A shareholder holding one percent or
more of the total number of issued shares
may submit to the Company a proposal
for discussion at a regular shareholders
meeting. The number of items so
proposed is limited to one only, and no
proposal containing more than one item
will be included in the meeting agenda.
When the circumstances of any
subparagraph of Article 172-1, paragraph
4 of the Company Act apply to a proposal
put forward by a shareholder, the board
of directors may exclude it from the
agenda. A shareholder may propose a
recommendation for urging the Company
to promote public interests or fulfill its
social responsibilities, provided
procedurally the number of items so
proposed is limited only to one in
accordance with Article 172-1 of the
Company Act, and no proposal
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containing more than one item will be
included in the meeting agenda.

Prior to the date on which share transfer
registration is suspended before the
convention of a regular shareholders’
meeting, the company shall give a public
notice announcing acceptance of
proposal in writing or by way of
electronic transmission, the place and the
period for shareholders to submit
proposals to be discussed at the meeting;
and the period for accepting such
proposals shall not be less than ten (10)
days.

Shareholder-submitted proposals are
limited to 300 words, and no proposal
containing more than 300 words will be
included in the meeting agenda. The
shareholder making the proposal shall be
present in person or by proxy at the
regular shareholders meeting and take
part in discussion of the proposal.

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of
a shareholders meeting, the Company
shall inform the shareholders who
submitted proposals of the proposal
screening results, and shall list in the
meeting notice the proposals that
conform to the provisions of this article.
At the shareholders meeting the board of
directors shall explain the reasons for
exclusion of any shareholder proposals
not included in the agenda.

containing more than one item will be
included in the meeting agenda.

Prior to the date on which share transfer
registration is suspended before the
convention of a regular shareholders’
meeting, the company shall give a public
notice announcing acceptance of
proposal in writing or by way of
electronic transmission, the place and the
period for shareholders to submit
proposals to be discussed at the meeting;
and the period for accepting such
proposals shall not be less than ten (10)
days.

Shareholder-submitted proposals are
limited to 300 words, and no proposal
containing more than 300 words will be
included in the meeting agenda. The
shareholder making the proposal shall be
present in person or by proxy at the
regular shareholders meeting and take
part in discussion of the proposal.

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of
a shareholders meeting, the Company
shall inform the shareholders who
submitted proposals of the proposal
screening results, and shall list in the
meeting notice the proposals that
conform to the provisions of this article.
At the shareholders meeting the board of
directors shall explain the reasons for
exclusion of any shareholder proposals
not included in the agenda.

Article 4

For each shareholders meeting, a
shareholder may appoint a proxy to
attend the meeting by providing the
proxy form issued by the Company and
stating the scope of the proxy’s
authorization.

A shareholder may issue only one proxy
form and appoint only one proxy for any
given shareholders meeting, and shall
deliver the proxy form to the Company

Article 4

For each shareholders meeting, a
shareholder may appoint a proxy to
attend the meeting by providing the
proxy form issued by the Company and
stating the scope of the proxy’s
authorization.

A shareholder may issue only one proxy
form and appoint only one proxy for any
given shareholders meeting, and shall
deliver the proxy form to the Company
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before 5 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate
proxy forms are delivered, the one
received earliest shall prevail unless a
declaration is made to cancel the
previous proxy appointment.

After a proxy form has been delivered to
the Company, if the shareholder intends
to attend the meeting in person or to
exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronically, a written notice of
proxy cancellation shall be submitted to
the Company before 2 business days
before the meeting date. If the
cancellation notice is submitted after that
time, votes cast at the meeting by the
proxy shall prevail.

If, after a proxy form is delivered to the

Company, a shareholder wishes to attend

the shareholders meeting online, a

written notice of proxy cancellation shall

be submitted to the Company two

business days before the meeting date. If

the cancellation notice is submitted after

that time, votes cast at the meeting by the

proxy shall prevail.

before 5 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate
proxy forms are delivered, the one
received earliest shall prevail unless a
declaration is made to cancel the
previous proxy appointment.

After a proxy form has been delivered to
the Company, if the shareholder intends
to attend the meeting in person or to
exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronically, a written notice of
proxy cancellation shall be submitted to
the Company before 2 business days
before the meeting date. If the
cancellation notice is submitted after that
time, votes cast at the meeting by the
proxy shall prevail.

Article 5

(Principles determining the time and
place of a shareholders meeting)

The venue for a shareholders meeting
shall be the premises of the Company, or
a place easily accessible to shareholders
and suitable for a shareholders meeting.
The meeting may begin no earlier than 9
a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full
consideration shall be given to the
opinions of the independent directors
with respect to the place and time of the
meeting.

The restrictions on the place of the

meeting shall not apply when the

Company convenes a virtual-only

shareholders meeting.

Article 5

(Principles determining the time and
place of a shareholders meeting)

The venue for a shareholders meeting
shall be the premises of the Company, or
a place easily accessible to shareholders
and suitable for a shareholders meeting.
The meeting may begin no earlier than 9
a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full
consideration shall be given to the
opinions of the independent directors
with respect to the place and time of the
meeting.

Article 6 (Preparation of documents such

Article 6 (Preparation of documents such
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as the attendance book)

The Company shall specify in its
shareholders meeting notices the time
during which attendance registrations for
shareholders, solicitors and proxies

(collectively "shareholders") will be

accepted, the place to register for
attendance, and other matters for
attention.

The time during which shareholder
attendance registrations will be accepted,
as stated in the preceding paragraph,
shall be at least 30 minutes prior to the
time the meeting commences. The place
at which attendance registrations are
accepted shall be clearly marked and a
sufficient number of suitable personnel
assigned to handle the registrations. For
virtual shareholders meetings,

shareholders may begin to register on the

virtual meeting platform 30 minutes

before the meeting starts. Shareholders

completing registration will be deemed

as attend the shareholders meeting in

person.
Shareholders shall attend shareholders

meetings based on attendance cards,
sign-in cards, or other certificates of
attendance. The Company may not
arbitrarily add requirements for other
documents beyond those showing
eligibility to attend presented by
shareholders. Solicitors soliciting proxy
forms shall also bring identification
documents for verification.

The Company shall furnish the attending
shareholders with an attendance book to
sign, or attending shareholders may hand
in a sign-in card in lieu of signing in.
The Company shall furnish attending
shareholders with the meeting agenda
book, annual report, attendance card,
speaker’s slips, voting slips, and other

as the attendance book)

The Company shall specify in its
shareholders meeting notices the time
during which shareholder attendance
registrations will be accepted, the place
to register for attendance, and other
matters for attention.

The time during which shareholder
attendance registrations will be accepted,
as stated in the preceding paragraph,
shall be at least 30 minutes prior to the
time the meeting commences. The place
at which attendance registrations are
accepted shall be clearly marked and a
sufficient number of suitable personnel
assigned to handle the registrations.

Shareholders and their proxies
(collectively, “shareholders”) shall attend

shareholders meetings based on
attendance cards, sign-in cards, or other
certificates of attendance. The Company
may not arbitrarily add requirements for
other documents beyond those showing
eligibility to attend presented by
shareholders. Solicitors soliciting proxy
forms shall also bring identification
documents for verification.

The Company shall furnish the attending
shareholders with an attendance book to
sign, or attending shareholders may hand
in a sign-in card in lieu of signing in.
The Company shall furnish attending
shareholders with the meeting agenda
book, annual report, attendance card,
speaker’s slips, voting slips, and other
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meeting materials. Where there is an
election of directors, pre-printed ballots
shall also be furnished.

When the government or a juristic person
is a shareholder, it may be represented by
more than one representative at a
shareholders meeting. When a juristic
person is appointed to attend as proxy, it
may designate only one person to
represent it in the meeting.

In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, shareholders wishing to attend

the meeting online shall register with the

Company two days before the meeting

date.
In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, the Company shall upload the

meeting agenda book, annual report and

other meeting materials to the virtual

meeting platform at least 30 minutes

before the meeting starts, and keep this

information disclosed until the end of the

meeting.

meeting materials. Where there is an
election of directors, pre-printed ballots
shall also be furnished.

When the government or a juristic person
is a shareholder, it may be represented by
more than one representative at a
shareholders meeting. When a juristic
person is appointed to attend as proxy, it
may designate only one person to
represent it in the meeting.

Article 6-1 (Convening virtual

shareholders meetings and particulars to

be included in shareholders meeting

notice)

To convene a virtual shareholders

meeting, the Company shall include the

follow particulars in the shareholders

meeting notice:
1.How shareholders attend the virtual

meeting and exercise their rights.
2.Actions to be taken if the virtual
meeting platform or participation in the

virtual meeting is obstructed due to
natural disasters, accidents or other
force majeure events, at least covering
the following particulars:

A.To what time the meeting is
postponed or from what time the
meeting will resume if the above
obstruction continues and cannot be

removed, and the date to which the
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meeting is postponed or on which
the meeting will resume.

B.Shareholders not having registered
to attend the affected virtual
shareholders meeting shall not
attend the postponed or resumed
session.

C.In case of a hybrid shareholders
meeting, when the virtual meeting
cannot be continued, if the total
number of shares represented at the
meeting, after deducting those
represented by shareholders
attending the virtual shareholders
meeting online, meets the minimum
legal requirement for a shareholder
meeting, then the shareholders
meeting shall continue. The shares
represented by shareholders
attending the virtual meeting online
shall be counted towards the total
number of shares represented by
shareholders present at the meeting,

and the shareholders attending the
virtual meeting online shall be
deemed abstaining from voting on
all proposals on meeting agenda of
that shareholders meeting.
D.Actions to be taken if the outcome
of all proposals have been
announced and extraordinary
motion has not been carried out.
3.To convene a virtual-only shareholders
meeting, appropriate alternative
measures available to shareholders with

difficulties in attending a virtual
shareholders meeting online shall be

specified.

Article 8 (Documentation of a
shareholders meeting by audio or video)
The Company, beginning from the time it
accepts shareholder attendance
registrations, shall make an uninterrupted
audio and video recording of the

Article 8 (Documentation of a
shareholders meeting by audio or video)
The Company, beginning from the time it
accepts shareholder attendance
registrations, shall make an uninterrupted
audio and video recording of the
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registration procedure, the proceedings of]
the shareholders meeting, and the voting
and vote counting procedures.

The recorded materials of the preceding
paragraph shall be retained for at least 1
year. If, however, a shareholder files a
lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the
Company Act, the recording shall be
retained until the conclusion of the
litigation.

Where a shareholders meeting is held

online, the Company shall keep records

of shareholder registration, sign-in,

check-in, questions raised, votes cast and

results of votes counted by the Company,

and continuously audio and video record,

without interruption, the proceedings of

the virtual meeting from beginning to
end.

The information and audio and video

recording in the preceding paragraph

shall be properly kept by the Company

during the entirety of its existence, and

copies of the audio and video recording

shall be provided to and kept by the party

appointed to handle matters of the virtual

meeting.
In case of a virtual shareholders meeting,

the Company is advised to audio and

video record the back-end operation

interface of the virtual meeting platform.

registration procedure, the proceedings of]
the shareholders meeting, and the voting
and vote counting procedures.

The recorded materials of the preceding
paragraph shall be retained for at least 1
year. If, however, a shareholder files a
lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the
Company Act, the recording shall be
retained until the conclusion of the
litigation.

Article 9

Attendance at shareholders meetings
shall be calculated based on numbers of
shares. The number of shares in
attendance shall be calculated according
to the shares indicated by the attendance
book and sign-in cards handed in, and the
shares checked in on the virtual meeting

platform, plus the number of shares
whose voting rights are exercised by
correspondence or electronically.

The chair shall call the meeting to order

at the appointed meeting time and

Article 9

Attendance at shareholders meetings
shall be calculated based on numbers of
shares. The number of shares in
attendance shall be calculated according
to the shares indicated by the attendance
book and sign-in cards handed in plus the
number of shares whose voting rights are
exercised by correspondence or
electronically.

The chair shall call the meeting to order
at the appointed meeting time and
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simultaneously announce relevant
information, such as total number of no
voting right shares and shares
represented by the shareholders present
at the meeting.

However, when the attending
shareholders do not represent a majority
of the total number of issued shares, the
chair may announce a postponement,
provided that no more than two such
postponements, for a combined total of
no more than one hour, may be made. If
the quorum is not met after two
postponements and the attending
shareholders still represent less than one
third of the total number of issued shares,
the chair shall declare the meeting
adjourned. In the event of a virtual
shareholders meeting, the Company shall

also declare the meeting adjourned at the

virtual meeting platform.

If the quorum is not met after two
postponements as referred to in the
preceding paragraph, but the attending
shareholders represent one third or more
of the total number of issued shares, a
tentative resolution may be adopted
pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of
the Company Act; all shareholders shall
be notified of the tentative resolution and
another shareholders meeting shall be

convened within 1 month. In the event of

a virtual shareholders meeting,

shareholders intending to attend the

meeting online shall re-register to the

Company in accordance with Article 6.

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting,
the attending shareholders represent a
majority of the total number of issued
shares, the chair may resubmit the
tentative resolution for a vote by the
shareholders meeting pursuant to Article
174 of the Company Act.

simultaneously announce relevant
information, such as total number of no
voting right shares and shares
represented by the shareholders present
at the meeting.

However, when the attending
shareholders do not represent a majority
of the total number of issued shares, the
chair may announce a postponement,
provided that no more than two such
postponements, for a combined total of
no more than one hour, may be made. If
the quorum is not met after two
postponements and the attending
shareholders still represent less than one
third of the total number of issued shares,
the chair shall declare the meeting
adjourned.

If the quorum is not met after two
postponements as referred to in the
preceding paragraph, but the attending
shareholders represent one third or more
of the total number of issued shares, a
tentative resolution may be adopted
pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of
the Company Act; all shareholders shall
be notified of the tentative resolution and
another shareholders meeting shall be
convened within 1 month.

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting,
the attending shareholders represent a
majority of the total number of issued
shares, the chair may resubmit the
tentative resolution for a vote by the
shareholders meeting pursuant to Article
174 of the Company Act.

Article 11 (Shareholder speech)

Article 11 (Shareholder speech)
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Before speaking, an attending
shareholder must specify on a speaker’s
slip the subject of the speech, his/her
shareholder account number (or
attendance card number), and account
name. The order in which shareholders
speak will be set by the chair.

A shareholder in attendance who has
submitted a speaker’s slip but does not
actually speak shall be deemed to have
not spoken. When the content of the
speech does not correspond to the subject
given on the speaker’s slip, the spoken
content shall prevail.

Except with the consent of the chair, a
shareholder may not speak more than
twice on the same proposal, and a single
speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the
shareholder’s speech violates the rules or
exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the
chair may terminate the speech.

When an attending shareholder is
speaking, other shareholders may not
speak or interrupt unless they have
sought and obtained the consent of the
chair and the shareholder that has the
floor; the chair shall stop any violation.
When a juristic person shareholder
appoints two or more representatives to
attend a sharcholders meeting, only one
of the representatives so appointed may
speak on the same proposal.

After an attending shareholder has
spoken, the chair may respond in person
or direct relevant personnel to respond.
Where a virtual shareholders meeting is

convened, shareholders attending the

virtual meeting online may raise

questions in writing at the virtual meeting

platform from the chair declaring the

meeting open until the chair declaring the

meeting adjourned. No more than two

questions for the same proposal may be

raised. Each question shall contain no

Before speaking, an attending
shareholder must specify on a speaker’s
slip the subject of the speech, his/her
shareholder account number (or
attendance card number), and account
name. The order in which shareholders
speak will be set by the chair.

A shareholder in attendance who has
submitted a speaker’s slip but does not
actually speak shall be deemed to have
not spoken. When the content of the
speech does not correspond to the subject
given on the speaker’s slip, the spoken
content shall prevail.

Except with the consent of the chair, a
shareholder may not speak more than
twice on the same proposal, and a single
speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the
shareholder’s speech violates the rules or
exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the
chair may terminate the speech.

When an attending shareholder is
speaking, other shareholders may not
speak or interrupt unless they have
sought and obtained the consent of the
chair and the shareholder that has the
floor; the chair shall stop any violation.
When a juristic person shareholder
appoints two or more representatives to
attend a shareholders meeting, only one
of the representatives so appointed may
speak on the same proposal.

After an attending shareholder has
spoken, the chair may respond in person
or direct relevant personnel to respond.
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more than 200 words. The regulations in

paragraphs 1 to 5 do not apply.

As long as questions so raised in

accordance with the preceding paragraph

are not in violation of the regulations or

beyond the scope of a proposal, it is

advisable the questions be disclosed to

the public at the virtual meeting platform.

Article 13

A shareholder shall be entitled to one
vote for each share held, except when the
shares are restricted shares or are deemed
non-voting shares under Article 179,
paragraph 2 of the Company Act.

When the Company holds a shareholders
meeting, it may allow the shareholders to
exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronic means (in accordance with
the proviso of Article 177-1 of the
Company Act regarding companies that
shall adopt electronic voting: When the
Company holds a shareholder meeting, it
shall adopt exercise of voting rights by
electronic means and may adopt exercise
of voting rights by correspondence).
When voting rights are exercised by
correspondence or electronic means, the
method of exercise shall be specified in
the shareholders meeting notice. A
shareholder exercising voting rights by
correspondence or electronic means will
be deemed to have attended the meeting
in person, but to have waived his/her
rights with respect to the extempore
motions and amendments to original
proposals of that meeting; it is therefore
advisable that the Company avoids the
submission of extempore motions and
amendments to original proposals.

A shareholder intending to exercise
voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means under the preceding
paragraph shall deliver a written
declaration of intent to the Company

Article 13

A shareholder shall be entitled to one
vote for each share held, except when the
shares are restricted shares or are deemed
non-voting shares under Article 179,
paragraph 2 of the Company Act.

When the Company holds a shareholders
meeting, it may allow the shareholders to
exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronic means (in accordance with
the proviso of Article 177-1 of the
Company Act regarding companies that
shall adopt electronic voting: When the
Company holds a shareholder meeting, it
shall adopt exercise of voting rights by
electronic means and may adopt exercise
of voting rights by correspondence).
When voting rights are exercised by
correspondence or electronic means, the
method of exercise shall be specified in
the shareholders meeting notice. A
shareholder exercising voting rights by
correspondence or electronic means will
be deemed to have attended the meeting
in person, but to have waived his/her
rights with respect to the extempore
motions and amendments to original
proposals of that meeting; it is therefore
advisable that the Company avoids the
submission of extempore motions and
amendments to original proposals.

A shareholder intending to exercise
voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means under the preceding
paragraph shall deliver a written
declaration of intent to the Company
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before 2 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate
declarations of intent are delivered, the
one received earliest shall prevail, except
when a declaration is made to cancel the
earlier declaration of intent.

After a shareholder has exercised voting
rights by correspondence or electronic
means, in the event the sharecholder
intends to attend the shareholders
meeting in person or online, a written
declaration of intent to retract the voting
rights already exercised under the
preceding paragraph shall be made
known to the Company, by the same
means by which the voting rights were
exercised, before 2 business days before
the date of the shareholders meeting. If
the notice of retraction is submitted after
that time, the voting rights already
exercised by correspondence or
electronic means shall prevail. When a
shareholder has exercised voting rights
both by correspondence or electronic
means and by appointing a proxy to
attend a shareholders meeting, the voting
rights exercised by the proxy in the
meeting shall prevail.

Except as otherwise provided in the
Company Act and in the Company’s
Articles of Association, the passage of a
proposal shall require an affirmative vote
of a majority of the voting rights
represented by the attending
shareholders. At the time of a vote, for
each proposal, the chair or a person
designated by the chair shall first
announce the total number of voting
rights represented by the attending
shareholders, followed by a poll of the
shareholders. After the conclusion of the
meeting, on the same day it is held, the
results for each proposal, based on the
numbers of votes for and against and the

before 2 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate
declarations of intent are delivered, the
one received earliest shall prevail, except
when a declaration is made to cancel the
earlier declaration of intent.

After a shareholder has exercised voting
rights by correspondence or electronic
means, in the event the shareholder
intends to attend the shareholders
meeting in person, a written declaration
of intent to retract the voting rights
already exercised under the preceding
paragraph shall be made known to the
Company, by the same means by which
the voting rights were exercised, before 2
business days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. If the notice of
retraction is submitted after that time, the
voting rights already exercised by
correspondence or electronic means shall
prevail. When a shareholder has
exercised voting rights both by
correspondence or electronic means and
by appointing a proxy to attend a
shareholders meeting, the voting rights
exercised by the proxy in the meeting
shall prevail.

Except as otherwise provided in the
Company Act and in the Company’s
Articles of Association, the passage of a
proposal shall require an affirmative vote
of a majority of the voting rights
represented by the attending
shareholders. At the time of a vote, for
each proposal, the chair or a person
designated by the chair shall first
announce the total number of voting
rights represented by the attending
shareholders, followed by a poll of the
shareholders. After the conclusion of the
meeting, on the same day it is held, the
results for each proposal, based on the
numbers of votes for and against and the
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number of abstentions, shall be entered
into the MOPS.

When there is an amendment or an
alternative to a proposal, the chair shall
present the amended or alternative
proposal together with the original
proposal and decide the order in which
they will be put to a vote. When any one
among them is passed, the other
proposals will then be deemed rejected,
and no further voting shall be required.
Vote monitoring and counting personnel
for the voting on a proposal shall be
appointed by the chair, provided that all
monitoring personnel shall be
shareholders of the Company.

Vote counting for shareholders meeting
proposals or elections shall be conducted
in public at the place of the shareholders
meeting. Immediately after vote counting
has been completed, the results of the
voting, including the statistical tallies of
the numbers of votes, shall be announced
on-site at the meeting, and a record made
of the vote.

When the Company convenes a virtual

shareholders meeting, after the chair

declares the meeting open, shareholders

attending the meeting online shall cast

votes on proposals and elections on the

virtual meeting platform before the chair

announces the voting session ends or will

be deemed abstained from voting.

In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, votes shall be counted at once

after the chair announces the voting

session ends, and results of votes and

elections shall be announced

immediately.
When the Company convenes a hybrid

shareholders meeting, if shareholders

who have registered to attend the meeting

online in accordance with Article 6

decide to attend the physical shareholders

number of abstentions, shall be entered
into the MOPS.

When there is an amendment or an
alternative to a proposal, the chair shall
present the amended or alternative
proposal together with the original
proposal and decide the order in which
they will be put to a vote. When any one
among them is passed, the other
proposals will then be deemed rejected,
and no further voting shall be required.
Vote monitoring and counting personnel
for the voting on a proposal shall be
appointed by the chair, provided that all
monitoring personnel shall be
shareholders of the Company.

Vote counting for shareholders meeting
proposals or elections shall be conducted
in public at the place of the shareholders
meeting. Immediately after vote counting
has been completed, the results of the
voting, including the statistical tallies of
the numbers of votes, shall be announced
on-site at the meeting, and a record made
of the vote.
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meeting in person, they shall revoke their

registration two days before the

shareholders meeting in the same manner

as they registered. If their registration is

not revoked within the time limit, they

may only attend the shareholders meeting

online.
When shareholders exercise voting rights

by correspondence or electronic means,

unless they have withdrawn the

declaration of intent and attended the

shareholders meeting online, except for

extraordinary motions, they will not

exercise voting rights on the original

proposals or make any amendments to

the original proposals or exercise voting

rights on amendments to the original

proposal.

Article 15

Matters relating to the resolutions of a
shareholders meeting shall be recorded in
the meeting minutes. The meeting
minutes shall be signed or sealed by the
chair of the meeting and a copy
distributed to each shareholder within 20
days after the conclusion of the meeting.
The meeting minutes may be produced
and distributed in electronic form.

The Company may distribute the meeting
minutes of the preceding paragraph by
means of a public announcement made
through the MOPS.

The meeting minutes shall accurately
record the year, month, day, and place of
the meeting, the chair’s full name, the
methods by which resolutions were
adopted, and a summary of the
deliberations and voting results including
the total number of calculation and the
total votes of every candidate shall be
revealed when there is a proposal of
director election. The meeting minutes
shall be retained for the duration of the
existence of the Company.

Article 15

Matters relating to the resolutions of a
shareholders meeting shall be recorded in
the meeting minutes. The meeting
minutes shall be signed or sealed by the
chair of the meeting and a copy
distributed to each shareholder within 20
days after the conclusion of the meeting.
The meeting minutes may be produced
and distributed in electronic form.

The Company may distribute the meeting
minutes of the preceding paragraph by
means of a public announcement made
through the MOPS.

The meeting minutes shall accurately
record the year, month, day, and place of
the meeting, the chair’s full name, the
methods by which resolutions were
adopted, and a summary of the
deliberations and voting results including
the total number of calculation and the
total votes of every candidate shall be
revealed when there is a proposal of
director election. The meeting minutes
shall be retained for the duration of the
existence of the Company.
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Where a virtual shareholders meeting is

convened, in addition to the particulars to

be included in the meeting minutes as

described in the preceding paragraph, the

start time and end time of the

shareholders meeting, how the meeting is

convened, the chair's and secretary's

name, and actions to be taken in the
event of disruption to the virtual meeting

platform or participation in the meeting

online due to natural disasters, accidents

or other force majeure events, and how

issues are dealt with shall also be

included in the minutes.

When convening a virtual-only

shareholder meeting, other than

compliance with the requirements in the

preceding paragraph, the Company shall

specify in the meeting minutes
alternative measures available to

shareholders with difficulties in attending

a virtual-only shareholders meeting

online.

Article 16 (Public disclosure)

On the day of a shareholders meeting, the
Company shall compile in the prescribed
format a statistical statement of the
number of shares obtained by solicitors
through solicitation, the number of shares
represented by proxies and the number of

shares represented by shareholders

attending the meeting by correspondence

or electronic means, and shall make an

express disclosure of the same at the
place of the shareholders meeting. In the
event a virtual shareholders meeting, the

Company shall upload the above meeting

materials to the virtual meeting platform

at least 30 minutes before the meeting

starts, and keep this information

disclosed until the end of the meeting.

During the Company’s virtual

shareholders meeting, when the meeting

is called to order, the total number of

Article 16 (Public disclosure)

On the day of a shareholders meeting, the
Company shall compile in the prescribed
format a statistical statement of the
number of shares obtained by solicitors
through solicitation and the number of
shares represented by proxies, and shall
make an express disclosure of the same
at the place of the shareholders meeting.
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shares represented at the meeting shall be

disclosed on the virtual meeting platform.

The same shall apply whenever the total

number of shares represented at the

meeting and a new tally of votes is

released during the meeting.

If matters put to a resolution at a
shareholders meeting constitute material
information under applicable laws or
regulations or under Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (or Taipei
Exchange) regulations, the Company
shall upload the content of such
resolution to the MOPS within the
prescribed time period.

If matters put to a resolution at a
shareholders meeting constitute material
information under applicable laws or
regulations or under Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (or Taipei
Exchange) regulations, the Company
shall upload the content of such
resolution to the MOPS within the
prescribed time period.

Article 19 (Disclosure of information at

virtual meetings)

In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, the Company shall disclose

real-time results of votes and election

immediately after the end of the voting
session on the virtual meeting platform

according to the regulations, and this

disclosure shall continue at least 15

minutes after the chair has announced the

meeting adjourned.

Article 20 (Location of the chair and

secretary of virtual-only shareholders

meeting)

When the Company convenes a

virtual-only shareholders meeting, both

the chair and secretary shall be in the

same location, and the chair shall declare

the address of their location when the

meeting is called to order.

Article 21 (Handling of disconnection)

In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, the Company may offer a

simple connection test to shareholders

prior to the meeting, and provide relevant

real-time services before and during the

meeting to help resolve communication

technical issues.
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In the event of a virtual shareholders

meeting, when declaring the meeting

open, the chair shall also declare, unless

under a circumstance where a meeting is

not required to be postponed to or

resumed at another time under Article

44-20, paragraph 4 of the Regulations

Governing the Administration of
Shareholder Services of Public

Companies, if the virtual meeting

platform or participation in the virtual

meeting is obstructed due to natural

disasters, accidents or other force

majeure events before the chair has

announced the meeting adjourned, and

the obstruction continues for more than

30 minutes, the meeting shall be

postponed to or resumed on another date

within five days, in which case Article

182 of the Company Act shall not apply.
For a meeting to be postponed or

resumed as described in the preceding

paragraph, shareholders who have not

registered to participate in the affected

shareholders meeting online shall not

attend the postponed or resumed session.

For a meeting to be postponed or

resumed under the second paragraph, the

number of shares represented by, and

voting rights and election rights

exercised by the shareholders who have

registered to participate in the affected

shareholders meeting and have

successfully signed in the meeting, but

do not attend the postpone or resumed

session, at the affected shareholders

meeting, shall be counted towards the

total number of shares, number of voting

rights and number of election rights

represented at the postponed or resumed

session.
During a postponed or resumed session

of a shareholders meeting held under the

second paragraph, no further discussion
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or resolution is required for proposals for

which votes have been cast and counted

and results have been announced, or list

of elected directors and supervisors.

When the Company convenes a hybrid

shareholders meeting, and the virtual

meeting cannot continue as described in

second paragraph, if the total number of

shares represented at the meeting, after

deducting those represented by

shareholders attending the virtual

shareholders meeting online, still meets

the minimum legal requirement for a
shareholder meeting, then the

shareholders meeting shall continue, and

not postponement or resumption thereof

under the second paragraph is required.

Under the circumstances where a

meeting should continue as in the

preceding paragraph, the shares

represented by shareholders attending the

virtual meeting online shall be counted

towards the total number of shares

represented by shareholders present at

the meeting, provided these shareholders

shall be deemed abstaining from voting
on all proposals on meeting agenda of

that shareholders meeting.

When postponing or resuming a meeting
according to the second paragraph, the

Company shall handle the preparatory

work based on the date of the original
shareholders meeting in accordance with

the requirements listed under Article

44-20, paragraph 7 of the Regulations

Governing the Administration of
Shareholder Services of Public

Companies.
For dates or period set forth under Article

12, second half, and Article 13,

paragraph 3 of Regulations Governing

the Use of Proxies for Attendance at

Shareholder Meetings of Public

Companies, and Article 44-5, paragraph
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2, Article 44-15, and Article 44-17,

paragraph 1 of the Regulations

Governing the Administration of
Shareholder Services of Public

Companies, the Company hall handle the

matter based on the date of the

shareholders meeting that is postponed or

resumed under the second paragraph.

Article 22 (Handling of digital divide)

When convening a virtual-only

shareholders meeting, the Company shall

provide appropriate alternative measures

available to shareholders with difficulties

in attending a virtual shareholders

meeting online.

Article 23 (amended)

These Rules, and any amendments
hereto, shall be implemented after

adoption by shareholders meetings.

Article 19 (amended)

These Rules, and any amendments
hereto, shall be implemented after
adoption by shareholders meetings.
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Capital Futures Corp.

The Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings (Draft)

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

To establish a strong governance system and sound supervisory
capabilities for the Company’s shareholders meetings, and to
strengthen management capabilities, these Rules are adopted
pursuant to Article 5 of the Corporate Governance Best-Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies.

The rules of procedures for the Company’s shareholders meetings,
except as otherwise provided by law, regulation, or the Articles of
Association, shall be as provided in these Rules.

(Convening shareholders meetings and shareholders meeting
notices)

Unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, the Company’s
shareholders meetings shall be convened by the board of directors.

Changes to how the Company convenes its sharcholders meeting
shall be resolved by the board of directors, and shall be made no

later than mailing of the shareholders meeting notice.

The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders
meeting notice and proxy forms, and the origins of and explanatory
materials relating to all proposals, including proposals for
ratification, matters for deliberation, or the election or dismissal of
directors, and upload them to the Market Observation Post System
(MOPS) before 30 days before the date of a regular shareholders
meeting or before 15 days before the date of a special shareholders
meeting. This Company shall prepare electronic versions of the
shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials
and upload them to the MOPS before 21 days before the date of the
regular shareholders meeting or before 15 days before the date of
the special shareholders meeting. However, in the case of the
Company with paid-in capital reaching NT$10 billion or more as of
the last day of the most recent fiscal year, or in which the aggregate
shareholding percentage of foreign investors and Mainland Chinese
investors reached 30% or more as recorded in the shareholders'
register at the time of holding of the regular shareholders’ meeting
in the most recent fiscal year, it shall upload the aforesaid electronic
file by 30 days prior to the day on which the regular shareholders'
meeting is to be held. In addition, before 15 days before the date of
the shareholders meeting, the Company shall also have prepared the
shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials
and made them available for review by shareholders at any time.
The meeting agenda and supplemental materials shall also be
displayed at the Company and the professional shareholder services
agent designated thereby.
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The Company shall make the meeting agenda and supplemental
meeting materials in the preceding paragraph available to
shareholders for review in the following manner on the date of the
shareholders meeting:
1.For physical sharecholders meetings, to be distributed on-site at the
meeting.
2.For hybrid shareholders meetings, to be distributed on-site at the
meeting and shared on the virtual meeting platform.
3.For virtual-only shareholders meetings, electronic files shall be
shared on the virtual meeting platform.
The reasons for convening a shareholders meeting shall be specified
in the meeting notice and public announcement. With the consent of
the addressee, the meeting notice may be given in electronic form.
Election or dismissal of directors, amendments to the Articles of
Association, reduction of capital, application for the approval of
ceasing its status as a public company, approval of competing with
the company by directors, surplus profit distributed in the form of
new shares, reserve distributed in the form of new shares, the
dissolution, merger, or demerger of the Company, or any matter
under Article 185, paragraph 1 of the Company Act, Articles 26-1
and 43-6 of the Securities Exchange Act, Articles 56-1 and 60-2 of
the Regulations Governing the Offering and Issuance of Securities
by Securities Issuers shall be set out and the essential contents
explained in the notice of the reasons for convening the
shareholders meeting. None of the above matters may be raised by
an extraordinary motion.
Re-electing whole directors and the date they will assume office are
specified in the reasons for convening a shareholders meeting, it
shall not be raised to alter the date they assume office by an
extempore motion or other methods in the meeting after the
re-election complete.
A shareholder holding one percent or more of the total number of
issued shares may submit to the Company a proposal for discussion
at a regular shareholders meeting. The number of items so proposed
is limited to one only, and no proposal containing more than one
item will be included in the meeting agenda. When the
circumstances of any subparagraph of Article 172-1, paragraph 4 of
the Company Act apply to a proposal put forward by a shareholder,
the board of directors may exclude it from the agenda. A
shareholder may propose a recommendation for urging the
Company to promote public interests or fulfill its social
responsibilities, provided procedurally the number of items so
proposed is limited only to one in accordance with Article 172-1 of
the Company Act, and no proposal containing more than one item
will be included in the meeting agenda.
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Article 4

Article 5

Prior to the date on which share transfer registration is suspended
before the convention of a regular shareholders’ meeting, the
company shall give a public notice announcing acceptance of
proposal in writing or by way of electronic transmission, the place
and the period for shareholders to submit proposals to be discussed
at the meeting; and the period for accepting such proposals shall not
be less than ten (10) days.

Shareholder-submitted proposals are limited to 300 words, and no
proposal containing more than 300 words will be included in the
meeting agenda. The shareholder making the proposal shall be
present in person or by proxy at the regular shareholders meeting
and take part in discussion of the proposal.

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of a shareholders meeting,
the Company shall inform the shareholders who submitted
proposals of the proposal screening results, and shall list in the
meeting notice the proposals that conform to the provisions of this
article. At the shareholders meeting the board of directors shall
explain the reasons for exclusion of any shareholder proposals not
included in the agenda.

For each shareholders meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy
to attend the meeting by providing the proxy form issued by the
Company and stating the scope of the proxy’s authorization.

A shareholder may issue only one proxy form and appoint only one
proxy for any given shareholders meeting, and shall deliver the
proxy form to the Company before 5 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate proxy forms are delivered,
the one received earliest shall prevail unless a declaration is made
to cancel the previous proxy appointment.

After a proxy form has been delivered to the Company, if the
shareholder intends to attend the meeting in person or to exercise
voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a written notice
of proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company before 2
business days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is
submitted after that time, votes cast at the meeting by the proxy
shall prevail.

If, after a proxy form is delivered to the Company, a shareholder
wishes to attend the shareholders meeting online, a written notice of
proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company two business
days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted
after that time, votes cast at the meeting by the proxy shall prevail.

(Principles determining the time and place of a shareholders
meeting)

The venue for a shareholders meeting shall be the premises of the
Company, or a place easily accessible to shareholders and suitable
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Article 6

for a shareholders meeting. The meeting may begin no earlier than
9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall be given to
the opinions of the independent directors with respect to the place
and time of the meeting.

The restrictions on the place of the meeting shall not apply when
the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders meeting.

(Preparation of documents such as the attendance book)

The Company shall specify in its shareholders meeting notices the
time during which attendance registrations for shareholders
solicitors and proxies (collectively "shareholders") will be accepted,
the place to register for attendance, and other matters for attention.
The time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be
accepted, as stated in the preceding paragraph, shall be at least 30
minutes prior to the time the meeting commences. The place at
which attendance registrations are accepted shall be clearly marked
and a sufficient number of suitable personnel assigned to handle the
registrations._For virtual shareholders meetings, shareholders may
begin to register on the virtual meeting platform 30 minutes before
the meeting starts. Shareholders completing registration will be
deemed as attend the shareholders meeting in person.

Shareholders shall attend shareholders meetings based on
attendance cards, sign-in cards, or other certificates of attendance.
The Company may not arbitrarily add requirements for other
documents beyond those showing eligibility to attend presented by
shareholders. Solicitors soliciting proxy forms shall also bring
identification documents for verification.

The Company shall furnish the attending shareholders with an
attendance book to sign, or attending shareholders may hand in a
sign-in card in lieu of signing in.

The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the meeting
agenda book, annual report, attendance card, speaker’s slips, voting
slips, and other meeting materials. Where there is an election of
directors, pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished.

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be
represented by more than one representative at a shareholders
meeting. When a juristic person is appointed to attend as proxy, it
may designate only one person to represent it in the meeting.

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, shareholders wishing
to attend the meeting online shall register with the Company two
days before the meeting date.

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company shall
upload the meeting agenda book, annual report and other meeting
materials to the virtual meeting platform at least 30 minutes before
the meeting starts, and keep this information disclosed until the end
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of the meeting.

Article 6-1 (Convening virtual shareholders meetings and particulars to be

Article 7

included in shareholders meeting notice)

To convene a virtual sharecholders meeting, the Company shall

include the follow particulars in the shareholders meeting notice:

1.How shareholders attend the virtual meeting and exercise their
rights.

2.Actions to be taken if the virtual meeting platform or participation
in the virtual meeting is obstructed due to natural disasters,
accidents or other force majeure events, at least covering the
following particulars:

A.To what time the meeting is postponed or from what time the
meeting will resume if the above obstruction continues and
cannot be removed, and the date to which the meeting is
postponed or on which the meeting will resume.

B.Shareholders not having registered to attend the affected
virtual shareholders meeting shall not attend the postponed or
resumed session.

C.In case of a hybrid shareholders meeting, when the virtual
meeting cannot be continued, if the total number of shares
represented at the meeting, after deducting those represented
by shareholders attending the virtual shareholders meeting
online, meets the minimum legal requirement for a
shareholder meeting, then the shareholders meeting shall
continue. The shares represented by shareholders attending
the virtual meeting online shall be counted towards the total
number of shares represented by shareholders present at the
meeting, and the shareholders attending the virtual meeting
online shall be deemed abstaining from voting on all
proposals on meeting agenda of that shareholders meeting.

D.Actions to be taken if the outcome of all proposals have been
announced and extraordinary motion has not been carried out.

3.To convene a virtual-only shareholders meeting, appropriate
alternative measures available to shareholders with difficulties in
attending a virtual shareholders meeting online shall be specified.

(The chair and non-voting participants of a shareholders meeting)
If a shareholders meeting is convened by the board of directors, the
meeting shall be chaired by the chairperson of the board. When the
chairperson of the board is on leave or for any reason unable to
exercise the powers of the chairperson, the vice chairperson shall
act in place of the chairperson; if there is no vice chairperson or the
vice chairperson also is on leave or for any reason unable to
exercise the powers of the vice chairperson, the chairperson shall
appoint one of the managing directors to act as chair, or, if there are
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Article 8

no managing directors, one of the directors shall be appointed to act
as chair. Where the chairperson does not make such a designation,
the managing directors or the directors shall select from among
themselves one person to serve as chair.

When a managing director or a director serves as chair, as referred
to in the preceding paragraph, the managing director or director
shall be one who has held that position for six months or more and
who understands the financial and business conditions of the
company. The same shall be true for a representative of a juristic
person director that serves as chair.

It is advisable that shareholders meetings convened by the board of
directors be chaired by the chairperson of the board in person and
attended by a majority of the directors, at least one independent
director in person, and at least one member of each functional
committee on behalf of the committee. The attendance shall be
recorded in the meeting minutes.

If a shareholders meeting is convened by a party with power to
convene but other than the board of directors, the convening party
shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more such convening
parties, they shall mutually select a chair from among themselves.
The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public
accountants, or related persons retained by it to attend a
shareholders meeting in a non-voting capacity.

(Documentation of a shareholders meeting by audio or video)

The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder
attendance registrations, shall make an uninterrupted audio and
video recording of the registration procedure, the proceedings of the
shareholders meeting, and the voting and vote counting procedures.
The recorded materials of the preceding paragraph shall be retained
for at least 1 year. If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant
to Article 189 of the Company Act, the recording shall be retained
until the conclusion of the litigation.

Where a shareholders meeting is held online, the Company shall
keep records of shareholder registration, sign-in, check-in,
questions raised, votes cast and results of votes counted by the
Company, and continuously audio and video record, without
interruption, the proceedings of the virtual meeting from beginning
to end.

The information and audio and video recording in the preceding
paragraph shall be properly kept by the Company during the
entirety of its existence, and copies of the audio and video recording
shall be provided to and kept by the party appointed to handle
matters of the virtual meeting.

In case of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company is advised
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Article 9

Article 10

to audio and video record the back-end operation interface of the
virtual meeting platform.

Attendance at shareholders meetings shall be calculated based on
numbers of shares. The number of shares in attendance shall be
calculated according to the shares indicated by the attendance book
and sign-in cards handed in, and the shares checked in on the virtual
meeting platform, plus the number of shares whose voting rights are
exercised by correspondence or electronically.

The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting
time and simultaneously announce relevant information, such as
total number of no voting right shares and shares represented by the
shareholders present at the meeting.

However, when the attending shareholders do not represent a
majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair may
announce a postponement, provided that no more than two such
postponements, for a combined total of no more than one hour, may
be made. If the quorum is not met after two postponements and the
attending shareholders still represent less than one third of the total
number of issued shares, the chair shall declare the meeting
adjourned._In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, the
Company shall also declare the meeting adjourned at the virtual
meeting platform.

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in
the preceding paragraph, but the attending shareholders represent
one third or more of the total number of issued shares, a tentative
resolution may be adopted pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of
the Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative
resolution and another shareholders meeting shall be convened
within 1 month._In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting,
shareholders intending to attend the meeting online shall re-register
to the Company in accordance with Article 6.

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending
shareholders represent a majority of the total number of issued
shares, the chair may resubmit the tentative resolution for a vote by
the shareholders meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company
Act.

(Discussion of proposals)

If a shareholders meeting is convened by the board of directors, the
meeting agenda shall be set by the board of directors, the relevant
proposals, including extempore motions, and amendments shall be
voted case by case. The meeting shall proceed in the order set by
the agenda, which may not be changed without a resolution of the
shareholders meeting.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis
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Article 11

to a shareholders meeting convened by a party with the power to
convene that is not the board of directors.

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to
completion of deliberation on the meeting agenda of the preceding
two paragraphs (including extempore motions), except by a
resolution of the shareholders meeting. If the chair declares the
meeting adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other
members of the board of directors shall promptly assist the
attending shareholders in electing a new chair in accordance with
statutory procedures, by agreement of a majority of the votes
represented by the attending shareholders, and then continue the
meeting.

The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for
explanation and discussion of proposals and of amendments or
extempore motions put forward by the shareholders; when the chair
is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed sufficiently to
put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed, call
for a vote and arrange appropriate time for voting.

(Shareholder speech)

Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a
speaker’s slip the subject of the speech, his/her shareholder account
number (or attendance card number), and account name. The order
in which shareholders speak will be set by the chair.

A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker’s slip but
does not actually speak shall be deemed to have not spoken. When
the content of the speech does not correspond to the subject given
on the speaker’s slip, the spoken content shall prevail.

Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak
more than twice on the same proposal, and a single speech may not
exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder’s speech violates the rules or
exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the chair may terminate the
speech.

When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may
not speak or interrupt unless they have sought and obtained the
consent of the chair and the shareholder that has the floor; the chair
shall stop any violation.

When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more
representatives to attend a shareholders meeting, only one of the
representatives so appointed may speak on the same proposal.
After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in
person or direct relevant personnel to respond.

Where a virtual shareholders meeting is convened, shareholders
attending the virtual meeting online may raise questions in writing
at the virtual meeting platform from the chair declaring the meeting
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Article 12

Article 13

open until the chair declaring the meeting adjourned. No more than
two questions for the same proposal may be raised. Each question
shall contain no more than 200 words. The regulations in
paragraphs 1 to 5 do not apply.

As long as questions so raised in accordance with the preceding
paragraph are not in violation of the regulations or beyond the
scope of a proposal, it is advisable the questions be disclosed to the
public at the virtual meeting platform.

(Calculation of voting shares and recusal system)

Voting at a shareholders meeting shall be calculated based the
number of shares.

With respect to resolutions of shareholders meetings, the number of
shares held by a shareholder with no voting rights shall not be
calculated as part of the total number of issued shares.

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda
item, and there is the likelihood that such a relationship would
prejudice the interests of the Company, that shareholder may not
vote on that item, and may not exercise voting rights as proxy for
any other shareholder.

The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised
under the preceding paragraph shall not be calculated as part of the
voting rights represented by attending shareholders.

With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services
agent approved by the competent securities authority, when one
person is concurrently appointed as proxy by two or more
shareholders, the voting rights represented by that proxy may not
exceed 3 percent of the voting rights represented by the total
number of issued shares. If that percentage is exceeded, the voting
rights in excess of that percentage shall not be included in the
calculation.

A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held,
except when the shares are restricted shares or are deemed
non-voting shares under Article 179, paragraph 2 of the Company
Act.

When the Company holds a shareholders meeting, it may allow the
shareholders to exercise voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means (in accordance with the proviso of Article 177-1 of
the Company Act regarding companies that shall adopt electronic
voting: When the Company holds a shareholder meeting, it shall
adopt exercise of voting rights by electronic means and may adopt
exercise of voting rights by correspondence). When voting rights
are exercised by correspondence or electronic means, the method of
exercise shall be specified in the shareholders meeting notice. A
shareholder exercising voting rights by correspondence or
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electronic means will be deemed to have attended the meeting in
person, but to have waived his/her rights with respect to the
extempore motions and amendments to original proposals of that
meeting; it is therefore advisable that the Company avoids the
submission of extempore motions and amendments to original
proposals.

A shareholder intending to exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronic means under the preceding paragraph shall deliver a
written declaration of intent to the Company before 2 days before
the date of the shareholders meeting. When duplicate declarations
of intent are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail, except
when a declaration is made to cancel the earlier declaration of
intent.

After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by correspondence
or electronic means, in the event the shareholder intends to attend
the shareholders meeting in person_or online, a written declaration
of intent to retract the voting rights already exercised under the
preceding paragraph shall be made known to the Company, by the
same means by which the voting rights were exercised, before 2
business days before the date of the shareholders meeting. If the
notice of retraction is submitted after that time, the voting rights
already exercised by correspondence or electronic means shall
prevail. When a shareholder has exercised voting rights both by
correspondence or electronic means and by appointing a proxy to
attend a sharcholders meeting, the voting rights exercised by the
proxy in the meeting shall prevail.

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the
Company’s Articles of Association, the passage of a proposal shall
require an affirmative vote of a majority of the voting rights
represented by the attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for
each proposal, the chair or a person designated by the chair shall
first announce the total number of voting rights represented by the
attending shareholders, followed by a poll of the shareholders. After
the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is held, the results
for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and against
and the number of abstentions, shall be entered into the MOPS.
When there is an amendment or an alternative to a proposal, the
chair shall present the amended or alternative proposal together
with the original proposal and decide the order in which they will
be put to a vote. When any one among them is passed, the other
proposals will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall
be required.

Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a
proposal shall be appointed by the chair, provided that all
monitoring personnel shall be shareholders of the Company.
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Article 14

Article 15

Vote counting for shareholders meeting proposals or elections shall
be conducted in public at the place of the shareholders meeting.
Immediately after vote counting has been completed, the results of
the voting, including the statistical tallies of the numbers of votes,
shall be announced on-site at the meeting, and a record made of the
vote.

When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders meeting, after
the chair declares the meeting open, shareholders attending the
meeting online shall cast votes on proposals and elections on the
virtual meeting platform before the chair announces the voting
session ends or will be deemed abstained from voting.

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, votes shall be
counted at once after the chair announces the voting session ends,
and results of votes and elections shall be announced immediately.
When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders meeting, if
shareholders who have registered to attend the meeting online in
accordance with Article 6 decide to attend the physical shareholders

meeting in person, they shall revoke their registration two days
before the shareholders meeting in the same manner as they
registered. If their registration is not revoked within the time limit,
they may only attend the shareholders meeting online.

When shareholders exercise voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means, unless they have withdrawn the declaration of
intent and attended the shareholders meeting online, except for
extraordinary motions, they will not exercise voting rights on the
original proposals or make any amendments to the original
proposals or exercise voting rights on amendments to the original
proposal.

(Election matters)

The election of directors at a shareholders meeting shall be held in
accordance with the applicable election and appointment rules
adopted by the Company, and the voting results shall be announced
on-site immediately, including the names of those elected as
directors and the numbers of votes with which they were elected,
and the rest of candidates and the numbers of votes with which they
received.

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph
shall be sealed with the signatures of the monitoring personnel and
kept in proper custody for at least 1 year. If, however, a shareholder
files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the
ballots shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation.

Matters relating to the resolutions of a shareholders meeting shall
be recorded in the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall be
signed or sealed by the chair of the meeting and a copy distributed
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Article 16

to each shareholder within 20 days after the conclusion of the
meeting. The meeting minutes may be produced and distributed in
electronic form.

The Company may distribute the meeting minutes of the preceding
paragraph by means of a public announcement made through the
MOPS.

The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, day,
and place of the meeting, the chair’s full name, the methods by
which resolutions were adopted, and a summary of the deliberations
and voting results including the total number of calculation and the
total votes of every candidate shall be revealed when there is a
proposal of director election. The meeting minutes shall be retained
for the duration of the existence of the Company.

Where a virtual sharecholders meeting is convened, in addition to the
particulars to be included in the meeting minutes as described in the
preceding paragraph, the start time and end time of the shareholders
meeting, how the meeting is convened, the chair's and secretary's
name, and actions to be taken in the event of disruption to the
virtual meeting platform or participation in the meeting online due
to natural disasters, accidents or other force majeure events, and
how issues are dealt with shall also be included in the minutes.
When convening a virtual-only shareholder meeting, other than
compliance with the requirements in the preceding paragraph, the
Company shall specify in the meeting minutes alternative measures
available to shareholders with difficulties in attending a virtual-only
shareholders meeting online.

(Public disclosure)

On the day of a shareholders meeting, the Company shall compile
in the prescribed format a statistical statement of the number of
shares obtained by solicitors through solicitation, the number of
shares represented by proxies and the number of shares represented
by shareholders attending the meeting by correspondence or
electronic means, and shall make an express disclosure of the same
at the place of the shareholders meeting. In the event a virtual
shareholders meeting, the Company shall upload the above meeting
materials to the virtual meeting platform at least 30 minutes before
the meeting starts, and keep this information disclosed until the end
of the meeting.

During the Company’s virtual shareholders meeting, when the
meeting is called to order, the total number of shares represented at
the meeting shall be disclosed on the virtual meeting platform. The
same shall apply whenever the total number of shares represented at
the meeting and a new tally of votes is released during the meeting.
If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders meeting constitute
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Article 17

Article 18

Article 19

Article 20

material information under applicable laws or regulations or under
Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (or Taipei Exchange)
regulations, the Company shall upload the content of such
resolution to the MOPS within the prescribed time period.

(Maintaining order at the meeting place)

Staff handling administrative affairs of a shareholders meeting shall
wear identification cards or arm bands.

The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help
maintain order at the meeting place. When proctors or security
personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear
an identification card or armband bearing the word “Proctor.”

At the place of a shareholders meeting, if a shareholder attempts to
speak through any device other than the public address equipment
set up by the Company, the chair may prevent the shareholder from
so doing.

When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the
chair’s correction, obstructing the proceedings and refusing to heed
calls to stop, the chair may direct the proctors or security personnel
to escort the shareholder from the meeting.

(Recess and resumption of a shareholders meeting)

When a meeting is in progress, the chair may announce a break
based on time considerations. If a force majeure event occurs, the
chair may rule the meeting temporarily suspended and announce a
time when, in view of the circumstances, the meeting will be
resumed.

If the meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and
not all of the items (including extempore motions) on the meeting
agenda have been addressed, the shareholders meeting may adopt a
resolution to resume the meeting at another venue.

A resolution may be adopted at a shareholders meeting to defer or
resume the meeting within 5 days in accordance with Article 182 of
the Company Act.

(Disclosure of information at virtual meetings)

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company shall
disclose real-time results of votes and election immediately after the
end of the voting session on the virtual meeting platform according
to the regulations, and this disclosure shall continue at least 15
minutes after the chair has announced the meeting adjourned.

(Location of the chair and secretary of virtual-only shareholders

meeting)

When the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders meeting,
both the chair and secretary shall be in the same location, and the
chair shall declare the address of their location when the meeting is
called to order.
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Article 21

(Handling of disconnection)

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company may
offer a simple connection test to shareholders prior to the meeting,
and provide relevant real-time services before and during the
meeting to help resolve communication technical issues.

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, when declaring the
meeting open, the chair shall also declare, unless under a
circumstance where a meeting is not required to be postponed to or
resumed at another time under Article 44-20, paragraph 4 of the
Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services
of Public Companies, if the virtual meeting platform or
participation in the virtual meeting is obstructed due to natural
disasters, accidents or other force majeure events before the chair
has announced the meeting adjourned, and the obstruction

continues for more than 30 minutes, the meeting shall be postponed
to or resumed on another date within five days, in which case

Article 182 of the Company Act shall not apply.

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed as described in the
preceding paragraph, shareholders who have not registered to
participate in the affected shareholders meeting online shall not
attend the postponed or resumed session.

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed under the second
paragraph, the number of shares represented by, and voting rights
and election rights exercised by the shareholders who have
registered to participate in the affected shareholders meeting and
have successfully signed in the meeting, but do not attend the
postpone or resumed session, at the affected shareholders meeting,
shall be counted towards the total number of shares, number of
voting rights and number of election rights represented at the
postponed or resumed session.

During a postponed or resumed session of a shareholders meeting
held under the second paragraph, no further discussion or resolution
is required for proposals for which votes have been cast and
counted and results have been announced, or list of elected directors
and supervisors.

When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders meeting, and
the virtual meeting cannot continue as described in second
paragraph, if the total number of shares represented at the meeting,
after deducting those represented by shareholders attending the
virtual shareholders meeting online, still meets the minimum legal
requirement for a shareholder meeting, then the shareholders
meeting shall continue, and not postponement or resumption thereof
under the second paragraph is required.

Under the circumstances where a meeting should continue as in the
preceding paragraph, the shares represented by shareholders
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Article 22

attending the virtual meeting online shall be counted towards the
total number of shares represented by sharcholders present at the
meeting, provided these shareholders shall be deemed abstaining
from voting on all proposals on meeting agenda of that shareholders
meeting.

When postponing or resuming a meeting according to the second
paragraph, the Company shall handle the preparatory work based on

the date of the original shareholders meeting in accordance with the
requirements listed under Article 44-20, paragraph 7 of the
Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services
of Public Companies.

For dates or period set forth under Article 12, second half, and
Article 13, paragraph 3 of Regulations Governing the Use of
Proxies for Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public
Companies, and Article 44-5, paragraph 2, Article 44-15, and
Article 44-17, paragraph 1 of the Regulations Governing the
Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies, the
Company hall handle the matter based on the date of the
shareholders meeting that is postponed or resumed under the second
paragraph.

(Handling of digital divide)

Article 23

When convening a virtual-only shareholders meeting, the Company
shall provide appropriate alternative measures available to
shareholders with difficulties in attending a virtual shareholders
meeting online.

These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented

after adoption by shareholders meetings.
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Attachment 9

Capital Futures Corp.
Comparison table for the Procedures for the Acquisition and
Disposal of Assets Before and After Amendment

After the Amendment

Before the Amendment

Article 4

Professional appraisers and their officers,

certified public accounts, attorneys, and

securities underwriters that provide the

Company with appraisal reports, certified

public accountant's opinions, attorney's

opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall

meet the following requirements:

1.May not have previously received a
final and unappealable sentence to
imprisonment for 1 year or longer for a
violation of the Securities and
Exchange Act, the Company Act, the
Banking Act of The Republic of China,
the Insurance Act, the Financial
Holding Company Act, or the Business
Entity Accounting Act, or for fraud,
breach of trust, embezzlement, forgery
of documents, or occupational crime.
However, this provision does not apply
if 3 years have already passed since
completion of service of the sentence,
since expiration of the period of a
suspended sentence, or since a pardon
was received.

2.May not be a related party or de facto
related party of any party to the
transaction.

3.If the company is required to obtain
appraisal reports from two or more
professional appraisers, the different
professional appraisers or appraisal
officers may not be related parties or de
facto related parties of each other.

When issuing an appraisal report or

opinion, the personnel referred to in the

preceding paragraph shall comply with

Article 4

Professional appraisers and their officers,

certified public accounts, attorneys, and

securities underwriters that provide the

Company with appraisal reports, certified

public accountant's opinions, attorney's

opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall

meet the following requirements:

1.May not have previously received a
final and unappealable sentence to
imprisonment for 1 year or longer for a
violation of the Securities and
Exchange Act, the Company Act, the
Banking Act of The Republic of China,
the Insurance Act, the Financial
Holding Company Act, or the Business
Entity Accounting Act, or for fraud,
breach of trust, embezzlement, forgery
of documents, or occupational crime.
However, this provision does not apply
if 3 years have already passed since
completion of service of the sentence,
since expiration of the period of a
suspended sentence, or since a pardon
was received.

2.May not be a related party or de facto
related party of any party to the
transaction.

3.If the company is required to obtain
appraisal reports from two or more
professional appraisers, the different
professional appraisers or appraisal
officers may not be related parties or de
facto related parties of each other.

When issuing an appraisal report or

opinion, the personnel referred to in the

preceding paragraph shall comply with
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the self-regulatory rules by each relevant

industry associations and the following:

1.Prior to accepting a case, they shall
prudently assess their own professional
capabilities, practical experience, and
independence.

2.When executing a case, they shall
appropriately plan and execute
adequate working procedures, in order
to produce a conclusion and use the
conclusion as the basis for issuing the
report or opinion. The related working
procedures, data collected, and
conclusion shall be fully and accurately
specified in the case working papers.

3.They shall undertake an item-by-item
evaluation of the appropriateness and
reasonableness of the sources of data
used, the parameters, and the
information, as the basis for issuance of
the appraisal report or the opinion.

4.They shall issue a statement attesting to
the professional competence and
independence of the personnel who
prepared the report or opinion, and that
they have evaluated and found that the
information used is_appropriate and
reasonable, and that they have
complied with applicable laws and
regulations.

the following:

1.Prior to accepting a case, they shall
prudently assess their own professional
capabilities, practical experience, and
independence.

2.When examining a case, they shall
appropriately plan and execute
adequate working procedures, in order
to produce a conclusion and use the
conclusion as the basis for issuing the
report or opinion. The related working
procedures, data collected, and
conclusion shall be fully and accurately
specified in the case working papers.

3.They shall undertake an item-by-item
evaluation of the comprehensiveness,
accuracy, and reasonableness of the
sources of data used, the parameters,
and the information, as the basis for
issuance of the appraisal report or the
opinion.

4.They shall issue a statement attesting to
the professional competence and
independence of the personnel who
prepared the report or opinion, and that
they have evaluated and found that the
information used is reasonable and
accurate, and that they have complied
with applicable laws and regulations.

Article 7

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

real property, equipment, or right-of-use

assets thereof are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof of the Company shall be
handled in accordance with the
property and equipment cycle in the
Company’s internal control and the
Company’s general expenditure
approval authority table.

Article 7

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

real property, equipment, or right-of-use

assets thereof are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof of the Company shall be
handled in accordance with the
property and equipment cycle in the
Company’s internal control and the
Company’s general expenditure
approval authority table.
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2.The decision making process of terms
and conditions of transaction and
authorized amount are as follows.

A.The acquisition or disposal of real
property or right-of-use assets
thereof shall refer to the publicly
announced current value, appraised
value and actual transaction price of
the neighboring real property or
closely the right-of-use assets, etc.,
to decide on the terms and
conditions of transaction and
transaction price and make these
into an analysis report; it shall be
handled in accordance with the
authorized amount and the
applicable level in the Company’s
general expenditure approval
authority table.

B.The acquisition or disposal of other
equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof shall be proceeded by
methods of price inquiry, price
comparison or bid invitation; it
shall be handled in accordance with
the authorized amount and the
applicable level in the Company’s
general expenditure approval
authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof by the Company shall be
approved in accordance with the
authorization of approval in the
preceding paragraph and implemented
by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof where the transaction
amount reaches 20% of the company's
paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, except for transacting with a
domestic government agency, engaging

others to build on its own land,

2.The decision making process of terms
and conditions of transaction and
authorized amount are as follows.

A.The acquisition or disposal of real
property or right-of-use assets
thereof shall refer to the publicly
announced current value, appraised
value and actual transaction price of]
the neighboring real property or
closely the right-of-use assets, etc.,
to decide on the terms and
conditions of transaction and
transaction price and make these
into an analysis report; it shall be
handled in accordance with the
authorized amount and the
applicable level in the Company’s
general expenditure approval
authority table.

B.The acquisition or disposal of other
equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof shall be proceeded by
methods of price inquiry, price
comparison or bid invitation; it
shall be handled in accordance with
the authorized amount and the
applicable level in the Company’s
general expenditure approval
authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof by the Company shall be
approved in accordance with the
authorization of approval in the
preceding paragraph and implemented
by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of real
property, equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof where the transaction
amount reaches 20% of the company's
paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, except for transacting with a
domestic government agency, engaging
others to build on its own land,
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engaging others to build on rented land,
or acquiring or disposing of business
equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof, the Company shall obtain an
appraisal report prior to the date of
occurrence of the event from a
professional appraiser and shall further
comply with the following provisions:

A.Due to special circumstances that it
is necessary to give a limited price,
specified price, or special price as a
reference basis for the transaction
price, the transaction shall be
submitted for approval in advance
by the board of directors, and the
same procedure shall be followed
for any future changes to the terms
and conditions of the transaction.

B.For transaction amount of NT$1
billion or more, the appraisals from
two or more professional appraisers
are required.

C.In the event any of the following
circumstances applies with respect
to the professional appraiser’s
appraisal results, unless all the
appraisal results for the assets to be
acquired are higher than the
transaction amount, or all the
appraisal results for the assets to be
disposed of are lower than the
transaction amount, a certified
public accountant(CPA) shall be
engaged to and render a specific
opinion regarding the reason for the
discrepancy and the appropriateness
of the transaction price:

(a)The discrepancy between the

engaging others to build on rented land,
or acquiring or disposing of business
equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof, the Company shall obtain an
appraisal report prior to the date of
occurrence of the event from a
professional appraiser and shall further
comply with the following provisions:

A.Due to special circumstances that it
is necessary to give a limited price,
specified price, or special price as a
reference basis for the transaction
price, the transaction shall be
submitted for approval in advance
by the board of directors, and the
same procedure shall be followed
for any future changes to the terms
and conditions of the transaction.

B.For transaction amount of NT$1
billion or more, the appraisals from
two or more professional appraisers
are required.

C.In the event any of the following
circumstances applies with respect
to the professional appraiser’s
appraisal results, unless all the
appraisal results for the assets to be
acquired are higher than the
transaction amount, or all the
appraisal results for the assets to be
disposed of are lower than the
transaction amount, a certified
public accountant(CPA) shall be
engaged to perform the appraisal in
accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Auditing Standards
No. 20 published by the ROC
Accounting Research and
Development Foundation (ARDF)
and render a specific opinion
regarding the reason for the
discrepancy and the appropriateness
of the transaction price:

(a)The discrepancy between the
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appraisal result and the
transaction amount is 20 % or
more of the transaction amount.
(b)The discrepancy between the
appraisal results of two or more
professional appraisers is 10% or
more of the transaction amount.
D.No more than 3 months may elapse
between the date of the appraisal
report issued by a professional
appraiser and the contract execution
date; provided, where the publicly
announced current value for the
same period is used and not more
than 6 months have elapsed, an
opinion may still be issued by the
original professional appraiser.

appraisal result and the
transaction amount is 20 % or
more of the transaction amount.
(b)The discrepancy between the
appraisal results of two or more
professional appraisers is 10% or
more of the transaction amount.
D.No more than 3 months may elapse
between the date of the appraisal
report issued by a professional
appraiser and the contract execution
date; provided, where the publicly
announced current value for the
same period is used and not more
than 6 months have elapsed, an
opinion may still be issued by the
original professional appraiser.

Article 8

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

securities are as follows.

1.The purchase and sale of securities
thereof of the Company shall be
handled in accordance with the
investment cycle in the Company’s
internal control and the Company’s
general expenditure approval authority
table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of securities
thereof by the Company shall collect
and assess their business and financial
information by the organizer; it shall be
handled in accordance with the
authorized amount and the applicable
level in the Company’s general
expenditure approval authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of
securities thereof by the Company shall
be approved in accordance with the
authorization of approval in the
preceding paragraph and implemented
by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of securities

by the Company shall, prior to the date

Article 8

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

securities are as follows.

1.The purchase and sale of securities
thereof of the Company shall be
handled in accordance with the
investment cycle in the Company’s
internal control and the Company’s
general expenditure approval authority
table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of securities
thereof by the Company shall collect
and assess their business and financial
information by the organizer; it shall be
handled in accordance with the
authorized amount and the applicable
level in the Company’s general
expenditure approval authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of
securities thereof by the Company shall
be approved in accordance with the
authorization of approval in the
preceding paragraph and implemented
by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of securities
by the Company shall, prior to the date
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of occurrence of the event, obtain
financial statements of the issuing
company for the most recent period,
certified or reviewed by a CPA, for
reference in appraising the transaction
price, and if the dollar amount of the
transaction is 20% of the company's
paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, the company shall additionally
engage a CPA prior to the date of
occurrence of the event to provide an
opinion regarding the reasonableness of]|
the transaction price. This requirement
does not apply, however, to publicly
quoted prices of securities that have an
active market, or where otherwise
provided by regulations of the FSC.

of occurrence of the event, obtain
financial statements of the issuing
company for the most recent period,
certified or reviewed by a CPA, for
reference in appraising the transaction
price, and if the dollar amount of the
transaction is 20% of the company's
paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, the company shall additionally
engage a CPA prior to the date of
occurrence of the event to provide an
opinion regarding the reasonableness of]
the transaction price. If the CPA needs
to use the report of an expert as
evidence, the CPA shall do so in
accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Auditing Standards No.
20 published by the ARDF. This
requirement does not apply, however,
to publicly quoted prices of securities
that have an active market, or where
otherwise provided by regulations of
the FSC.

Article 9

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

intangible assets or right-of-use assets

thereof or memberships are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall be handled in
accordance with the property and
equipment cycle in the Company’s
internal control and the Company’s
general expenditure approval authority
table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall refer to the fair market
value or the professional appraisal
report in deciding the terms and

conditions of the transaction and

Article 9

The procedures for assessment and

operation in acquiring or disposing of

intangible assets or right-of-use assets

thereof or memberships are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall be handled in
accordance with the property and
equipment cycle in the Company’s
internal control and the Company’s
general expenditure approval authority
table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall refer to the fair market
value or the professional appraisal
report in deciding the terms and
conditions of the transaction and

- 103 -



transaction price and make these into
an analysis report; it shall be handled in
accordance with the authorized amount
and the applicable level in the
Company’s general expenditure
approval authority table.
3.The acquisition and disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall be approved in
accordance with the authorization of
approval in the preceding paragraph
and implemented by the authorized
unit.
The Company acquires or disposes of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships and the
transaction amount reaches 20% or more
of paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, except in transactions with a
domestic government agency, the
company shall engage a CPA prior to the
date of occurrence of the event to render
an opinion on the reasonableness of the
transaction price.

transaction price and make these into
an analysis report; it shall be handled in
accordance with the authorized amount
and the applicable level in the
Company’s general expenditure
approval authority table.
3.The acquisition and disposal of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships of the
Company shall be approved in
accordance with the authorization of
approval in the preceding paragraph
and implemented by the authorized
unit.
The Company acquires or disposes of
intangible assets or right-of-use assets
thereof or memberships and the
transaction amount reaches 20% or more
of paid-in capital or NT$300 million or
more, except in transactions with a
domestic government agency, the
company shall engage a CPA prior to the
date of occurrence of the event to render
an opinion on the reasonableness of the
transaction price; the CPA shall comply
with the provisions of Statement of

Auditing Standards No. 20 published by

the ARDF.

Article 13

When the Company intends to acquire or
dispose of real property or right-of-use
assets thereof from or to a related party,
or when it intends to acquire or dispose
of assets other than real property or
right-of-use assets thereof from or to a
related party and the transaction amount
reaches 20% or more of paid-in capital,
10% or more of the company's total
assets, or NT$300 million or more,
except in trading of domestic government
bonds or bonds under repurchase and
resale agreements, or subscription or
redemption of money market funds
issued by domestic securities investment

Article 13

When the Company intends to acquire or
dispose of real property or right-of-use
assets thereof from or to a related party,
or when it intends to acquire or dispose
of assets other than real property or
right-of-use assets thereof from or to a
related party and the transaction amount
reaches 20% or more of paid-in capital,
10% or more of the company's total
assets, or NT$300 million or more,
except in trading of domestic government
bonds or bonds under repurchase and
resale agreements, or subscription or
redemption of money market funds
issued by domestic securities investment
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trust enterprises, the company may not

proceed to enter into a transaction

contract or make a payment until the

following matters have been first

approved by one-half or more of all audit

committee members and then submitted

to the board of directors for a resolution:

1.The purpose, necessity and anticipated
benefit of the acquisition or disposal of
assets.

2.The reason for choosing the related
party as a transaction counterparty.

3.With respect to the acquisition of real
property or right-of-use assets thereof
from a related party, information
regarding appraisal of the
reasonableness of the preliminary
transaction terms in accordance with
Article 14 and Article 15.

4.The date and price at which the related
party originally acquired the real
property, the original transaction
counterparty, and that transaction
counterparty's relationship to the
company and the related party.

5.Monthly cash flow forecasts for the
year commencing from the anticipated
month of signing of the contract, and
evaluation of the necessity of the
transaction, and reasonableness of the
funds utilization.

6.An appraisal report from a professional
appraiser or a CPA's opinion obtained
in compliance with the preceding
article.

7.Restrictive covenants and other
important stipulations associated with
the transaction.

trust enterprises, the company may not

proceed to enter into a transaction

contract or make a payment until the

following matters have been first

approved by one-half or more of all audit

committee members and then submitted

to the board of directors for a resolution:

1.The purpose, necessity and anticipated
benefit of the acquisition or disposal of
assets.

2.The reason for choosing the related
party as a transaction counterparty.

3.With respect to the acquisition of real
property or right-of-use assets thereof
from a related party, information
regarding appraisal of the
reasonableness of the preliminary
transaction terms in accordance with
Article 14 and Article 15.

4.The date and price at which the related
party originally acquired the real
property, the original transaction
counterparty, and that transaction
counterparty's relationship to the
company and the related party.

5.Monthly cash flow forecasts for the
year commencing from the anticipated
month of signing of the contract, and
evaluation of the necessity of the
transaction, and reasonableness of the
funds utilization.

6.An appraisal report from a professional
appraiser or a CPA's opinion obtained
in compliance with the preceding
article.

7.Restrictive covenants and other
important stipulations associated with
the transaction.

The calculation of the transaction

amounts referred to in the preceding

paragraph shall be made in accordance

with Article 27, paragraph 2 herein, and

"within the preceding year" as used

herein refers to the year preceding the
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With respect to the types of transactions
listed below, when to be conducted
between the Company and its parent or
subsidiaries, or between its subsidiaries
in which it directly or indirectly holds
100% of the issued shares or authorized
capital, the company's board of directors
may delegate the board chairman to
decide such matters when the transaction
is within a certain amount and have the
decisions subsequently submitted to and
ratified by the next board of directors
meeting:
1.Acquisition or disposal of equipment or
right-of-use assets thereof held for
business use.
2.Acquisition or disposal of real property
right-of-use assets held for business
use.
When a matter is submitted for
discussion by the board of directors
pursuant to paragraph 1, the board of
directors shall take into full consideration
each independent director's opinions. If
an independent director objects to or
expresses reservations about any matter,
it shall be recorded in the minutes of the
board of directors meeting.
When a matter shall be approved by
one-half or more of all audit committee
members pursuant to paragraph 1, and
then submitted to the board of directors
for a resolution, and shall be subject to
mutatis mutandis application of Article 5,
paragraphs 3 and 4.
The Company or the Company's

subsidiary that is not itself a public

date of occurrence of the current

transaction. Items that have been first be

approved by one-half or more of all audit

committee members and then submitted

to the board of directors for a resolution

need not be counted toward the

transaction amount.

With respect to the types of transactions
listed below, when to be conducted
between the Company and its parent or
subsidiaries, or between its subsidiaries
in which it directly or indirectly holds
100% of the issued shares or authorized
capital, the company's board of directors
may delegate the board chairman to
decide such matters when the transaction
is within a certain amount and have the
decisions subsequently submitted to and
ratified by the next board of directors
meeting:
1.Acquisition or disposal of equipment or
right-of-use assets thereof held for
business use.
2.Acquisition or disposal of real property
right-of-use assets held for business
use.
When a matter is submitted for
discussion by the board of directors
pursuant to paragraph 1, the board of
directors shall take into full consideration
each independent director's opinions. If
an independent director objects to or
expresses reservations about any matter,
it shall be recorded in the minutes of the
board of directors meeting.
When a matter shall be approved by
one-half or more of all audit committee
members pursuant to paragraph 1, and
then submitted to the board of directors
for a resolution, and shall be subject to
mutatis mutandis application of Article 5,
paragraphs 3 and 4.
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company in Taiwan has transactions in

paragraph 1, if the transaction amount

reaches 10% or more of the Company's

total assets, the Company may not

proceed to enter into a transaction

contract or make a payment until submit

the matters set out in each subparagraphs

of the paragraph 1 to a shareholders'

meeting for approval; provided, this shall

not apply to the transactions by the

Company with its parent or subsidiaries,

or by its subsidiaries.

The calculation of the transaction

amounts referred to in paragraph 1 and

the preceding paragraph shall be made in

accordance with Article 27, paragraph 2

herein, and "within the preceding year"

as used herein refers to the year

preceding the date of occurrence of the

current transaction. Items that have been

submitted to a shareholders' meeting,

first be approved by one-half or more of

all audit committee members and then

submitted to the board of directors for a

resolution need not be counted toward

the transaction amount.

Article 27
Under any of the following
circumstances, the Company acquiring or
disposing of assets shall publicly
announce and report on the FSC's
designated website in the appropriate
format as prescribed by regulations
within 2 days counting inclusively from
the date of occurrence of the event:
1.Acquisition or disposal of real property
or right-of-use assets thereof from or to
a related party, or acquisition or
disposal of assets other than real
property or right-of-use assets thereof
from or to a related party where the
transaction amount reaches 20% or
more of paid-in capital, 10% or more of|
the company's total assets, or NT$300

Article 27
Under any of the following
circumstances, the Company acquiring or
disposing of assets shall publicly
announce and report on the FSC's
designated website in the appropriate
format as prescribed by regulations
within 2 days counting inclusively from
the date of occurrence of the event:
1.Acquisition or disposal of real property
or right-of-use assets thereof from or to
a related party, or acquisition or
disposal of assets other than real
property or right-of-use assets thereof
from or to a related party where the
transaction amount reaches 20% or
more of paid-in capital, 10% or more of]
the company's total assets, or NT$300
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million or more; provided, this shall not
apply to trading of domestic
government bonds or bonds under
repurchase and resale agreements, or
subscription or redemption of money
market funds issued by domestic
securities investment trust enterprises.

2.Merger, demerger, acquisition, or
transfer of shares.

3.Losses from derivatives trading
reaching the limits on aggregate losses
or losses on individual contracts set out
in the procedures adopted by the
company.

4. Where equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof for business use are acquired or
disposed of, and furthermore the
transaction counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction amount meets
any of the following criteria:

A.For a company whose paid-in
capital is less than NT$10 billion,
the transaction amount reaches
NT$500 million or more.

B.For a company whose paid-in
capital is NT$10 billion or more,
the transaction amount reaches
NT$1 billion or more.

5.Where land is acquired under an
arrangement on engaging others to
build on the company's own land,
engaging others to build on rented land,
joint construction and allocation of
housing units, joint construction and
allocation of ownership percentages, or
joint construction and separate sale,
and furthermore the transaction
counterparty is not a related party, and
the amount the company expects to
invest in the transaction reaches
NT$500 million.

6.Where an asset transaction other than
any of those referred to in the
preceding five subparagraphs, a

million or more; provided, this shall not
apply to trading of domestic
government bonds or bonds under
repurchase and resale agreements, or
subscription or redemption of money
market funds issued by domestic
securities investment trust enterprises.

2.Merger, demerger, acquisition, or
transfer of shares.

3.Losses from derivatives trading
reaching the limits on aggregate losses
or losses on individual contracts set out
in the procedures adopted by the
company.

4.Where equipment or right-of-use assets
thereof for business use are acquired or
disposed of, and furthermore the
transaction counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction amount meets
any of the following criteria:

A.For a company whose paid-in
capital is less than NT$10 billion,
the transaction amount reaches
NT$500 million or more.

B.For a company whose paid-in
capital is NT$10 billion or more,
the transaction amount reaches
NT$1 billion or more.

5.Where land is acquired under an
arrangement on engaging others to
build on the company's own land,
engaging others to build on rented land,
joint construction and allocation of
housing units, joint construction and
allocation of ownership percentages, or
joint construction and separate sale,
and furthermore the transaction
counterparty is not a related party, and
the amount the company expects to
invest in the transaction reaches
NT$500 million.

6.Where an asset transaction other than
any of those referred to in the
preceding five subparagraphs, a
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disposal of receivables by a financial
institution, or an investment in the
mainland China area reaches 20% or
more of paid-in capital or NT$300
million; provided, this shall not apply
to the following circumstances:
A.Trading of domestic government
bonds or foreign government bond,
which sovereign credit rating is no
less than the Republic of China.
B.Where done by professional
investors-securities trading on
securities exchanges or OTC
markets, or subscription of foreign
government bond, ordinary
corporate bonds, or general bank
debentures without equity
characteristics (excluding
subordinated debt) that are offered
and issued in the primary market, or
subscription or redemption of
securities investment trust funds or
futures trust funds, or subscription
or sellback of exchange traded note,
or subscription by a securities firm
of securities as necessitated by its
undertaking business or as an
advisory recommending securities
firm for an emerging stock
company, in accordance with the
rules of the Taipei Exchange.
C.Trading of bonds under repurchase
and resale agreements, or
subscription or redemption of
money market funds issued by
domestic securities investment trust
enterprises.

(The rest are omitted)

disposal of receivables by a financial

institution, or an investment in the

mainland China area reaches 20% or

more of paid-in capital or NT$300

million; provided, this shall not apply

to the following circumstances:
A.Trading of domestic government

bonds.

B.Where done by professional
investors-securities trading on
securities exchanges or OTC
markets, or subscription of ordinary
corporate bonds or general bank
debentures without equity
characteristics (excluding
subordinated debt) that are offered
and issued in the primary market, or
subscription or redemption of
securities investment trust funds or
futures trust funds, or subscription
by a securities firm of securities as
necessitated by its undertaking
business or as an advisory
recommending securities firm for
an emerging stock company, in
accordance with the rules of the
Taipei Exchange.

C.Trading of bonds under repurchase
and resale agreements, or
subscription or redemption of
money market funds issued by
domestic securities investment trust
enterprises.

(The rest are omitted)
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Capital Futures Corp.

Procedures for the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets (Draft)

Chapter I General Principles

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

The Company shall handle the acquisition or disposal of assets in

compliance with Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal

of Assets by Public Companies, enacted by the Financial Supervisory

Commission (FSC), and these Procedures; provided, where financial

laws or regulations provide otherwise, such provisions shall govern.

The term "assets" as used in these Procedures includes the following:

1.Investments in stocks, government bonds, corporate bonds,
financial bonds, securities representing interest in a fund, depositary
receipts, call (put) warrants, beneficial interest securities, and
asset-backed securities (collectively the “securities”).

2.Real property (including land, houses and buildings, investment
property, and construction enterprise inventory) and equipment.

3.Memberships.

4.Patents, copyrights, trademarks, franchise rights, and other
intangible assets.

5.Right-of-use assets.

6.Claims of financial institutions (including receivables, bills
purchased and discounted, loans, and overdue receivables).

7.Derivatives.

8.Assets acquired or disposed of in connection with mergers,
demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of shares in accordance with
law.

9.0ther major assets.

Terms used in these Procedures are defined as follows:

1.Derivatives: Forward contracts, options contracts, futures contracts,
leverage contracts, or swap contracts, whose value is derived from a
specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price,
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit

index, or other variable; or hybrid contracts combining the above
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contracts; or hybrid contracts or structured products containing
embedded derivatives. The term "forward contracts" does not
include insurance contracts, performance contracts, after-sales
service contracts, long-term leasing contracts, or long-term
purchase (sales) contracts.

2.Assets acquired or disposed through mergers, demergers,
acquisitions, or transfer of shares in accordance with law: Refers to
assets acquired or disposed through mergers, demergers, or
acquisitions conducted under the Business Mergers and
Acquisitions Act, Financial Holding Company Act, Financial
Institution Merger Act and other acts, or to transfer of shares from
another company through issuance of new shares of its own as the
consideration therefor (hereinafter "transfer of shares") under
Article 156-3 of the Company Act.

3.Related party or subsidiary: As defined in the Regulations
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities
Issuers.

4 Professional appraiser: Refers to a real property appraiser or other
person duly authorized by law to engage in the value appraisal of
real property or equipment.

5.Date of occurrence: Refers to the date of contract signing, date of
payment, date of consignment trade, date of transfer, dates of
boards of directors resolutions, or other date that can confirm the
counterpart and monetary amount of the transaction, whichever date
is earlier; provided, for investment for which approval of the
competent authority is required, the earlier of the above date or the
date of receipt of approval by the competent authority shall apply.

6.Mainland China area investment: Refers to investments in the
mainland China area approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs
Investment Commission or conducted in accordance with the
provisions of the Regulations Governing Permission for Investment

or Technical Cooperation in the Mainland Area.
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Article 4

7.Investment professional: Refers to financial holding companies,
banks, insurance companies, bill finance companies, trust
enterprises, securities firms operating proprietary trading or
underwriting business, futures commission merchants operating
proprietary trading business, securities investment trust enterprises,
securities investment consulting enterprises, and fund management
companies, that are lawfully incorporated and are regulated by the
competent financial authorities of the jurisdiction where they are
located.

8.Securities exchange: "Domestic securities exchange" refers to the
Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation; "foreign securities exchange"
refers to any organized securities exchange market that is regulated
by the competent securities authorities of the jurisdiction where it is
located.

9.0ver-the-counter venue ("OTC venue", "OTC"): "Domestic OTC
venue" refers to a venue for OTC trading provided by a securities
firm in accordance with the Regulations Governing Securities
Trading on the Taipei Exchange; "foreign OTC venue" refers to a
venue at a financial institution that is regulated by the foreign
competent authority and that is permitted to conduct securities
business.

Professional appraisers and their officers, certified public accounts,

attorneys, and securities underwriters that provide the Company with

appraisal reports, certified public accountant's opinions, attorney's

opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall meet the following

requirements:

1.May not have previously received a final and unappealable sentence
to imprisonment for 1 year or longer for a violation of the Securities
and Exchange Act, the Company Act, the Banking Act of The
Republic of China, the Insurance Act, the Financial Holding
Company Act, or the Business Entity Accounting Act, or for fraud,

breach of trust, embezzlement, forgery of documents, or
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occupational crime. However, this provision does not apply if 3
years have already passed since completion of service of the
sentence, since expiration of the period of a suspended sentence, or
since a pardon was received.

2.May not be a related party or de facto related party of any party to
the transaction.

3.If the company is required to obtain appraisal reports from two or
more professional appraisers, the different professional appraisers
or appraisal officers may not be related parties or de facto related
parties of each other.

When issuing an appraisal report or opinion, the personnel referred to

in the preceding paragraph shall comply with the self-regulatory rules

by each relevant industry associations and the following:

1.Prior to accepting a case, they shall prudently assess their own
professional capabilities, practical experience, and independence.

2.When executing a case, they shall appropriately plan and execute
adequate working procedures, in order to produce a conclusion and
use the conclusion as the basis for issuing the report or opinion. The
related working procedures, data collected, and conclusion shall be
fully and accurately specified in the case working papers.

3.They shall undertake an item-by-item evaluation of the
appropriateness and reasonableness of the sources of data used, the
parameters, and the information, as the basis for issuance of the
appraisal report or the opinion.

4.They shall issue a statement attesting to the professional
competence and independence of the personnel who prepared the
report or opinion, and that they have evaluated and found that the
information used is appropriate and reasonable, and that they have
complied with applicable laws and regulations.

Chapter II Disposition Procedures
Section I Establishment of Disposition Procedures

Article 5 The Company establish the procedures for the acquisition or disposal
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Article 6

of assets shall be approved by one-half or more of all audit committee
members and submitted to the board of directors for a resolution;
after the procedures have been approved by the board of directors,
they shall be submitted to a shareholders' meeting for approval; the
same applies when the procedures are amended. If any director
expresses dissent and it is contained in the minutes or a written
statement, the company shall submit the director's dissenting opinion
to the audit committee.

When the procedures for the acquisition and disposal of assets are
submitted for discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the
preceding paragraph, the board of directors shall take into full
consideration each independent director's opinions. If an independent
director objects to or expresses reservations about any matter, it shall
be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting.

If approval of one-half or more of all audit committee members as
required in paragraph 1 is not obtained, the procedures may be
implemented if approved by two-thirds or more of all directors, and
the resolution of the audit committee shall be recorded in the minutes
of the board of directors meeting.

The terms "all audit committee members" in paragraph 1 and "all
directors" in the preceding paragraph shall be counted as the actual
number of persons currently holding those positions.

With respect to the Company's acquisition or disposal of assets that is
subject to the approval of the board of directors under these
Procedures or other laws or regulations, if a director expresses dissent
and it is contained in the minutes or a written statement, the company
shall submit the director's dissenting opinion to the audit committee.
When a transaction involving the acquisition or disposal of assets is
submitted for discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the
preceding paragraph, the board of directors shall take into full
consideration each independent director's opinions. If an independent

director objects to or expresses reservations about any matter, it shall
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Article 7

be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting.

Any transaction involving major assets or derivatives shall be

approved by more than half of all audit committee members and

submitted to the board of directors for a resolution, and shall be

subject to mutatis mutandis application of Article 5, paragraphs 3 and

4.

Section II Acquisition or Disposal of Assets

The procedures for assessment and operation in acquiring or

disposing of real property, equipment, or right-of-use assets thereof

are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of real property, equipment or
right-of-use assets thereof of the Company shall be handled in
accordance with the property and equipment cycle in the
Company’s internal control and the Company’s general expenditure
approval authority table.

2.The decision making process of terms and conditions of transaction
and authorized amount are as follows.

A.The acquisition or disposal of real property or right-of-use
assets thereof shall refer to the publicly announced current
value, appraised value and actual transaction price of the
neighboring real property or closely the right-of-use assets, etc.,
to decide on the terms and conditions of transaction and
transaction price and make these into an analysis report; it shall
be handled in accordance with the authorized amount and the
applicable level in the Company’s general expenditure approval
authority table.

B.The acquisition or disposal of other equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof shall be proceeded by methods of price inquiry,
price comparison or bid invitation; it shall be handled in
accordance with the authorized amount and the applicable level
in the Company’s general expenditure approval authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of real property, equipment or
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right-of-use assets thereof by the Company shall be approved in
accordance with the authorization of approval in the preceding
paragraph and implemented by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of real property, equipment or
right-of-use assets thereof where the transaction amount reaches
20% of the company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or more,
except for transacting with a domestic government agency,
engaging others to build on its own land, engaging others to build
on rented land, or acquiring or disposing of business equipment or
right-of-use assets thereof, the Company shall obtain an appraisal
report prior to the date of occurrence of the event from a
professional appraiser and shall further comply with the following
provisions:

A.Due to special circumstances that it is necessary to give a
limited price, specified price, or special price as a reference
basis for the transaction price, the transaction shall be submitted
for approval in advance by the board of directors, and the same
procedure shall be followed for any future changes to the terms
and conditions of the transaction.

B.For transaction amount of NT$1 billion or more, the appraisals
from two or more professional appraisers are required.

C.In the event any of the following circumstances applies with
respect to the professional appraiser’s appraisal results, unless
all the appraisal results for the assets to be acquired are higher
than the transaction amount, or all the appraisal results for the
assets to be disposed of are lower than the transaction amount, a
certified public accountant(CPA) shall be engaged to and render
a specific opinion regarding the reason for the discrepancy and
the appropriateness of the transaction price:

(a)The discrepancy between the appraisal result and the
transaction amount is 20 % or more of the transaction

amount.

- 116 -



Article 8

Article 9

(b)The discrepancy between the appraisal results of two or
more professional appraisers is 10% or more of the
transaction amount.

D.No more than 3 months may elapse between the date of the
appraisal report issued by a professional appraiser and the
contract execution date; provided, where the publicly
announced current value for the same period is used and not
more than 6 months have elapsed, an opinion may still be issued
by the original professional appraiser.

The procedures for assessment and operation in acquiring or

disposing of securities are as follows.

1.The purchase and sale of securities thereof of the Company shall be
handled in accordance with the investment cycle in the Company’s
internal control and the Company’s general expenditure approval
authority table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of securities thereof by the Company
shall collect and assess their business and financial information by
the organizer; it shall be handled in accordance with the authorized
amount and the applicable level in the Company’s general
expenditure approval authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of securities thereof by the Company
shall be approved in accordance with the authorization of approval
in the preceding paragraph and implemented by the authorized unit.

4.The acquisition or disposal of securities by the Company shall,
prior to the date of occurrence of the event, obtain financial
statements of the issuing company for the most recent period,
certified or reviewed by a CPA, for reference in appraising the
transaction price, and if the dollar amount of the transaction is 20%
of the company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or more, the
company shall additionally engage a CPA prior to the date of
occurrence of the event to provide an opinion regarding the
reasonableness of the transaction price. This requirement does not
apply, however, to publicly quoted prices of securities that have an
active market, or where otherwise provided by regulations of the
FSC.

The procedures for assessment and operation in acquiring or
disposing of intangible assets or right-of-use assets thereof or
memberships are as follows.

1.The acquisition or disposal of intangible assets or right-of-use
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Article 10

Article 11

Article 12

assets thereof or memberships of the Company shall be handled in
accordance with the property and equipment cycle in the
Company’s internal control and the Company’s general expenditure

approval authority table.

2.The acquisition or disposal of intangible assets or right-of-use
assets thereof or memberships of the Company shall refer to the fair
market value or the professional appraisal report in deciding the
terms and conditions of the transaction and transaction price and
make these into an analysis report; it shall be handled in accordance
with the authorized amount and the applicable level in the
Company’s general expenditure approval authority table.

3.The acquisition and disposal of intangible assets or right-of-use
assets thereof or memberships of the Company shall be approved in
accordance with the authorization of approval in the preceding
paragraph and implemented by the authorized unit.

4.The Company acquires or disposes of intangible assets or
right-of-use assets thereof or memberships and the transaction
amount reaches 20% or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 million
or more, except in transactions with a domestic government agency,
the company shall engage a CPA prior to the date of occurrence of
the event to render an opinion on the reasonableness of the
transaction price.

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in the

preceding three articles shall be done in accordance with Article 27,

paragraph 2 herein, and "within the preceding year" as used herein

refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current

transaction. Items for which an appraisal report from a professional

appraiser or a CPA's opinion has been obtained under these

Procedures need not be counted toward the transaction amount.

The Company acquires or disposes of assets through court auction

procedures, the evidentiary documentation issued by the court may be

substituted for the appraisal report or CPA opinion.

Section III Related Party Transactions

The Company engages in any acquisition or disposal of assets from
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Article 13

or to a related party, in addition to ensuring that the necessary
resolutions are adopted and the reasonableness of the transaction
terms is appraised, if the transaction amount reaches 10% or more of
the company's total assets, the company shall also obtain an appraisal
report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion in compliance
with the provisions of the preceding Section and this Section.
The calculation of the transaction amount referred to in the preceding
paragraph shall be made in accordance with Article 10 herein.
When judging whether a transaction counterparty is a related party, in
addition to legal formalities, the substance of the relationship shall
also be considered.
When the Company intends to acquire or dispose of real property or
right-of-use assets thereof from or to a related party, or when it
intends to acquire or dispose of assets other than real property or
right-of-use assets thereof from or to a related party and the
transaction amount reaches 20% or more of paid-in capital, 10% or
more of the company's total assets, or NT$300 million or more,
except in trading of domestic government bonds or bonds under
repurchase and resale agreements, or subscription or redemption of
money market funds issued by domestic securities investment trust
enterprises, the company may not proceed to enter into a transaction
contract or make a payment until the following matters have been
first approved by one-half or more of all audit committee members
and then submitted to the board of directors for a resolution:
1.The purpose, necessity and anticipated benefit of the acquisition or
disposal of assets.
2.The reason for choosing the related party as a transaction
counterparty.
3.With respect to the acquisition of real property or right-of-use assets
thereof from a related party, information regarding appraisal of the
reasonableness of the preliminary transaction terms in accordance
with Article 14 and Article 15.
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4.The date and price at which the related party originally acquired the
real property, the original transaction counterparty, and that
transaction counterparty's relationship to the company and the
related party.

5.Monthly cash flow forecasts for the year commencing from the
anticipated month of signing of the contract, and evaluation of the
necessity of the transaction, and reasonableness of the funds
utilization.

6.An appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's
opinion obtained in compliance with the preceding article.

7 Restrictive covenants and other important stipulations associated
with the transaction.

With respect to the types of transactions listed below, when to be

conducted between the Company and its parent or subsidiaries, or

between its subsidiaries in which it directly or indirectly holds 100%

of the issued shares or authorized capital, the company's board of

directors may delegate the board chairman to decide such matters

when the transaction is within a certain amount and have the

decisions subsequently submitted to and ratified by the next board of

directors meeting:

1.Acquisition or disposal of equipment or right-of-use assets thereof
held for business use.

2.Acquisition or disposal of real property right-of-use assets held for
business use.

When a matter is submitted for discussion by the board of directors

pursuant to paragraph 1, the board of directors shall take into full

consideration each independent director's opinions. If an independent

director objects to or expresses reservations about any matter, it shall

be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting.

When a matter shall be approved by one-half or more of all audit

committee members pursuant to paragraph 1, and then submitted to

the board of directors for a resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis
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Article 14

mutandis application of Article 5, paragraphs 3 and 4.
The Company or the Company's subsidiary that is not itself a public

company in Taiwan has transactions in paragraph 1, if the transaction

amount reaches 10% or more of the Company's total assets, the

Company may not proceed to enter into a transaction contract or

make a payment until submit the matters set out in each

subparagraphs of the paragraph 1 to a shareholders' meeting for

approval; provided, this shall not apply to the transactions by the

Company with its parent or subsidiaries, or by its subsidiaries.

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in paragraph 1

and the preceding paragraph shall be made in accordance with Article

27, paragraph 2 herein, and "within the preceding year" as used

herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the

current transaction. Items that have been submitted to a shareholders'

meeting, first be approved by one-half or more of all audit committee

members and then submitted to the board of directors for a resolution

need not be counted toward the transaction amount.

The Company that acquires real property or right-of-use assets

thereof from a related party shall evaluate the reasonableness of the

transaction costs by the following means:

1.Based upon the related party's transaction price plus necessary
interest on funding and the costs to be duly borne by the buyer.
"Necessary interest on funding" is imputed as the weighted average
interest rate on borrowing in the year the company purchases the
property; provided, it may not be higher than the maximum
non-financial industry lending rate announced by the Ministry of
Finance.

2.Total loan value appraisal from a financial institution where the
related party has previously created a mortgage on the property as
security for a loan; provided, the actual cumulative amount loaned
by the financial institution shall have been 70% or more of the

financial institution's appraised loan value of the property and the
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Article 15

period of the loan shall have been 1 year or more. However, this
shall not apply where the financial institution is a related party of
one of the transaction counterparties.

Where land and structures thereupon are combined as a single

property purchased or leased in one transaction, the transaction costs

for the land and the structures may be separately appraised in

accordance with either of the means listed in the preceding paragraph.

The Company that acquires real property or right-of-use assets

thereof from a related party and appraises the cost of the real property

or right-of-use assets thereof in accordance with the preceding two

paragraphs shall also engage a CPA to check the appraisal and render

a specific opinion.

The Company acquires real property or right-of-use assets thereof

from a related party and one of the following circumstances exists,

the acquisition shall be conducted in accordance with the preceding

article, and the preceding three paragraphs do not apply:

1.The related party acquired the real property or right-of-use assets
thereof through inheritance or as a gift.

2.More than 5 years will have elapsed from the time the related party
signed the contract to obtain the real property or right-of-use assets
thereof to the signing date for the current transaction.

3.The real property is acquired through signing of a joint
development contract with the related party, or through engaging a
related party to build real property, either on the company's own
land or on rented land.

4.The real property right-of-use assets for business use are acquired
by the Company with its parent or subsidiaries, or by its
subsidiaries in which it directly or indirectly holds 100% of the
issued shares or authorized capital.

When the results of the Company's appraisal conducted in accordance

with paragraph 1 and paragraph 2 of the preceding article are

uniformly lower than the transaction price, the matter shall be
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handled in compliance with Article 16. However, where the following

circumstances exist, objective evidence has been submitted and

specific opinions on reasonableness have been obtained from a

professional real property appraiser and a CPA have been obtained,

this restriction shall not apply:

1.Where the related party acquired undeveloped land or leased land
for development, it may submit proof of compliance with one of the
following conditions:

A.Where undeveloped land is appraised in accordance with the
means in the preceding article, and structures according to the
related party's construction cost plus reasonable construction
profit are valued in excess of the actual transaction price. The
"Reasonable construction profit" shall be deemed the average
gross operating profit margin of the related party's construction
division over the most recent 3 years or the gross profit margin
for the construction industry for the most recent period as
announced by the Ministry of Finance, whichever is lower.

B.Completed transactions by unrelated parties within the
preceding year involving other floors of the same property or
neighboring or closely valued parcels of land, where the land
area and transaction terms are similar after calculation of
reasonable price discrepancies in floor or area land prices in
accordance with standard property market sale or leasing
practices.

2.Where the Company acquiring real property, or obtaining real
property right-of-use assets through leasing, from a related party
provides evidence that the terms of the transaction are similar to the
terms of completed transactions involving neighboring or closely
valued parcels of land of a similar size by unrelated parties within
the preceding year.

Completed transactions involving neighboring or closely valued

parcels of land in the preceding paragraph in principle refers to
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Article 16

parcels on the same or an adjacent block and within a distance of no

more than 500 meters or parcels close in publicly announced current

value; transactions involving similarly sized parcels in principle
refers to transactions completed by unrelated parties for parcels with

a land area of no less than 50% of the property in the planned

transaction; within the preceding year refers to the year preceding the

date of occurrence of the acquisition of the real property or
obtainment of the right-of-use assets thereof.

Where the Company acquires real property or right-of-use assets

thereof from a related party and the results of appraisals conducted in

accordance with the preceding two articles are uniformly lower than
the transaction price, the following steps shall be taken:

1.A special reserve shall be set aside in accordance with Article 41,
paragraph 1 of the Securities and Exchange Act against the
difference between the real property transaction price and the
appraised cost, and may not be distributed or used for capital
increase or issuance of bonus shares. Where a public company uses
the equity method to account for its investment in another company,
then the special reserve called for under Article 41, paragraph 1 of
the Securities and Exchange Act shall be set aside pro rata in a
proportion consistent with the share of public company's equity
stake in the other company.

2.Article 218 of the Company Act shall apply mutatis mutandis to the
audit committee.

3.Actions taken pursuant to the preceding two subparagraphs shall be
reported to a shareholders meeting, and the details of the transaction
shall be disclosed in the annual report and any investment
prospectus.

The Company that has set aside a special reserve under the preceding

paragraph may not utilize the special reserve until it has recognized a

loss on decline in market value of the assets it purchased or leased at

a premium, or they have been disposed of, or the leasing contract has
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Article 17

Article 18

Article 19

been terminated, or adequate compensation has been made, or the
status quo ante has been restored, or there is other evidence
confirming that there was nothing unreasonable about the transaction,
and the FSC has given its consent.

When the Company obtains real property or right-of-use assets
thereof from a related party, it shall also comply with the preceding
two paragraphs if there is other evidence indicating that the
acquisition was not an arm’s length transaction.

Section IV Engaging in Derivatives Trading and Acquisition or
Disposal of Claims of Financial Institutions

The Company engaging in derivatives trading shall in accordance
with the other relevant rules and regulations apply for Securities and
Futures Business and shall be exempted from the provisions of
section IV of chapter II of the Regulations Governing the Acquisition
and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies.

The Company do not intend to engage in acquisition or disposal of
claims of financial institutions. If it subsequently wishes to engage in
acquisition or disposal of claims of financial institutions, it will still
be required first to comply with the Article 5 before doing so and
establish the procedures for assessment and operation.

Section V Mergers and Consolidations, Splits, Acquisitions, and
Assignment of Shares

The Company that conducts a merger, demerger, acquisition, or
transfer of shares, prior to convening the board of directors to resolve
on the matter, shall engage a CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter
to give an opinion on the reasonableness of the share exchange ratio,
acquisition price, or distribution of cash or other property to
shareholders, and submit it to the board of directors for deliberation
and passage. However, the requirement of obtaining an aforesaid
opinion on reasonableness issued by an expert may be exempted in
the case of a merger by the company of a subsidiary in which it

directly or indirectly holds 100% of the issued shares or authorized
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Article 20

Article 21

capital, and in the case of a merger between subsidiaries in which the
company directly or indirectly holds 100% of the respective
subsidiaries' issued shares or authorized capital.

The Company participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or
transfer of shares shall prepare a public report to shareholders
detailing important contractual content and matters relevant to the
merger, demerger, or acquisition prior to the shareholders meeting
and include it along with the expert opinion referred to in paragraph 1
of the preceding article when sending shareholders notification of the
shareholders meeting for reference in deciding whether to approve the
merger, demerger, or acquisition. Provided, where a provision of
another act exempts a company from convening a shareholders
meeting to approve the merger, demerger, or acquisition, this
restriction shall not apply.

Where the shareholders meeting of any one of the companies
participating in a merger, demerger, or acquisition fails to convene or
pass a resolution due to lack of a quorum, insufficient votes, or other
legal restriction, or the proposal is rejected by the shareholders
meeting, the Company shall immediately publicly explain the reason,
the follow-up measures, and the preliminary date of the next
shareholders meeting.

The Company shall convene a board of directors meeting and
shareholders meeting on the day of the transaction to resolve matters
relevant to the merger, demerger, or acquisition, unless another act
provides otherwise or the FSC is notified in advance of extraordinary
circumstances and grants consent.

The Company shall call a board of directors meeting on the day of the
transaction, unless another act provides otherwise or the FSC is
notified in advance of extraordinary circumstances and grants
consent.

When participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of

another company's shares, the Company shall prepare a full written
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Article 22

record of the following information and retain it for 5 years for
reference:
1.Basic identification data for personnel: Including the occupational
titles, names, and national ID numbers (or passport numbers in the
case of foreign nationals) of all persons involved in the planning or
implementation of any merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of
another company's shares prior to disclosure of the information.
2.Dates of material events: Including the signing of any letter of
intent or memorandum of understanding, the hiring of a financial or
legal advisor, the execution of a contract, and the convening of a
board of directors meeting.
3.Important documents and minutes: Including merger, demerger,
acquisition, and share transfer plans, any letter of intent or
memorandum of understanding, material contracts, and minutes of
board of directors meetings.
When participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of
another company's shares, the Company shall, within 2 days counting
inclusively from the date of passage of a resolution by the board of
directors, report (in the prescribed format and via the Internet-based
information system) the information set out in subparagraphs 1 and 2
of the preceding paragraph to the FSC for recordation.
Where any of the companies participating in a merger, demerger,
acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares is neither listed
on an exchange nor has its shares traded on an OTC market, the
Company shall sign an agreement with such company whereby the
latter is required to abide by the provisions of the preceding two
paragraphs.
Every person participating in or privy to the plan for merger,
demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares shall issue a written
undertaking of confidentiality and may not disclose the content of the
plan prior to public disclosure of the information and may not trade,

in their own name or under the name of another person, in any stock
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Article 24

or other equity security of any company related to the plan for

merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares.

The Company participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or

transfer of shares may not arbitrarily alter the share exchange ratio or

acquisition price unless under the below-listed circumstances, and

shall stipulate the circumstances permitting alteration in the contract

for the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares:

1.Cash capital increase, issuance of convertible corporate bonds, or
the issuance of bonus shares, issuance of corporate bonds with
warrants, preferred shares with warrants, stock warrants, or other
equity based securities.

2.An action, such as a disposal of major assets, that affects the
company's financial operations.

3.An event, such as a major disaster or major change in technology,
that affects shareholder equity or share price.

4.An adjustment where any of the companies participating in the
merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares from another
company, buys back treasury stock.

5.An increase or decrease in the number of entities or companies
participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of
shares.

6.0Other terms/conditions that the contract stipulates may be altered
and that have been publicly disclosed.

The contract for participation by the Company in a merger, demerger,

acquisition, or of shares shall record the rights and obligations of the

companies participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or

transfer of shares, and shall also record the following:

1.Handling of breach of contract.

2.Principles for the handling of equity-type securities previously
issued or treasury stock previously bought back by any company
that is extinguished in a merger or that is demerged.

3.The amount of treasury stock participating companies are permitted
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Article 26

under law to buy back after the record date of calculation of the
share exchange ratio, and the principles for handling thereof.
4.The manner of handling changes in the number of participating
entities or companies.
5.Preliminary progress schedule for plan execution, and anticipated
completion date.
6.Scheduled date for convening the legally mandated shareholders
meeting if the plan exceeds the deadline without completion, and
relevant procedures.
After public disclosure of the information, if any company
participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer
intends further to carry out a merger, demerger, acquisition, or share
transfer with another company, a company shall carry out anew the
procedures or legal actions that had originally been completed toward
the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer; except that where
the number of participating companies is decreased and a company's
shareholders meeting has adopted a resolution authorizing the board
of directors to alter the limits of authority, such company may be
exempted from calling another shareholders meeting to resolve on the
matter anew.
Where any of the companies participating in a merger, demerger,
acquisition, or transfer of shares is not a public company, the
Company shall sign an agreement with the non-public company
whereby the latter is required to abide by the provisions of Article 21,
Article 22, and the preceding article.

Chapter III Public Disclosure of Information

Article 27

Under any of the following circumstances, the Company acquiring or
disposing of assets shall publicly announce and report on the FSC's
designated website in the appropriate format as prescribed by
regulations within 2 days counting inclusively from the date of
occurrence of the event:

1.Acquisition or disposal of real property or right-of-use assets
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thereof from or to a related party, or acquisition or disposal of
assets other than real property or right-of-use assets thereof from or
to a related party where the transaction amount reaches 20% or
more of paid-in capital, 10% or more of the company's total assets,
or NT$300 million or more; provided, this shall not apply to trading
of domestic government bonds or bonds under repurchase and
resale agreements, or subscription or redemption of money market
funds issued by domestic securities investment trust enterprises.
2.Merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares.
3.Losses from derivatives trading reaching the limits on aggregate
losses or losses on individual contracts set out in the procedures
adopted by the company.
4.Where equipment or right-of-use assets thereof for business use are
acquired or disposed of, and furthermore the transaction
counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction amount
meets any of the following criteria:
A.For a company whose paid-in capital is less than NT$10 billion,
the transaction amount reaches NT$500 million or more.
B.For a company whose paid-in capital is NT$10 billion or more,
the transaction amount reaches NT$1 billion or more.
5.Where land is acquired under an arrangement on engaging others to
build on the company's own land, engaging others to build on
rented land, joint construction and allocation of housing units, joint
construction and allocation of ownership percentages, or joint
construction and separate sale, and furthermore the transaction
counterparty is not a related party, and the amount the company
expects to invest in the transaction reaches NT$500 million.
6.Where an asset transaction other than any of those referred to in the
preceding five subparagraphs, a disposal of receivables by a
financial institution, or an investment in the mainland China area
reaches 20% or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 million;

provided, this shall not apply to the following circumstances:
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A.Trading of domestic government bonds_or foreign government

bond, which sovereign credit rating is no less than the Republic
of China.

B.Where done by professional investors-securities trading on

securities exchanges or OTC markets, or subscription of foreign

government bond, ordinary corporate bonds, or general bank

debentures without equity characteristics (excluding
subordinated debt) that are offered and issued in the primary
market, or subscription or redemption of securities investment

trust funds or futures trust funds, or subscription or sellback of

exchange traded note, or subscription by a securities firm of
securities as necessitated by its undertaking business or as an
advisory recommending securities firm for an emerging stock
company, in accordance with the rules of the Taipei Exchange.
C.Trading of bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or
subscription or redemption of money market funds issued by
domestic securities investment trust enterprises.
The amount of transactions above shall be calculated as follows:
1.The amount of any individual transaction.
2.The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals of
the same type of underlying asset with the same transaction
counterparty within the preceding year.
3.The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals
(cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of real
property or right-of-use assets thereof within the same development
project within the preceding year.
4.The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals
(cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the same
security within the preceding year.
"Within the preceding year" as used in the preceding paragraph refers
to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction.

Items duly announced in accordance with these Procedures need not
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be counted toward the transaction amount.
The Company shall compile monthly reports on the status of
derivatives trading engaged in up to the end of the preceding month
by the company and any subsidiaries that are not domestic public
companies and enter the information in the prescribed format into the
information reporting website designated by the FSC by the 10th day
of each month.
When the Company at the time of public announcement makes an
error or omission in an item required by regulations to be publicly
announced and so is required to correct it, all the items shall be again
publicly announced and reported in their entirety within two days
counting inclusively from the date of knowing of such error or
omission.
The Company acquiring or disposing of assets shall keep all relevant
contracts, meeting minutes, log books, appraisal reports and CPA,
attorney, and securities underwriter opinions at the company, where
they shall be retained for 5 years except where another act provides
otherwise.
Article 28 where any of the following circumstances oceurs with respect to a
transaction that the Company has already publicly announced and
reported in accordance with the preceding article, a public report of
relevant information shall be made on the information reporting
website designated by the FSC within 2 days counting inclusively
from the date of occurrence of the event:
1.Change, termination, or rescission of a contract signed in regard to
the original transaction.
2.The merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares is not
completed by the scheduled date set forth in the contract.
3.Change to the originally publicly announced and reported
information.
Chapter IV Additional Provisions

Article 29 pe Company’s subsidiary shall comply with the following:

-132 -



Article 30

Article 31

Article 32

1.The Company’s subsidiary shall establish and execute its
procedures for the acquisition or disposal of assets in accordance
with the Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets by Public Companies.

2.Information required to be publicly announced and reported in
accordance with the provisions of the preceding Chapter on
acquisitions and disposals of assets by the Company's subsidiary
that is not itself a public company in Taiwan shall be reported by
the Company.

3.The paid-in capital or total assets of the Company shall be the
standard applicable to a subsidiary referred to in the preceding
paragraph in determining whether, relative to paid-in capital or total
assets, it reaches a threshold requiring public announcement and
regulatory filing under Article 27, paragraph 1.

For the calculation of 10% of total assets under these Procedures, the

total assets stated in the most recent parent company only financial

report or individual financial report prepared under the Regulations

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers

shall be used.

In the case of a company whose shares have no par value or a par

value other than NT$10-for the calculation of transaction amounts of

20% of paid-in capital, 10% of equity attributable to owners of the

parent shall be substituted; for calculations regarding transaction

amounts relative to paid-in capital of NT$10 billion, NT$20 billion of

equity attributable to owners of the parent shall be substituted.

In the event the Company’s employee who is in charge of acquisition

or disposal of assets violates these Procedures, such violation shall be

penalized with respect to the relative importance of circumstances

accordingly in accordance with the Company’s human work rules

measure and applicable rules and regulations.

These Procedures, and any amendments hereto, shall be approved by

the board of directors and submitted to a shareholders' meeting for

- 133 -



approval; provided, when amend these Procedures shall be approved
by one-half or more of all audit committee members, submitted to the
board of directors for a resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis

mutandis application of Article 5.
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VIII. Appendix

Appendix 1

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

Article 6

Article 7

Article 8

Capital Futures Corp.
Articles of Association (Before Amendant)

The Company is organized in accordance with the provisions of the
R.O.C. Company Act, and known as “Capital Futures Corp.”

The Company’s business scope is as follows:
(1) H401011 Futures commission merchant
(Limited to those approved by the FSC)
(2) H405011 Futures consulting business
(3) H407011 Futures management business
(4) H310011 Securities introducing broker
(5) H304011 Securities investment consulting enterprise
(6) H301011 Securities firm
(7) H404011 Leverage transaction merchant
The Company’s headquarter is located in Taipei; the board of directors
may, depending on business needs, establish domestic and overseas
branches in appropriate locations on approval by the Competent
Authority.

The Company’s total registered capital is NT$2.5 billion exact, which is
divided into 250 million shares at NT$10 per share; the board of
directors is authorized to approve such shares issued in batches.
Employees of the Company subscribing for new shares in accordance
with the Company Act include employees of the Company’s parents or
subsidiaries meeting certain specific requirements. The certain specific
requirements shall be specified by the board of directors.

The Company’s shares are in registered form and issued in accordance
with the Company Act and other relevant rules and regulations of the
Republic of China. After public offering of shares the Company is
exempt from printing physical share certificates.

The Taiwan Securities Central Depository should be contacted for
registration of the shares issued pursuant to the preceding provisions.
The Company’s shareholders should send to the Company their real
names, addresses, specimen of their seals, and uniform tax numbers for
registration and future references; this requirement also applies when
there is a change to the information above.

Shareholders should collect dividends or bonuses from the Company or
exercise other rights based on their seals filed with the Company.
Unless otherwise provided in law, the provisions in Regulations
Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public
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Article 9

Article 10

Article 11

Article 12

Article 13

Article 14

Article 14-1

Companies promulgated by the Competent Authority should be followed
in handling share transfer, share pledge, report of share loss, inheritance,
gifting, report of seal loss or change, or change of address.
A Nominal fee may be charged for shareholders’ application for share
renewal or replacement.
Share book closures are 60 days before each regular shareholders
meeting, 30 days before each extraordinary shareholders meeting, or five
days before the ex-day for the Company’s payment of dividends, bonuses
or other benefits.
The Company’s shareholders meetings are divided into the following two
types:
(1) General shareholders meeting, to be convened within six months after
the end of each fiscal year.
(2) Extraordinary shareholders meeting, to be convened when necessary
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
Regarding convening of the aforementioned meetings, in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations a written or electronic notice should
be sent to shareholders 30 days before a general shareholders meeting or
15 days before an extraordinary shareholders meeting to notify
shareholders of the place and the subject. For shareholders with less than
a thousand registered shares, the convening notice to such shareholders
may be in the form of a public announcement in accordance with other
relevant laws and regulations.
Except the non-voting shares stipulated in Article 179 of the Company
Act or in other laws and decrees, each share has one voting right.
A shareholder who is unable to attend a general meeting may present the
power of attorney issued by the Company with the level of authorization
stipulated, and appoint a proxy to attend the meeting on his behalf.
Unless otherwise provided in Article 177 of the Company Act, the
requirements in Regulations Governing the Use of Proxies for
Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies issued by the
Competent Authority should be followed.
Unless otherwise provided in relevant laws or regulations, shareholders
or proxies of shareholders who hold more than half of the total number of
issued shares should be present in a shareholders meeting before the
meeting may start and the resolution be represented, and the resolution
should be passed by more than half of the shareholders present at the
meeting. The voting power at a shareholders' meeting may be exercised
by way of electronic transmission; the method of execution shall comply
with relevant regulations.
Before the Company intends to report the voidance of public issue, it
should present a proposal at a shareholders meeting for special
resolution, and no further change of this Article 14-1 should be made
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Article 15

Article 16

Article 17

Article 17-1

during the period of the Company’s shares are traded on the Emerging
Market or the Taipei Exchange.

A shareholders meeting shall be convened by the board of directors and
the chairman of the board shall be the meeting’s chairman. In case the
chairman of the board of directors is on leave or absent or cannot
exercise his power and authority for any cause, the vice chairman shall
act on his behalf. In case the vice chairman is also on leave or absent or
unable to exercise his power and authority for any cause, the chairman of
the board of directors shall designate one of the directors to act on his
behalf. In the absence of such a designation, the directors shall elect from
among themselves an acting chairman of the board of directors. For a
shareholders meeting convened by a person with the convening right but
other than the board members, the person who convenes the meeting
shall be the meeting’s chairman; if there are two or more such persons,
then the chairman should be selected between/among such persons.

The resolutions made in a shareholders meeting should be recorded in the
meeting minutes, which should be signed by the meeting’s chairman or
affixed with his seal and distributed to the shareholders within 20 days
after the meeting.

Preparation and distribution of the meeting minutes may be notified of
such meeting minutes though a public announcement.

The Company’s board of directors consists of seven to nine directors who
are elected in shareholders meetings among competent persons. Each
person has a term of three years, and may be re-elected.

Among the directors in the preceding paragraph, independent directors
should account for three or more, and be no less than one-fifth of the
total directors. Directors should be elected through a nomination system
and by shareholders from a list of director candidates.

Relevant rules of the Competent Authority should be followed
concerning independent directors’ professional qualifications,
shareholdings, restrictions on their concurrent jobs, the method for
nomination of candidates and other binding matters. Provisions of the
securities regulatory body should be followed concerning the percentage
of directors’ total shareholdings.

In electing directors in shareholders meetings, except stipulated in laws
and decrees, each share has the same number of voting rights as the
number of directors to be elected. Such voting rights may be used on one
single person or distributed among a number of people, and the persons
winning most votes are elected. If two or more persons win the same
number of votes but the total number of specified seats is exceeded, then
a decision may be made among the persons winning the same number of
votes through a drawing of lots; for those who are absent the chairman
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Articlel8

Article 19

Article 20

Article 21
Article 22

will perform the drawing on their behalf.

A chairman and a vice chairman of the board should be elected by the
Directors among themselves. The chairman of the board externally
represents the Company. In case the chairman of the board of directors is
on leave or absent or cannot exercise his power and authority for any
cause, the vice chairman shall act on his behalf. In case the vice chairman
is also on leave or absent or unable to exercise his power and authority
for any cause, the chairman of the board of directors shall designate one
of the directors to act on his behalf. In the absence of such a designation,
the directors shall elect from among themselves an acting chairman of
the board of directors.

The board meeting should be convened by the chairman of the board.
However, the first Board meeting in each term should be convened by the
director who wins most votes in the shareholders meeting. If the director
who wins most votes or the chairman of the board of directors fails to
convene a board meeting, the majority or more of the directors may
convene a board meeting on their own.

For convening a board meeting, the reason should be stated in the
meeting notice, and all directors should be notified seven days prior to
the meeting date. However, in case of an emergency, a meeting may be
convened at any time.

The board meeting notice may be in the form of a written notice, fax or
e-mail, etc.

Agreed by the relative directors, the notification in the preceding
paragraph may be carried out in an electronic form.

The directors should attend a Board meeting in person. A director who is
unable to attend may delegate another director as proxy to attend on his
behalf; however, each director can act as the proxy for only one other
director.

Unless otherwise provided in the Company Act, more than half of the
directors should be present in a board meeting before the meeting may
start, and the resolution should be passed by more than half of the
directors present at the meeting:

For the motion related to director’s own interests and concerns, the
relative director should explain the importance and relevance in that
meeting.

(Deleted)

The powers of the board of directors are as follows:

(1) Review and approval of important legal documents and contracts

(2) Decision on business policy
(3) Approval of budgets and preparation of accounts
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Article 22-1

Article 23

Article 24

Article 25

Article 25-1

(4) Draw up the change of paid-in capital

(5) Draw up the distribution of earnings

(6) Setting of the Company’s major functions and appointment and
dismissal of key personnel

(7) Approval of the purchase or disposal of important assets and real
estate

(8) Appointment, dismissal and remuneration of the accounting firm for
auditing.

(9) Other powers conferred by laws and regulations or sharcholders

The powers above should be chartered after due approvals are obtained.

Due to business operational needs, the board of directors may establish
an audit committee and a remuneration committee or other functional
committees.

The audit committee is formed by all independent directors in
accordance with Article 14-4 of Securities and Exchange Act.

The number and term of the audit committee members, the official
powers of the audit committee, the rules of procedure for meetings of the
audit committee and the exercising of official powers of the Audit
Committee etc. shall be specified in the audit committee charter in
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Exercise of Powers by
Audit Committees of Public Companies.

All the powers of the supervisors from the Securities and Exchange Act,
the Company Act and other regulations should be performed by the Audit
Committee. The independent directors in the audit committee shall apply
mutatis mutandis the regulations of supervisors’ behaviors and their
representative of the Company.

If one third of the director seats are vacant or all independent directors
are dismissed from duties, the board should convene an extraordinary
shareholders meeting within 60 days for re-election. The terms of office
are limited to the predecessors’ remaining terms of office.

The Company may have a general manager and several senior vice
presidents, vice presidents, managers and the principals of branches. The
provisions in Article 29 of the Company Act should be followed for the
appointment, dismissal and remuneration of such persons. The general
manager takes orders from the Board, and is in charge of all the
Company’s business with the assistance from senior vice presidents, vice
presidents and managers.

The board is authorized to determine the remuneration of the chairman,
directors based on their levels of participation in the Company's
operations, the value of their contributions and the industry standard.
The remuneration of directors distributed from annual earnings need to
be audited by the remuneration committee and a resolution should be

- 139 -



Article 25-2

Article 26

Article 27

Article 27-1

passed by the board meeting and a sharcholders’ meeting.

Based on actual needs in carrying out their respective duties, all the
Company’s directors may in their terms of office purchase liability
insurance policies to reduce and disperse the risk of damage to all the
directors, the Company and shareholders. The board is fully authorized to
take care of all the directors’ purchase of liability insurance policies.

The Company’s fiscal year starts from January 1 and ends on December
31 each year. The board should, in accordance with the legal procedure,
prepare the following documents after the end of each fiscal year to the

shareholders meeting for recognition.

(1) Business report

(2) Financial statements

(3) Motions for distribution of earnings or making up for losses

The Company should distribute 0.6% to 2% of the profit of the current
year distributable as employees’ compensation, and 3% or less of its
profit of the current year distributable as directors’ remuneration.
However, the Company’s accumulated losses shall have been covered
first.

The Company’s profit of the current year distributable mentioned above
is the earnings before tax deducting employees’ compensation and
directors’ remuneration. A company may, by a resolution of majority vote
at a meeting of board of directors attended by two-thirds or more of the
total number of directors, have the profit distributable as employees’
compensation and directors’ remuneration; in addition, a report of such
distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting.

The employees’ compensation can be in the form of shares or cash. And
such compensation may apply to the employees of the Company’s
parents or subsidiaries who meet certain specific requirements which
shall be determined by the board of directors.

The Company’s business environment is a stably growing financial
industry. For the purpose of business expansion and re-investment plan,
the Company’s policy for dividend distribution takes into considerations
such as the Company’s business development, the Company’s future
capital expenditure budget and demand for fund, shareholders’ interest,
and the balance between dividends and the Company’s long-term
financial planning. With regard to the Company’s earnings in each fiscal
year, after all taxes and dues have been paid and losses in previous years
have been covered, the Company shall first set aside 10% as legal
reserve, 20% as special reserve, and other reserve specified by relevant
regulations. The Company should add the remaining balance to the
undistributed earnings in previous years, and then distribute at least 10%
of it as dividends. Earnings may be distributed in the form of cash
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Article 28

Article 29

Article 30

Article 31

dividend or stock dividend, but the percentage of cash dividend for the
year should not be less than 10% of the total dividend for the year.
Dividend may not be distributed if an annual loss occurs, and the loss
should be first made up if retained earnings are used for dividend
distribution.

The Company can invest in businesses approved by the Competent
Authority and the total amount of its investments is not limited by Article
13 of the Company Act, unless other laws or regulations provide
otherwise.

The Company’s Articles of Association shall be formulated by the board
of directors.

Provisions in relevant laws and regulations should be followed for
matters not included in this Articles of Association.

This Articles of Association was formulated on January 4, 1997. The first
amendment was made on August 11, 1997; the second amendment was
made on April 27, 1997; the third amendment was made on April 8,
2002; the fourth amendment was made on November 14, 2002; the fifth
amendment was made on June 27, 2003; the sixth amendment was made
on March 17, 2008; the seventh amendment was made on August 26,
2008; the eighth amendment was made on May 27, 2009; the ninth
amendment was made on May 27, 2010; the tenth amendment was made
on June 19, 2012; the eleventh amendment was made on May 20, 2014;
the twelfth amendment was made on May 20, 2015; the thirteenth
amendment was made on May 27, 2016; the fourteenth amendment was
made on May 31, 2017; the fifteenth amendment was made on June 19,
2020.

- 141 -



Appendix 2

Capital Futures Corp.
Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings (Before
Amendant)

Article 1 To establish a strong governance system and sound supervisory
capabilities for the Company’s shareholders meetings, and to
strengthen management capabilities, these Rules are adopted
pursuant to Article 5 of the Corporate Governance Best-Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies.

Article 2 The rules of procedures for the Company’s shareholders meetings,
except as otherwise provided by law, regulation, or the Articles of
Association, shall be as provided in these Rules.

Article 3 (Convening shareholders meetings and shareholders meeting
notices)
Unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, the Company’s
shareholders meetings shall be convened by the board of directors.
The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders
meeting notice and proxy forms, and the origins of and explanatory
materials relating to all proposals, including proposals for
ratification, matters for deliberation, or the election or dismissal of
directors, and upload them to the Market Observation Post System
(MOPS) before 30 days before the date of a regular shareholders
meeting or before 15 days before the date of a special shareholders
meeting. This Company shall prepare electronic versions of the
shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials
and upload them to the MOPS before 21 days before the date of the
regular shareholders meeting or before 15 days before the date of the
special shareholders meeting. In addition, before 15 days before the
date of the shareholders meeting, the Company shall also have
prepared the shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting
materials and made them available for review by shareholders at any
time. The meeting agenda and supplemental materials shall also be
displayed at the Company and the professional shareholder services
agent designated thereby as well as being distributed on-site at the
meeting place.
The reasons for convening a shareholders meeting shall be specified
in the meeting notice and public announcement. With the consent of
the addressee, the meeting notice may be given in electronic form.
Election or dismissal of directors, amendments to the Articles of
Association, reduction of capital, application for the approval of
ceasing its status as a public company, approval of competing with
the company by directors, surplus profit distributed in the form of
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new shares, reserve distributed in the form of new shares, the
dissolution, merger, or demerger of the Company, or any matter
under Article 185, paragraph 1 of the Company Act, Articles 26-1
and 43-6 of the Securities Exchange Act, Articles 56-1 and 60-2 of
the Regulations Governing the Offering and Issuance of Securities
by Securities Issuers shall be set out and the essential contents
explained in the notice of the reasons for convening the shareholders
meeting. None of the above matters may be raised by an
extraordinary motion.

Re-electing whole directors and the date they will assume office are
specified in the reasons for convening a shareholders meeting, it
shall not be raised to alter the date they assume office by an
extempore motion or other methods in the meeting after the
re-election complete.

A shareholder holding one percent or more of the total number of
issued shares may submit to the Company a proposal for discussion
at a regular shareholders meeting. The number of items so proposed
is limited to one only, and no proposal containing more than one
item will be included in the meeting agenda. When the
circumstances of any subparagraph of Article 172-1, paragraph 4 of
the Company Act apply to a proposal put forward by a shareholder,
the board of directors may exclude it from the agenda. A shareholder
may propose a recommendation for urging the Company to promote
public interests or fulfill its social responsibilities, provided
procedurally the number of items so proposed is limited only to one
in accordance with Article 172-1 of the Company Act, and no
proposal containing more than one item will be included in the
meeting agenda.

Prior to the date on which share transfer registration is suspended
before the convention of a regular shareholders’ meeting, the
company shall give a public notice announcing acceptance of
proposal in writing or by way of electronic transmission, the place
and the period for shareholders to submit proposals to be discussed
at the meeting; and the period for accepting such proposals shall not
be less than ten (10) days.

Shareholder-submitted proposals are limited to 300 words, and no
proposal containing more than 300 words will be included in the
meeting agenda. The shareholder making the proposal shall be
present in person or by proxy at the regular shareholders meeting
and take part in discussion of the proposal.

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of a shareholders meeting, the
Company shall inform the shareholders who submitted proposals of
the proposal screening results, and shall list in the meeting notice the
proposals that conform to the provisions of this article. At the
shareholders meeting the board of directors shall explain the reasons
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Article 4

Article 5

Article 6

for exclusion of any shareholder proposals not included in the
agenda.

For each shareholders meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy to
attend the meeting by providing the proxy form issued by the
Company and stating the scope of the proxy’s authorization.

A shareholder may issue only one proxy form and appoint only one
proxy for any given shareholders meeting, and shall deliver the
proxy form to the Company before 5 days before the date of the
shareholders meeting. When duplicate proxy forms are delivered, the
one received earliest shall prevail unless a declaration is made to
cancel the previous proxy appointment.

After a proxy form has been delivered to the Company, if the
shareholder intends to attend the meeting in person or to exercise
voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a written notice of
proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company before 2
business days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is
submitted after that time, votes cast at the meeting by the proxy shall
prevail.

(Principles determining the time and place of a shareholders
meeting)

The venue for a shareholders meeting shall be the premises of the
Company, or a place easily accessible to shareholders and suitable
for a shareholders meeting. The meeting may begin no earlier than 9
a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall be given to the
opinions of the independent directors with respect to the place and
time of the meeting.

(Preparation of documents such as the attendance book)

The Company shall specify in its shareholders meeting notices the
time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be
accepted, the place to register for attendance, and other matters for
attention.

The time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be
accepted, as stated in the preceding paragraph, shall be at least 30
minutes prior to the time the meeting commences. The place at
which attendance registrations are accepted shall be clearly marked
and a sufficient number of suitable personnel assigned to handle the
registrations.

Shareholders and their proxies (collectively, “shareholders”) shall
attend shareholders meetings based on attendance cards, sign-in
cards, or other certificates of attendance. The Company may not
arbitrarily add requirements for other documents beyond those
showing eligibility to attend presented by shareholders. Solicitors
soliciting proxy forms shall also bring identification documents for
verification.
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Article 7

Article 8

The Company shall furnish the attending shareholders with an
attendance book to sign, or attending shareholders may hand in a
sign-in card in lieu of signing in.

The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the meeting
agenda book, annual report, attendance card, speaker’s slips, voting
slips, and other meeting materials. Where there is an election of
directors, pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished.

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be
represented by more than one representative at a shareholders
meeting. When a juristic person is appointed to attend as proxy, it
may designate only one person to represent it in the meeting.

(The chair and non-voting participants of a shareholders meeting)

If a shareholders meeting is convened by the board of directors, the
meeting shall be chaired by the chairperson of the board. When the
chairperson of the board is on leave or for any reason unable to
exercise the powers of the chairperson, the vice chairperson shall act
in place of the chairperson; if there is no vice chairperson or the vice
chairperson also is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the
powers of the vice chairperson, the chairperson shall appoint one of
the managing directors to act as chair, or, if there are no managing
directors, one of the directors shall be appointed to act as chair.
Where the chairperson does not make such a designation, the
managing directors or the directors shall select from among
themselves one person to serve as chair.

When a managing director or a director serves as chair, as referred to
in the preceding paragraph, the managing director or director shall
be one who has held that position for six months or more and who
understands the financial and business conditions of the company.
The same shall be true for a representative of a juristic person
director that serves as chair.

It is advisable that shareholders meetings convened by the board of
directors be chaired by the chairperson of the board in person and
attended by a majority of the directors, at least one independent
director in person, and at least one member of each functional
committee on behalf of the committee. The attendance shall be
recorded in the meeting minutes.

If a shareholders meeting is convened by a party with power to
convene but other than the board of directors, the convening party
shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more such convening
parties, they shall mutually select a chair from among themselves.
The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public
accountants, or related persons retained by it to attend a shareholders
meeting in a non-voting capacity.

(Documentation of a shareholders meeting by audio or video)
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Article 9

Article 10

The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder
attendance registrations, shall make an uninterrupted audio and
video recording of the registration procedure, the proceedings of the
shareholders meeting, and the voting and vote counting procedures.
The recorded materials of the preceding paragraph shall be retained
for at least 1 year. If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant
to Article 189 of the Company Act, the recording shall be retained
until the conclusion of the litigation.

Attendance at shareholders meetings shall be calculated based on
numbers of shares. The number of shares in attendance shall be
calculated according to the shares indicated by the attendance book
and sign-in cards handed in plus the number of shares whose voting
rights are exercised by correspondence or electronically.

The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting
time and simultaneously announce relevant information, such as
total number of no voting right shares and shares represented by the
shareholders present at the meeting. However, when the attending
shareholders do not represent a majority of the total number of
issued shares, the chair may announce a postponement, provided that
no more than two such postponements, for a combined total of no
more than one hour, may be made. If the quorum is not met after two
postponements and the attending shareholders still represent less
than one third of the total number of issued shares, the chair shall
declare the meeting adjourned.

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in
the preceding paragraph, but the attending shareholders represent
one third or more of the total number of issued shares, a tentative
resolution may be adopted pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of
the Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative
resolution and another shareholders meeting shall be convened
within 1 month.

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders
represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair
may resubmit the tentative resolution for a vote by the shareholders
meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company Act.

(Discussion of proposals)

If a shareholders meeting is convened by the board of directors, the
meeting agenda shall be set by the board of directors, the relevant
proposals, including extempore motions, and amendments shall be
voted case by case. The meeting shall proceed in the order set by the
agenda, which may not be changed without a resolution of the
shareholders meeting.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to
a shareholders meeting convened by a party with the power to
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Article 11

Article 12

convene that is not the board of directors.

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion
of deliberation on the meeting agenda of the preceding two
paragraphs (including extempore motions), except by a resolution of
the shareholders meeting. If the chair declares the meeting adjourned
in violation of the rules of procedure, the other members of the board
of directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders in
electing a new chair in accordance with statutory procedures, by
agreement of a majority of the votes represented by the attending
shareholders, and then continue the meeting.

The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for
explanation and discussion of proposals and of amendments or
extempore motions put forward by the shareholders; when the chair
is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed sufficiently to
put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed, call
for a vote and arrange appropriate time for voting.

(Shareholder speech)

Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a
speaker’s slip the subject of the speech, his/her shareholder account
number (or attendance card number), and account name. The order
in which shareholders speak will be set by the chair.

A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker’s slip but
does not actually speak shall be deemed to have not spoken. When
the content of the speech does not correspond to the subject given on
the speaker’s slip, the spoken content shall prevail.

Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak
more than twice on the same proposal, and a single speech may not
exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder’s speech violates the rules or
exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the chair may terminate the
speech.

When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may
not speak or interrupt unless they have sought and obtained the
consent of the chair and the shareholder that has the floor; the chair
shall stop any violation.

When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more
representatives to attend a shareholders meeting, only one of the
representatives so appointed may speak on the same proposal.
After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in
person or direct relevant personnel to respond.

(Calculation of voting shares and recusal system)

Voting at a shareholders meeting shall be calculated based the
number of shares.

With respect to resolutions of shareholders meetings, the number of
shares held by a shareholder with no voting rights shall not be
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Article 13

calculated as part of the total number of issued shares.

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda
item, and there is the likelihood that such a relationship would
prejudice the interests of the Company, that shareholder may not
vote on that item, and may not exercise voting rights as proxy for
any other shareholder.

The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised
under the preceding paragraph shall not be calculated as part of the
voting rights represented by attending shareholders.

With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services
agent approved by the competent securities authority, when one
person is concurrently appointed as proxy by two or more
shareholders, the voting rights represented by that proxy may not
exceed 3 percent of the voting rights represented by the total number
of issued shares. If that percentage is exceeded, the voting rights in
excess of that percentage shall not be included in the calculation.

A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held,
except when the shares are restricted shares or are deemed
non-voting shares under Article 179, paragraph 2 of the Company
Act.

When the Company holds a shareholders meeting, it may allow the
shareholders to exercise voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means (in accordance with the proviso of Article 177-1 of
the Company Act regarding companies that shall adopt electronic
voting: When the Company holds a shareholder meeting, it shall
adopt exercise of voting rights by electronic means and may adopt
exercise of voting rights by correspondence). When voting rights are
exercised by correspondence or electronic means, the method of
exercise shall be specified in the shareholders meeting notice. A
shareholder exercising voting rights by correspondence or electronic
means will be deemed to have attended the meeting in person, but to
have waived his/her rights with respect to the extempore motions
and amendments to original proposals of that meeting; it is therefore
advisable that the Company avoids the submission of extempore
motions and amendments to original proposals.

A shareholder intending to exercise voting rights by correspondence
or electronic means under the preceding paragraph shall deliver a
written declaration of intent to the Company before 2 days before the
date of the shareholders meeting. When duplicate declarations of
intent are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail, except
when a declaration is made to cancel the earlier declaration of intent.
After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by correspondence or
electronic means, in the event the shareholder intends to attend the
shareholders meeting in person, a written declaration of intent to
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Article 14

retract the voting rights already exercised under the preceding
paragraph shall be made known to the Company, by the same means
by which the voting rights were exercised, before 2 business days
before the date of the shareholders meeting. If the notice of
retraction is submitted after that time, the voting rights already
exercised by correspondence or electronic means shall prevail. When
a shareholder has exercised voting rights both by correspondence or
electronic means and by appointing a proxy to attend a shareholders
meeting, the voting rights exercised by the proxy in the meeting
shall prevail.

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the
Company’s Articles of Association, the passage of a proposal shall
require an affirmative vote of a majority of the voting rights
represented by the attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for
each proposal, the chair or a person designated by the chair shall first
announce the total number of voting rights represented by the
attending shareholders, followed by a poll of the shareholders. After
the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is held, the results
for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and against and
the number of abstentions, shall be entered into the MOPS.

When there is an amendment or an alternative to a proposal, the
chair shall present the amended or alternative proposal together with
the original proposal and decide the order in which they will be put
to a vote. When any one among them is passed, the other proposals
will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall be required.
Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a proposal
shall be appointed by the chair, provided that all monitoring
personnel shall be shareholders of the Company.

Vote counting for shareholders meeting proposals or elections shall
be conducted in public at the place of the shareholders meeting.
Immediately after vote counting has been completed, the results of
the voting, including the statistical tallies of the numbers of votes,
shall be announced on-site at the meeting, and a record made of the
vote.

(Election matters)

The election of directors at a shareholders meeting shall be held in
accordance with the applicable election and appointment rules
adopted by the Company, and the voting results shall be announced
on-site immediately, including the names of those elected as
directors and the numbers of votes with which they were elected, and
the rest of candidates and the numbers of votes with which they
received.

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph
shall be sealed with the signatures of the monitoring personnel and
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Article 16

Article 17

kept in proper custody for at least 1 year. If, however, a shareholder
files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the
ballots shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation.

Matters relating to the resolutions of a shareholders meeting shall be
recorded in the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall be
signed or sealed by the chair of the meeting and a copy distributed to
each shareholder within 20 days after the conclusion of the meeting.
The meeting minutes may be produced and distributed in electronic
form.

The Company may distribute the meeting minutes of the preceding
paragraph by means of a public announcement made through the
MOPS.

The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, day,
and place of the meeting, the chair’s full name, the methods by
which resolutions were adopted, and a summary of the deliberations
and voting results including the total number of calculation and the
total votes of every candidate shall be revealed when there is a
proposal of director election. The meeting minutes shall be retained
for the duration of the existence of the Company.

(Public disclosure)

On the day of a shareholders meeting, the Company shall compile in
the prescribed format a statistical statement of the number of shares
obtained by solicitors through solicitation and the number of shares
represented by proxies, and shall make an express disclosure of the
same at the place of the shareholders meeting.

If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders meeting constitute
material information under applicable laws or regulations or under
Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (or Taipei Exchange)
regulations, the Company shall upload the content of such resolution
to the MOPS within the prescribed time period.

(Maintaining order at the meeting place)

Staff handling administrative affairs of a shareholders meeting shall
wear identification cards or arm bands.

The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help
maintain order at the meeting place. When proctors or security
personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear
an identification card or armband bearing the word “Proctor.”

At the place of a shareholders meeting, if a shareholder attempts to
speak through any device other than the public address equipment
set up by the Company, the chair may prevent the shareholder from
so doing.

When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the
chair’s correction, obstructing the proceedings and refusing to heed
calls to stop, the chair may direct the proctors or security personnel
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Article 19

to escort the shareholder from the meeting.

(Recess and resumption of a shareholders meeting)

When a meeting is in progress, the chair may announce a break
based on time considerations. If a force majeure event occurs, the
chair may rule the meeting temporarily suspended and announce a
time when, in view of the circumstances, the meeting will be
resumed.

If the meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and not
all of the items (including extempore motions) on the meeting
agenda have been addressed, the shareholders meeting may adopt a
resolution to resume the meeting at another venue.

A resolution may be adopted at a shareholders meeting to defer or
resume the meeting within 5 days in accordance with Article 182 of
the Company Act.

These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented
after adoption by shareholders meetings.
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Appendix 3

Capital Futures Corp.

Details of All Directors’ Shareholding

1. The Company has issued 210,437,584 ordinary shares as of April 23, 2021.

The legally required minimum shareholding for the Company’s directors:
12,000,000 shares.!

2. As of the book closure date (April 23, 2021) of this annual general meeting,
the shareholders’ register showed the total number of shares held by directors
is 119,068,045, which complied with Article 26 of The Securities Exchange
Act. The details are as follows:

As in the Shareholders’ Register on April 23, 2021

. Shareholding as
Title Name of book-close date Percentage
. Capital Securities Corporation
Chairman Representative: Lee, Wen-Chu
. Capital Securities Corporation
Director Representative: Wang, Jiunn-Chih 119,066,014 56.58
. Capital Securities Corporation
Director Representative: Liu, Ching-Tsun
. Hung Yeh Investment Co., Ltd.
Director Representative: Lee, Yi-Hui 2,031 0
Independent . o K wo-Tay 0 0
Director
Inde?p endent Hsiao, Nai-Ching 0 0
Director
Independent
Director Wu, Yung-Sheng 0 0
Total directors’ shareholding 119,068,045 56.58

' According to the Article 2 of the Rules and Review Procedures for Director and Supervisor Share
Ownership Ratios at Public Companies: if a public company has elected two or more independent directors,
the share ownership figures calculated at the rates set forth in the preceding paragraph for all directors and
supervisors other than the independent directors and shall be decreased by 20 percent.

-152 -



